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Highlights of 2012-13 1
Administration Services within Service TargetsHighlights

Official opening 
of a relocated 
Launceston office 
with purpose built 
member facilities.

RBF Leadership 
Group moves 
to paperless 
meetings  
using iPads.

RBF enters into  
an agreement to 
sell 39 Sandy Bay 
Road, Hobart.

RBF Board  
moves to 
paperless 
meetings  
using iPads.

Review of 
administration 
service standards 
highlights 
significant 
improvements.

Hobart office 
relocates with 
purpose built 
member facilities. 

New technology 
brings a further 
dramatic reduction 
in paper usage. 

New insurance 
product for 
RBF Tasmanian 
Accumulation 
Scheme provides 
members with 
improved coverage 
and benefits.

Reduction in 
investment  
fees for most 
investment 
options. 

New governance 
principles and 
model approved.  
RBF Board 
member Don 
Challen awarded 
Order of Australia.

RBF launches 
the ‘The League 
of Super Heroes’ 
seminars. Over 
23,000 members 
are sent an 
invitation.

Change from 
weekly crediting 
rates to unit 
pricing.

Member survey 
results show 
significant 
improvement 
in member 
advocacy  
for RBF.

RBF staff vote  
‘yes’ for new 
Enterprise 
Bargaining 
Agreement.

Further reductions 
in fees across  
most of RBF’s 
investment 
options.

Jul Jul Aug Aug Oct Nov Nov

Dec Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

RBF Timeline 2012-13

2012

2013

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

Target (% within 10 days)

Actual

Sep-11 Dec-11 Mar-12 Jun-12 Sep-12 Dec-12 Mar-13 Jun-13

0%

%
 w

ith
in

 s
er

vi
ce

 t
ar

g
et

s

Quarter

Great investment returns

RBF’s default investment option Actively 
Managed returned 16.2% after fees 
and taxes in 2012-13, compared to the 
industry median of 14.8%. RBF Actively 
Managed ranked 24 out of 120  
rated funds for 2012-13.
Source: SuperRatings Pty Ltd

Lower investment fees

Investment fees reduced by about  
$2M pa over the past 2 years. 
Details on page 39.
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Mr Meehan retired from Youth Justice 
but just a week later decided to return 
to work as a child protection officer 
and he’s been there ever since. 

“I like being able to help the kids and 
I’m not afraid to stand up for them, 
even to other adults,” Mr Meehan said. 

“Bagdad is my favourite place in 
Tasmania because it’s away from  
the city but close to services,”  
Mr Meehan said. 

Of RBF, Mr Meehan says he’s never had 
a negative experience in the 34 years 
he’s been a member. 

“I’ve never had to go beyond the front 
office because I’m able to sit down 
with a cup of coffee and the reception 
staff help me with my queries,”  
Mr Meehan said. 

 “I love getting online and checking 
how things are going with my account. 

I’ve found that RBF is much more 
transparent than other funds. They 
don’t have secrets,” Mr Meehan said.

“I think I’ll have another go at 
retirement at around 70,” he said.

Adrian Meehan, RBF member
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September 2013

Hon Scott Bacon MP 
Minister for Finance 
Parliament House 
HOBART TAS 7000

Dear Minister

I am pleased to submit to you the Annual 
Report of the Retirement Benefits Fund 
(RBF) Board pursuant to Regulation 19 of 
the regulations made under the Retirement 
Benefits Act 1993. It is my pleasure to report 
on what I would summarise as a year of very 
bold but necessary change successfully 
delivered within budget. 

During 2012-13, SuperRatings 
benchmarking agency significantly 
upgraded its assessment of RBF across 
the spectrum of investments, products, 
services, administration and governance, 
citing ‘Major enhancements evident at RBF’. 
SuperRatings described RBF’s investment 
performance as ‘strong and consistent’. 
The RBF Board is uncompromising in its 
commitment to achieving the top Platinum 
rating in 2013-14 and the 2012-13 result is 
an excellent step towards this outcome. The 
rating assessment was achieved against 
the backdrop of an increasingly competitive 
environment for all superannuation funds 
and it is all the more pleasing to be 
recognised as having achieved a significant 
improvement in performance relative to 
other funds.

With the introduction of new Commonwealth 
Government reforms including MySuper, 
new APRA prudential standards, Stronger 
Super and Future of Financial Advice 
reforms, the rate of change within the 
superannuation industry is arguably at its 
highest levels ever. Pending a decision by 
the Tasmanian Government to allow RBF 

to become an APRA regulated fund, after 
consideration of the outcomes of the  
current RBF Strategic Review, the RBF 
Board is maintaining a standard of  
licensing readiness. 

A new RBF Governance Framework  
was adopted by the RBF Board during 
2012-13 and the changes to governance 
practices, policy and process are now  
being implemented. The changes  
provide for clearer articulation of 
responsibilities, improved efficiency  
and better decision-making.

The RBF Board supports the reporting of 
net returns as part of the new MySuper 
reporting regime. This will be beneficial for 
members, who will not have to decipher the 
respective merits of different fee structures 
and absolute returns. 

Notwithstanding the rate of change arising 
from the Commonwealth Government 
reforms, the superannuation industry (and 
RBF) remains committed to innovative 
product design and improved member 
communications. It is important to attract 
and retain both members and funds to 
improve economies of scale and reduce 
costs per member. 

The RBF Board is conscious of the need 
to strive to achieve growth and to minimise 
costs. Cost efficiencies achieved through 
scale of members and their funds benefits:

a. our members through reduced fees; and 

b. the Government through containment of 
State costs of administration associated 
with the RBF defined benefits schemes. 

There are challenges for RBF to maintain 
relative scale given the Tasmanian  
State Service downsizing in recent  
years and an industry pursuing growth 
through consolidation. 

The Board is keenly awaiting the outcome 
of the State Government commissioned 
RBF Strategic Review. The RBF Board is 
hopeful the Review will result in positive and 
contemporary outcomes for RBF (including 
regulation by APRA), the members (both 
defined benefit and accumulation) and the 
State Government. 

Given the uncertainty associated with the 
RBF Strategic Review, the RBF Board 
has not significantly altered its strategic 
objectives for 2012-13. Nevertheless, 
for RBF to remain a contemporary 
superannuation fund and strive to achieve 
best practice, the Board will continue to 
implement and undertake necessary  
and appropriate improvements and 
operational initiatives.

All in all it has been a remarkable year for 
RBF and I commend the Annual Report to 
you. The report incorporates a copy of the 
financial statements for 2012-13.

Yours sincerely

Damian Egan 
President

President’s Message
Forty-second Annual Report of the Retirement Benefits 
Fund Board for the year ended 30 June 2013.2
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 • Coinciding with the relocation of the 
Hobart office, a major upgrade of 
information technology and information 
management, supporting a significant 
reduction in paper and printing usage 
and energy consumption, facilitating 
flexible working arrangements for staff 
and providing new ways for employees 
to collaborate and share ideas;

 • The launch of a new death, disability 
and income protection insurance 
product for RBF Tasmanian 
Accumulation Scheme members  
in December 2012, representing  
a significant benefit enhancement; 

 • RBF and Mercer working collaboratively 
on service and product improvements 
for the benefit of members, including 
implementing a mobile friendly interface 
in March 2013 to allow RBF Tasmanian 
Accumulation Scheme members to 
access their account details using a 
smart phone. There has also been 
significant progress on a new online 
tool to allow members to model their 
future retirement benefits; and initiation 
of work to implement a new Member 
Investment Choice option that will allow 
members to invest directly in Australian 
equities and term deposits;

 • Improvements in investment structures 
which have led to a significant 
reduction in fees for most investment 
options, including the default option 
RBF Actively Managed in which most 
member funds are invested and 
first quartile performance for all RBF 
investment options for 2012-13; 

 • A change to unit pricing as the basis 
for reporting member investments 
from March 2013. This has simplified 
both the calculation process and 
communication to members about 
investment returns; 

 • Changes to policies, processes and 
procedures to ensure compliance with 
the Australian Government’s Stronger 
Super reforms; 

 • Development of a business intelligence 
capacity and reporting systems, leading 
to both productivity gains and improved 
analysis and reporting to support 
decision making; 

 • Staff and union support for a new 
Enterprise Bargaining Agreement to 
take effect from 8 July 2013 which 
focuses on rewarding high performance 
by staff for the benefit of members; and

 • Introduction of a Health and Well-being 
Program, providing practical support  
for RBF staff. 

In November 2012, I attended the 
Association of Superannuation Funds of 
Australia (ASFA) Communications Award 
ceremony and received, on behalf of 
RBF, the ‘People’s Choice’ Excellence 
in Communications Award for the RBF 
Member Expos in 2011, a series of 
educational events held around Tasmania. 
Another successful series of state-wide 
seminars was run in April this year by RBF, 
combining the skills and knowledge of 
RBF, RBF Financial Planning, Centrelink, 
The Public Trustee and ME Bank. These 
seminars represented great value for 
money for members with attendances  
at record level. 

Chief Executive Officer (CEO) Message
RBF has seen an intense effort directed to organisational 
development, culminating in arguably the most significant  
set of improvements made in any year during RBF’s  
100 plus year history. 

3

These changes are providing significantly 
improved value for money for members, 
reflected in improved services, new 
products and lower fees.

The major changes have included:

 • Resolution of transitional issues 
following the outsourcing of member 
administration services to Mercer in 
mid-2011. Both contracted critical 
service standards and routine 
processing standards are being 
consistently achieved by Mercer and 
our own staff; 

 • Sale of the former RBF Hobart offices 
at 39 Sandy Bay Road and Hampden 
Road and relocation of both the  
Hobart and Launceston offices to  
new premises, providing enhanced 
front of house services for members, 
including internet access pods, 
contemporary interview rooms and  
a member seminar room; 
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I also was pleased to see Tim Baker, 
RBF General Manager Corporate 
Support, nationally recognised in 
December 2012 at the Australian 
Institute of Superannuation Trustees 
(AIST) Excellence Awards with the Super 
Operations/Administration Professional 
Award. Tim successfully led the major 
RBF projects to transfer the administration 
of RBF to Mercer (Australia) Pty Ltd and 
to ensure RBF’s governance practices 
met the standards required of an APRA 
licensed fund. 

RBF recorded a second consecutive 
increase in employee engagement scores 
in a survey undertaken in December 2012. 
This is a significant achievement  
as only 7% of surveyed organisations  
had a comparable improvement in their 
most recent survey.

Notwithstanding this increased 
potential and capability, there are 
challenges facing RBF. 

In August 2012, the Premier advised the 
RBF Board that it would conduct a review 
of the options for the State Government to 
provide superannuation to its employees. 
PricewaterhouseCoopers was engaged 
by the Department of Treasury and 
Finance to undertake the review but had 
not reported their findings at 30 June 
2013. The associated uncertainty over 
an extended period has been unsettling 
for RBF staff following the downsizing 
associated with outsourcing of member 
administration services in 2011 and 
the ongoing national reforms of the 
superannuation sector. 

The rate of roll-out of funds to other 
funds and to Self Managed Super Funds 
(SMSFs) remains a concern. Our analysis 
shows that RBF’s inability to accept 
Superannuation Guarantee payments 
from private sector employers on behalf 
of former state service employees is 
a significant factor in RBF members 
deciding to roll-out to other funds.  
Federal Government reforms to 
encourage consolidation of member 
accounts is expected to intensify  
this challenge. 

RBF will continue to focus on 
improving value for money for 
members in 2013-14 with a number  
of improvements under development 
or planned. 

These include improvements to RBF’s 
advice and education services, bringing 
on line a new tool to allow members to 
model their future retirement benefits, 
implementing a new Member Investment 
Choice option that will allow members 
to invest in Australian equities and term 
deposits, and restructuring the current 
default Member Investment Choice 
option, RBF Actively Managed, to a life 
cycle product.

RBF managers and staff are committed 
to ensuring the best possible retirement 
outcomes for our members. This Annual 
Report details the actions we have taken 
in 2012-13 to achieve that objective.  
I encourage all RBF stakeholders to  
reflect on our progress.

The RBF Board has taken a new approach 
to annual reporting this period. An effort 
has been made to increase disclosure 
while protecting members’ interests by 
considering commercial in confidence 
considerations. We have sought to tell the 
story of RBF’s transformational year in a 
way that does justice to the contributions 
made by the Board, management and 
employees to what has been achieved.  
I acknowledge the insights about reporting 
we have gained from reviewing the annual 
reports of other agencies and funds, in 
particular Aurora Energy and cBus.

The Tasmanian theme reflects our pride 
of place about living and working in 
Tasmania and the diverse and interesting 
people that make up our membership.  
I trust that you enjoy reading the 
testimonials from our members from 
around the State.

Philip Mussared 
Chief Executive Officer

RBF recorded a second consecutive increase 
in employee engagement scores in a survey 
undertaken in December 2012. 



Employed as Manager – Asset Strategy 
with Southern Water, Neil loves the 
fact that his job allows him to work 
on infrastructure that benefits the 
community and will be around for 
years to come. 

“I love that I have the opportunity to 
work on infrastructure like Ridgeway 
Dam (located on Mount Wellington),”  
Mr Smith said. 

When not working, Mr Smith’s 
favourite Tasmanian destination is the 
northern shores of Lake MeadowBank 
because it is where he first caught a 
trout on a fly he tied himself.

Mr Smith is a long term RBF member, 
having been with the fund for around 
20 years.

“I love RBF so much I married one of the 
staff! (Neil is married to Sharon Smith, 
who is employed at RBF in the Hobart 
office). Seriously though, I have never 
had any concerns. 

“I have always been confident in how 
my money is being managed. 

“It’s great that I have the ability to hop 
online and change my investment 
options, and I was also very pleased 
when it became possible to reduce my 
insurance premiums because  
my position is office-based,”  
Mr Smith said.

Neil Smith, RBF member
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Our business
The core business of RBF is the provision 
of retirement and ancillary services and 
solutions for members and their partners. 
The three major business focuses  
are superannuation administration,  
provision of retirement services and  
fund management.

RBF offers a full range of superannuation 
and retirement products – defined benefits 
schemes, an accumulation scheme, life 
pensions, allocated pensions, Member 
Investment Choice, death and disability 
cover, spouse and preservation accounts.

Statement of Corporate Intent
This Statement of Corporate Intent has been 
prepared pursuant to Regulation 18 of the 
Retirement Benefits Regulations 2005.

The Statement represents a summary 
of the RBF Board’s Strategic Plan for 
2012–2015 prepared in accordance with 
Regulation 16 of the Retirement Benefits 
Regulations 2005.

Vision
To be the leading provider of 
superannuation services to the  
Tasmanian public sector.

Mission
RBF has two missions:

‘Supporting our members to achieve 
life-stage goals by providing valued 
financial solutions’

and

‘Satisfying the Tasmanian 
Government through efficient 
administration and achievement  
of agreed investment objectives.’

Key result areas
Through a structured planning process 
addressing strategy, risk and resources, 
the RBF Board maintains a three year 
Strategic Plan which is updated annually. 
The Strategic Plan for the next three 
years is provided annually to the Minister 
responsible for the Retirement Benefit Act 
1993 (in 2012-13 the Minister for Finance, 
the Hon Scott Bacon MP).

The RBF Board has identified four key 
result areas that are important for the 
ongoing success of RBF:

1. Viability: obtaining a Funds Under 
Management (FUM) scale that enables 
us to be an effective and efficient fund 
into the future;

2. People: having the right workforce and 
culture to deliver sustainable value to 
our members and stakeholders;

Strategic objectives and performance
RBF’s vision is to be the leading provider of superannuation  
services to the Tasmanian public sector.4

3. Governance: ensure cohesive 
management, policies, process and 
decisions that commercially enable our 
employees and manage our risks; and

4.  Infrastructure, Information and 
Systems: providing systems that 
enable staff to deliver value.

Each key result area has identified 
strategic objectives, performance 
measures and targets over three years. 
The RBF Strategic Plan is supported by 
Board approved three year Strategic 
Plans for each Division, fully aligned to 
the RBF Strategic Plan, Chief Executive 
Officer (CEO) approved Annual Plans 
for each Division, a Board approved 
Enterprise Wide Risk Register and the  
Board approved annual Operating  
and Fund Budget.

In turn, the annual Performance 
Development Plan of each manager  
and staff member is aligned to the 
Division Annual Plans, thus ensuring full 
alignment from the RBF Strategic Plan to 
the Performance Development Plans. 
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How we performed

Key result  
areas

Viability People Governance Infrastructure, 
information and 
systems

Strategic 
objective

Improving funds flow by  
increasing contributions in  
and reducing rollovers out 

To be the preferred default fund  
for State Government employers

Products and services that  
satisfy our members’ needs

Meeting investment 
objectives

Developing our people and  
high performance culture

No specific objectives No specific objectives

How we measure 
our performance

•• Net funds flow (excluding 
investment income).

•• Employer and Union advocacy.

•• Membership and state  
service statistics.

•• Industry benchmarked surveys 
and product rating.

•• Investment performance  
relative to industry.

•• Staff engagement.

•• Staff turnover.

•• No specific performance 
measures.

•• No specific performance 
measures.

Outcome •• Overall target not achieved. 

•• However, rollovers in exceeded 
target and strong investment 
performance contributed to a growth 
in funds under management from 
$3.9 billion to $4.3 billion.

•• The 2012-13 target assumed 
continuing Tasmanian state service 
employment growth. However, 
employment in fact declined. 

•• Target largely achieved. 

•• Improvements in the performance 
measure were identified.

•• Major progress – very significant 
improvement across the areas  
reviewed by the rating agencies.

•• Targets largely achieved,  
and a number exceeded. 

•• All Member Investment 
Choice options achieved 
first quartile results for 
2012-13.

•• RBF Actively Managed 
option achieved a  
return of 16.2% after  
fees and taxes.

•• Significant improvement in staff 
engagement – consecutive 
increases in past two surveys.

•• RBF staff turnover has been 
steady, and at 8% for 2012-13  
was considerably lower than  
the industry average.

•• Significant governance 
enhancements were made 
including a new governance  
model providing better clarity  
of roles and responsibilities. 

•• This follows very significant 
governance enhancements in 
2011-12 to reach the standard 
required of an APRA licensed fund.

•• Significant infrastructure and  
Information Technology (IT) 
enhancements were made in 
2012-13 with a full upgrade of IT 
and new office accommodation. 

•• A new Business Intelligence 
methodology was implemented.

Looking to  
2013-14 

•• New actions and initiatives will 
support existing programs to  
attract and retain both members 
and funds.

•• Seeking a policy change to allow 
acceptance of private sector 
employer contributions will be 
considered after the RBF Stategic 
Review is finalised.

•• A new satisfaction based survey 
replaced the former advocacy 
based survey for unions and 
employer agencies. This will provide 
relevant information to better direct 
services to members, employer 
agencies and unions in 2013-14.

•• Further very significant product  
and service enhancements  
are on schedule for delivery  
in 2013-14.

•• In July 2013, Chant West 
rated the RBF Tasmanian 
Accumulation Scheme and the 
RBF Account Based Pension  
for the first time and awarded  
5 Apples (the highest rating).

•• A continuation of strong 
investment performance 
is expected as a result 
of the improvements to 
investment structures 
made during 2012-13.

•• A new range of cost efficient 
measures will be implemented, 
focussed on enhancing people 
management skills.

•• The governance enhancements  
in 2012-13 will be integrated to 
add value and enable RBF to 
quickly respond to internal and 
external forces.

•• Significant enhancements  
are planned to SharePoint  
and IT functionality.

•• New systems will be leveraged 
to continue to deliver business 
efficiencies and process 
improvements.

How we performed

The Board receives quarterly reporting 
on performance against the four 
strategic objectives of viability, people, 
governance and infrastructure, information 
and systems. The Board also receives 
a quarterly report on the broader 
superannuation industry and RBF’s  
place in it and a monthly report on 
projects in the RBF program of change.

In addition, the Board, through its 
Committees, receives quarterly reporting 
against the Division Strategic Plans and 
the CEO receives monthly reporting on 
the Division Annual Plans. 

During 2012-13, the implementation 
of business intelligence and reporting 
has provided the foundations for the 
automation of all reporting, significantly 
reducing the time required for compilation 

of reports and increasing the time available 
for provision of commentary and analysis 
in support of improved decision making.

Performance against the RBF Strategic 
Plan is reported by RBF quarterly to the 
Department of Treasury and Finance. 

For commercial reasons, specific targets 
and outcomes are not publically reported. 
However, performance under each 
key result area relative to the strategic 
objectives is reported below.

RBF completed a very large program of change during 2012-13. Our rigorous project methodology proved successful at delivering 
change on time and to budget. For a listing of the projects completed in 2012-13 and those continuing in 2013 go to page 72.
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How we performed

Key result  
areas

Viability People Governance Infrastructure, 
information and 
systems

Strategic 
objective

Improving funds flow by  
increasing contributions in  
and reducing rollovers out 

To be the preferred default fund  
for State Government employers

Products and services that  
satisfy our members’ needs

Meeting investment 
objectives

Developing our people and  
high performance culture

No specific objectives No specific objectives

How we measure 
our performance

•• Net funds flow (excluding 
investment income).

•• Employer and Union advocacy.

•• Membership and state  
service statistics.

•• Industry benchmarked surveys 
and product rating.

•• Investment performance  
relative to industry.

•• Staff engagement.

•• Staff turnover.

•• No specific performance 
measures.

•• No specific performance 
measures.

Outcome •• Overall target not achieved. 

•• However, rollovers in exceeded 
target and strong investment 
performance contributed to a growth 
in funds under management from 
$3.9 billion to $4.3 billion.

•• The 2012-13 target assumed 
continuing Tasmanian state service 
employment growth. However, 
employment in fact declined. 

•• Target largely achieved. 

•• Improvements in the performance 
measure were identified.

•• Major progress – very significant 
improvement across the areas  
reviewed by the rating agencies.

•• Targets largely achieved,  
and a number exceeded. 

•• All Member Investment 
Choice options achieved 
first quartile results for 
2012-13.

•• RBF Actively Managed 
option achieved a  
return of 16.2% after  
fees and taxes.

•• Significant improvement in staff 
engagement – consecutive 
increases in past two surveys.

•• RBF staff turnover has been 
steady, and at 8% for 2012-13  
was considerably lower than  
the industry average.

•• Significant governance 
enhancements were made 
including a new governance  
model providing better clarity  
of roles and responsibilities. 

•• This follows very significant 
governance enhancements in 
2011-12 to reach the standard 
required of an APRA licensed fund.

•• Significant infrastructure and  
Information Technology (IT) 
enhancements were made in 
2012-13 with a full upgrade of IT 
and new office accommodation. 

•• A new Business Intelligence 
methodology was implemented.

Looking to  
2013-14 

•• New actions and initiatives will 
support existing programs to  
attract and retain both members 
and funds.

•• Seeking a policy change to allow 
acceptance of private sector 
employer contributions will be 
considered after the RBF Stategic 
Review is finalised.

•• A new satisfaction based survey 
replaced the former advocacy 
based survey for unions and 
employer agencies. This will provide 
relevant information to better direct 
services to members, employer 
agencies and unions in 2013-14.

•• Further very significant product  
and service enhancements  
are on schedule for delivery  
in 2013-14.

•• In July 2013, Chant West 
rated the RBF Tasmanian 
Accumulation Scheme and the 
RBF Account Based Pension  
for the first time and awarded  
5 Apples (the highest rating).

•• A continuation of strong 
investment performance 
is expected as a result 
of the improvements to 
investment structures 
made during 2012-13.

•• A new range of cost efficient 
measures will be implemented, 
focussed on enhancing people 
management skills.

•• The governance enhancements  
in 2012-13 will be integrated to 
add value and enable RBF to 
quickly respond to internal and 
external forces.

•• Significant enhancements  
are planned to SharePoint  
and IT functionality.

•• New systems will be leveraged 
to continue to deliver business 
efficiencies and process 
improvements.
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Governance & Secretariat Division Corporate Support DivisionFinance Division Investment Management Division Operations Division 

The organisation structure and associated business model that were  
put in place during 2010, which incorporate the outsourcing of member 
administration services to Mercer and IT support to Logica (now called CGI)  
in 2011 have proven successful and allowed for a bold program of change  
to be successfully delivered to approved time-frames and budgets. 

RBF Board

Office of the CEO

The CEO and five Division Managers constitute the RBF Leadership Group.  

RBF organisation structure



Division functional responsibilities
Operations
•• Member administration support

•• Product development

•• Marketing 

•• Member information and advice

•• Relationship support to employers and unions.

Investment Management
•• Management of RBF’s investment portfolio including 

identifying new investment opportunities and reviewing existing 
investments, investment managers and investment structures

•• Operate direct investment portfolios

•• Reporting on investment performance to the Board. 

Finance
•• Financial, budgeting and taxation management

•• Accounting

•• Payroll, accounts payable and receivable

•• Monitoring the integrity of assets 

•• Maintaining financial systems

•• Reporting on financial performance to the Board.

Corporate Support
•• Risk and compliance

•• People and performance

•• Technology and change

•• Information services

•• Internal support

•• Commercial services.

Governance and Secretariat
•• Governance and policy

•• Strategy

•• Secretariat services

•• Legal services

•• Reviews and complaints.

RBF Annual Report 2012-13   •   11
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Tasmanian State  
Government reforms
In October 2008, the Tasmanian 
Government through the Treasurer 
instructed RBF to undertake the 
necessary reform process for RBF  
to become a fund regulated by APRA.

As a result of the work completed by the 
Registered Superannuation Entity (RSE) 
Licensing Project and the successful 
outsourcing of member administration 
services to Mercer in 2011, a pre-licence 
review was conducted by APRA in 
October 2011. The review report was very 
positive and RBF subsequently lodged 
a draft license application with APRA 
in March 2012. However, licensing did 
not proceed while issues relating to the 
governing rules were considered by the 
Tasmanian Government in 2012. These 
related primarily to the inclusion of a 
termination / winding-up provision in the 
draft legislation and the provision to APRA 
of a funding plan to address the unfunded 
liability of the Contributory Scheme.

On 9 August 2012, the Tasmanian 
Government advised the RBF Board 
that it had decided to defer proceeding 
with the APRA regulation of RBF while it 
considered its options for the long term 
objectives regarding the RBF and its 
future role in the superannuation industry. 
PricewaterhouseCoopers was engaged 
by Treasury to undertake the RBF 
Strategic Review.

The RBF Board is keenly awaiting the 
outcome of the RBF Strategic Review.  
The RBF Board is hopeful that it will  
result in positive and contemporary 
outcomes both for RBF members 
(including regulation by APRA) and the 
State Government. The RBF Strategic 
Review report had not been released  
at 30 June 2013.

Regulatory Reform Project
The RBF Board is committed to complying 
with the thirteen prudential standards 
required of an APRA regulated fund 
from 1 July 2013. The thirteen standards 
cover areas such as risk management, 
investment governance, insurance, 
audit, outsourcing, business continuity 
management, maintaining an operational 
risk reserve and fund governance. A 
project team is coordinating actions 
to ensure RBF’s compliance with the 
Australian Government’s Stronger Super 
governance reforms.

Through the Regulatory Reform Project, 
RBF is:

 • Ensuring compliance with the 
prudential standards applying to an 
APRA regulated fund by responding 
to changes in superannuation law 
and APRA’s Prudential Framework. A 
compliance obligations checklist has 
been developed and implementation 
is monitored by a Steering Committee 
chaired by the CEO;

 • Enhancing RBF’s reporting to APRA 
in response to the Stronger Super 
reporting requirements. Reporting to 
APRA will increase significantly from 
1 July 2013. The Regulatory Reform 
Project is monitoring the response by 
both RBF and our service providers to 
the new reporting regime; and

 • Progressing changes to the RBF 
governing rules to achieve alignment 
with superannuation law.

MySuper
RBF is developing a new default Member 
Investment Choice option for members 
of the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation 
Scheme (the current default option is 
RBF Actively Managed). This new option 
will be compliant with the Australian 
Government’s MySuper reforms.

The new default Member Investment 
Choice option will apply a lifecycle 
investment strategy designed to 
automatically reduce the risk in a 
member’s investment portfolio as they 
approach retirement. The RBF Board 
considers that this new option will 
provide a significant improvement over 
the current one-size-fits-all strategy of 
traditional balanced investment options. 
The lifecycle investment option will be 
launched in 2014.

RBF response to industry reforms 5
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SuperStream
SuperStream is a series of measures 
designed to enhance and standardise the 
‘back office’ of superannuation including 
the electronic acceptance of contributions 
and rollovers. Changes are being 
implemented jointly by RBF and Mercer 
(as our outsourced administration partner) 
to ensure RBF remains compliant with 
the new SuperStream measures as they 
become effective.

Future of Financial Advice 
(FoFA) Reforms
Australian Government reforms regarding 
financial advice commenced on 
1 July 2012 and compliance is mandatory 
from 1 July 2013. Australian Financial 
Services (AFS) Licensees could choose 
to become compliant with the reforms 
at any stage between 1 July 2012 
and 30 June 2013. Financial advice is 
provided by RBF Financial Planning Pty 
Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of RBF. 
RBF Financial Planning Pty Ltd is an 
AFS licensee and was largely compliant 
with the standards, however, some 
amendments to disclosure documents 
and procedures to ensure clarity around 
compliance were required.

Superannuation  
Guarantee increase
The Australian Government’s legislated 
increase in the Superannuation Guarantee 
started with an increase from 9% to 9.25% 
from 1 July 2013. The rate is scheduled 
to progressively increase to 12% by 2019. 
RBF has processes in place to ensure 
that this increase is actioned on time.

Australian Institute of 
Superannuation Trustees 
(AIST) Policy Committee
The Australian Institute of Superannuation 
Trustees is one of the major superannuation 
industry associations, the other being 
the Australian Superannuation Funds 
Association (ASFA). Both associations 
have played a crucial role in representing 
the industry to the Australian Government 
during the development of the reforms 
outlined above.

RBF CEO Philip Mussared is a member of 
the AIST Policy Committee and has sought 
to bring the perspective of public sector 
funds to the Committee’s discussion.

Changes are being 
implemented jointly 
by RBF and Mercer 
(as our outsourced 
administration partner) 
to ensure RBF remains 
compliant with the 
new SuperStream 
measures as they 
become effective.

Work within the RBF ‘Interactions not 
Transactions’ Project occurred during the 
year to improve the provision of financial 
services and to provide an integrated 
training and coaching framework for 
all RBF member facing staff. Work is 
continuing and the emphasis is on 
ensuring a consistent and valuable 
service whenever a member interacts  
with RBF.
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Chief Investment Officer Message
RBF made a number of significant improvements  
to investment portfolios during 2012-13 and we are  
already seeing some of the results. 6

In addition to refining the investment 
structures, we reviewed the investment 
management fee for each of the 
investment options with the aim of 
providing greater value for money  
for our members. 

The Australian Shares asset class, worth 
around $1.1bn, was restructured to 
reduce the number of fund managers and 
reduce overlap between fund managers. 
This has achieved greater tax and 
implementation efficiency and lowered 
fees for all RBF’s Member Investment 
Choice (MIC) options that invest in 
Australian shares, while maintaining 
the ability for the portfolio to outperform 
the benchmark. The fee reductions 
commenced from 1 December 2012. The 
fee for the default RBF Actively Managed 
option, in which around 70% of RBF 
members are invested, reduced from 
0.66%pa to 0.61%pa. The fee for the  
RBF Australian Shares option dropped 
from 0.53%pa to 0.38%pa. The RBF 
Australian Shares option had a great  
year and returned 24.02% after fees  
and taxes for 2012-13.

Changes to cash management were 
implemented in July 2012 which has 
meant that RBF’s cash returns have held 
up relatively well as the official cash rate, 
and bank deposit rates, have fallen. We 
estimate that returns are around 0.8%pa 
higher as a result of the changes. These 
changes impact the RBF Cash option and 
the diversified options that hold cash.

The asset allocation for the RBF Actively 
Managed option was changed in early 
December 2012. The changes were 
based on the relative valuations of the 
asset classes, lowering exposure to asset 
classes that were viewed as expensive 
and increasing exposure to assets that 
were relatively cheap and which have 
lower risk. The changes were:

 • reduced exposure to Australian shares 
by 4% and increased exposure to 
corporate debt by 4%. While corporate 
debt is correlated with share markets,  
it is less volatile and tends to recover 
from any falls more quickly; and 

 • reduced exposure to government debt 
by 4% and increased exposure to cash 
by 4%. Long term interest rates are at 
historically low levels in many countries 
which means current yields are low but 
there is a risk of negative performance 
if interest rates rise. This move reduces 
the risk to the portfolio if long term 
interest rates rise.

At an asset class level, the Alternatives 
pool was split into three new pools: 
Infrastructure, Alternative debt and 
Absolute return. This change to three 
more clearly defined pools gives RBF 
greater flexibility in setting the asset 
allocations for the diversified options. 

RBF owns 49.9% of Hobart International 
Airport. The airport’s borrowings were 
refinanced in late 2012 to ensure the 
asset has an appropriate capital structure. 
In the past two years, the airport has 
resurfaced the runway and taxiways, and 
replaced all of the airfield lighting at a total 
cost of $30m. These upgrades were part 
of ongoing maintenance to ensure the 
airport continues to operate at the highest 
safety standards. Pleasingly, following the 
refinance in late 2012, the airport paid a 
dividend to investors in June 2013. 

The RBF direct property portfolio saw 
a number of changes with the sale 
of the former RBF Hobart offices at 
39 Sandy Bay Road and Hampden Road 
and the purchase of 144 Macquarie 
Street, Hobart. These changes move 
the portfolio further towards high quality, 
multi-tenant buildings that fit with RBF’s 
investment strategy of long leases with 
high quality tenants. The direct property 
portfolio continued to perform well despite 
challenging market conditions. 

In May 2013, the RBF Board 
approved a major refurbishment of 
144 Macquarie Street to raise the 
buildings’ energy efficiency rating from 
2.0 to 4.5 NABER Energy Stars.

The increased focus on investments 
in recent years has shown results with 
RBF achieving top quartile performance 
for all of its Member Investment Choice 
options over the past 12 months. This is 
an excellent result for our members and 
a pleasing reward for the significant effort 
that went into achieving these results.

Ian Lundy 
Chief Investments Officer
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John Bertram joined RBF in 1987 when 
he began working at the Launceston 
General Hospital. 

“I was naive and unaware of the 
importance of super when I first 
started working and I didn’t 
really worry too much about my 
superannuation until I turned 50.  
I was really quite blasé about it.

Mr Bertram now takes an active 
interest in his super and makes the 
most of the services RBF provides  
to members. 

“I’ve been to quite a few seminars,  
and I’m planning to go to a few more. 
I also trawl through my statements 
and have had an appointment with 
a Superannuation Consultant, who 
provided me with a lot of information. 

I’m looking for my super account to 
provide me with financial security in 
retirement,” Mr Bertram said. 

“That means a roof over my  
head, food on my table, and  
the freedom to enjoy life – you don’t 
get out of life alive! I’d like to be able  
to continue to go on holiday too.

“I’d also like to spend more time in  
and around Strahan. It’s my favourite 
place in Tasmania because it’s a  
little isolated.” 

John Bertram, RBF member
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Constable Heath Pickett first toyed 
with the idea of becoming a police 
officer in his early 20s but was talked 
out of it, instead joining the Royal 
Australian Army as an infantry solider.

It had been 10 years before he 
returned to his dream of becoming  
a police officer and no one was going 
to talk him out of it this time. 

Constable Pickett received a scholarship 
from RBF to help him to complete 
his Bachelor of Social Science (Police 
Studies) from the University of 
Tasmania, graduating in August 2013.

“I’ve always believed that superannuation 
is an important aspect of my financial 
security but it’s my responsibility to 
make sure my investment decisions are 
right for me and my family,” Constable 
Pickett said. 

“For this reason, I monitor my account 
balance closely, I read the information 
RBF sends me and I also seek financial 
planning advice from RBF Financial 
Planning regularly”. 

“I’ve always been impressed with  
the level of service I’ve received  
from RBF and am pleased to say  
my superannuation is growing quite 
nicely,” Constable Pickett said. 

Constable Heath Pickett, RBF member
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Member Investment Choice
RBF offers members access to a range of Member Investment Choice (MIC)
options including diversified investment strategy options, as well as specific 
asset class options. 

The diversified options have been 
designed to provide diversification across 
both asset classes and investment 
managers. They include options suitable 
for low to medium risk investors through 

to those who seek a more aggressive 
investment strategy. The asset class 
options range from very low risk/low return 
such as cash, to the high risk/high return 
asset classes.

Move to Unit pricing
In March 2013, RBF moved from crediting 
rates to unit pricing to provide greater 
transparency and clarity for members 
of the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation 
Scheme. Unit pricing is considered to 
be best practice in the financial services 
industry and allows members to see 
movements in unit prices reflecting the 
value of their super over time. As part of 
the move to unit pricing, RBF introduced 

7 Investment performance

The options are:

MIC option

Diversified options Asset class options

RBF Long Term Growth RBF Australian Shares

RBF Actively Managed (default) RBF International Shares

RBF Socially Responsible Investments RBF Property

RBF Moderate Growth RBF Fixed Interest

RBF Conservative Growth RBF Cash

Members are able to select one of these MIC options or a combination of the different  
MIC options available. Each option is described in detail on pages 20 – 23.

a buy-sell spread. This is the difference 
between the purchase and sale price of 
a unit in a Member Investment Choice 
option and covers the transaction 
costs to the fund of buying and selling 
assets. RBF’s systems were closed 
for a short period while the conversion 
process was completed but with minimal 
disruption to our members. For more 
information, please read the ‘Fact sheet: 
RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme 

– introduction of unit prices’ available on 
the website at www.rbf.com.au 

Investment Performance of 
defined benefit schemes 
In determining the asset allocations for 
the defined benefit schemes, the primary 
focus is on establishing a long-term 
Strategic Asset Allocation (SAA) and 
making infrequent, but at times significant, 
changes or ‘tilts’ to the SAA positioning. 
Such tilts may occur to take advantage 
of what is considered a fundamental 
mispricing within or between investment 
markets or to avoid downside investment 
risk. The strategy takes into account risk 
preferences expressed by the Tasmanian 
Department of Treasury and Finance.

The investment strategy for the Contributory 
Scheme and the other defined benefit 
schemes has previously been reviewed by 
the RBF Board every 18 months. Reviews 
have now moved to a 12 month cycle in 
order to comply with the new prudential 
standards for superannuation funds. The 
RBF Board reviewed the defined benefit 
schemes in July 2013. 

Contributory Scheme 
performance
The key stakeholder for stability in the 
funding position of the Contributory 
Scheme is the State of Tasmania, as  
the State Government finances an 
actuarially determined share of benefits. 

The following graph for the period  
March 2006 to June 2013 depicts the  
long term trend of returns on investments 
for the Contributory Scheme and 
compares the rolling return against  
the CPI +4.5% objectives.

https://secure.superfacts.com/attachments/Form/RBF_TASIntroductionUnitPricing.pdf
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Factors at least partly within RBF’s 
influence that contribute to the reported 
funding position of the Contributory 
Scheme are administration fees and 
investment returns on the Contributory 
Scheme account. The discount rate 
applied to the calculation of the liability 
based on the Commonwealth long term 
bond rate also has a significant impact on 
the notional unfunded liability. A reduction 
in the long term bond rate will increase the 
notional valuation of the unfunded liability.

For 2012-13, RBF International 
Shares option was rated in the  
‘Top 10 international shares super 
fund options’ by SuperRatings  
for its five-year returns.

At 30 June 2013, RBF had  
$324 million invested in Tasmania 
which includes a number of high 
quality office buildings.

Contributory Scheme Returns vs Objective (CPI + 4.5%) Roling 5 years % pa
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Diversified options RBF Actively Managed (Default) RBF Long Term Growth RBF Socially Responsible 
Investments

RBF Moderate Growth RBF Conservative Growth

Investment objective To provide a moderate to high level of 
capital growth over the medium- to  
long-term.

To provide a high level of capital growth  
over the long-term.

To provide a moderate level of capital 
growth over the long-term by investing in 
Australian and overseas companies that will 
form part of a socially and environmentally 
sustainable future and that meet ethical 
investment criteria.

To provide a moderate level of capital 
growth over the medium- to long-term.

To provide some capital growth over 
the short- to medium-term while also 
maintaining a moderate to high level  
of capital stability and a low probability  
of a negative return in any one year. 

Target return To exceed inflation by 4% per annum,  
over rolling five-year periods.

To exceed inflation by 5% per annum,  
over rolling seven-year periods.

To exceed inflation by 4% per annum,  
over rolling five-year periods.

To exceed inflation by 3% per annum,  
over rolling three-year periods.

To exceed inflation by 2% per annum,  
over rolling three-year periods.

Benchmark allocations 
as at 30 June 2013

Actual asset allocation for each asset  
class may vary from time to time within  
the permitted ranges published in the  
table below:

Asset class Benchmark 
allocation

Permitted 
range

• Australian shares 29% 24-34%

• International shares 24% 19-29%

• Property 12% 7-17%

• Infrastructure 10% 5-15%

• Fixed interest 8% 5-11%

• Cash 8% 6-13%

• Alternative debt 6% 1-11%

• Absolute return 3% 0-8%

Actual asset allocation for each asset  
class may vary from time to time within  
the permitted ranges published in the  
table below:

Asset class Benchmark 
allocation

Permitted 
range

• Australian shares 37% 20-50%

• International shares 30% 20-50%

• Property 12% 5-20%

• Infrastructure 5% 0-15%

• Fixed interest 0 0-10%

• Cash 5% 6-13%

• Alternative debt 8% 0-15%

• Absolute return 3% 0-10%

Actual asset allocation for each asset  
class may vary from time to time within  
the permitted ranges published in the  
table below:

Asset class Benchmark 
allocation

Permitted 
range

• Australian shares 33% –

• International shares 24% –

• Property 10% –

• Infrastructure 0% –

• Fixed interest 25% –

• Cash 6% –

• Alternative debt 0% –

• Absolute return 2% –

Actual asset allocation for each asset  
class may vary from time to time within  
the permitted ranges published in the  
table below:

Asset class Benchmark 
allocation

Permitted 
range

• Australian shares 19% 10-30%

• International shares 15% 10-30%

• Property 8% 0-15%

• Infrastructure 6% 0-15%

• Fixed interest 20% 10-40%

• Cash 22% 10-40%

• Alternative debt 8% 0-15%

• Absolute return 2% 0-10%

Actual asset allocation for each asset  
class may vary from time to time within  
the permitted ranges published in the  
table below:

Asset class Benchmark 
allocation

Permitted 
range

• Australian shares 13% 5-20%

• International shares 10% 5-20%

• Property 3% 0-10%

• Infrastructure 2% 0-10%

• Fixed interest 30% 20-60%

• Cash 38% 20-60%

• Alternative debt 4% 0-10%

• Absolute return 0% 0-10%

Investment profile

Expected frequency  
of negative returns

Medium to high risk  
Three to less than four years in every 20.

High risk 
Five to less than six years in every 20.

High risk  
Four to less than five years in every 20.

Medium risk 
Two to less than three years in every 20.

Low to medium risk  
One to less than two years in every 20.

Member Investment Choice snapshot

26%
Defensive

74%
Growth

13%
Defensive

87%
Growth
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Diversified options RBF Actively Managed (Default) RBF Long Term Growth RBF Socially Responsible 
Investments

RBF Moderate Growth RBF Conservative Growth

Investment objective To provide a moderate to high level of 
capital growth over the medium- to  
long-term.

To provide a high level of capital growth  
over the long-term.

To provide a moderate level of capital 
growth over the long-term by investing in 
Australian and overseas companies that will 
form part of a socially and environmentally 
sustainable future and that meet ethical 
investment criteria.

To provide a moderate level of capital 
growth over the medium- to long-term.

To provide some capital growth over 
the short- to medium-term while also 
maintaining a moderate to high level  
of capital stability and a low probability  
of a negative return in any one year. 

Target return To exceed inflation by 4% per annum,  
over rolling five-year periods.

To exceed inflation by 5% per annum,  
over rolling seven-year periods.

To exceed inflation by 4% per annum,  
over rolling five-year periods.

To exceed inflation by 3% per annum,  
over rolling three-year periods.

To exceed inflation by 2% per annum,  
over rolling three-year periods.

Benchmark allocations 
as at 30 June 2013

Actual asset allocation for each asset  
class may vary from time to time within  
the permitted ranges published in the  
table below:

Asset class Benchmark 
allocation

Permitted 
range

• Australian shares 29% 24-34%

• International shares 24% 19-29%

• Property 12% 7-17%

• Infrastructure 10% 5-15%

• Fixed interest 8% 5-11%

• Cash 8% 6-13%

• Alternative debt 6% 1-11%

• Absolute return 3% 0-8%

Actual asset allocation for each asset  
class may vary from time to time within  
the permitted ranges published in the  
table below:

Asset class Benchmark 
allocation

Permitted 
range

• Australian shares 37% 20-50%

• International shares 30% 20-50%

• Property 12% 5-20%

• Infrastructure 5% 0-15%

• Fixed interest 0 0-10%

• Cash 5% 6-13%

• Alternative debt 8% 0-15%

• Absolute return 3% 0-10%

Actual asset allocation for each asset  
class may vary from time to time within  
the permitted ranges published in the  
table below:

Asset class Benchmark 
allocation

Permitted 
range

• Australian shares 33% –

• International shares 24% –

• Property 10% –

• Infrastructure 0% –

• Fixed interest 25% –

• Cash 6% –

• Alternative debt 0% –

• Absolute return 2% –

Actual asset allocation for each asset  
class may vary from time to time within  
the permitted ranges published in the  
table below:

Asset class Benchmark 
allocation

Permitted 
range

• Australian shares 19% 10-30%

• International shares 15% 10-30%

• Property 8% 0-15%

• Infrastructure 6% 0-15%

• Fixed interest 20% 10-40%

• Cash 22% 10-40%

• Alternative debt 8% 0-15%

• Absolute return 2% 0-10%

Actual asset allocation for each asset  
class may vary from time to time within  
the permitted ranges published in the  
table below:

Asset class Benchmark 
allocation

Permitted 
range

• Australian shares 13% 5-20%

• International shares 10% 5-20%

• Property 3% 0-10%

• Infrastructure 2% 0-10%

• Fixed interest 30% 20-60%

• Cash 38% 20-60%

• Alternative debt 4% 0-10%

• Absolute return 0% 0-10%

Investment profile

Expected frequency  
of negative returns

Medium to high risk  
Three to less than four years in every 20.

High risk 
Five to less than six years in every 20.

High risk  
Four to less than five years in every 20.

Medium risk 
Two to less than three years in every 20.

Low to medium risk  
One to less than two years in every 20.

31%
Defensive

69%
Growth

50%
Defensive

50%
Growth

72%
Defensive

28%
Growth
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Asset class options RBF Australian Shares RBF International Shares RBF Property RBF Fixed Interest RBF Cash

Objective To provide a high level of capital growth over 
the long-term by investing in a portfolio of 
Australian shares.

To provide a high level of capital growth over 
the long-term by investing in a portfolio of 
international shares.

To provide a stable income stream and also 
offer the opportunity for capital growth over 
the longer-term.

To provide moderate returns and retain 
capital value over the medium-term.

To provide a high level of capital security 
and maintain the purchasing power of the 
capital invested.

Target return To exceed inflation by 5.5% per annum,  
over rolling seven-year periods.

To exceed inflation by 5.5% per annum,  
over rolling seven-year periods.

To exceed inflation by 4.5% per annum,  
over rolling five-year periods.

To exceed inflation by 2% per annum,  
over rolling three-year periods.

To exceed inflation by 0.5% each year.

Benchmark allocations

Actual asset allocation for each asset  
class may vary from time to time within  
the permitted ranges published in the  
table below:

Asset class Benchmark allocation

• Australian shares 100%

• International shares 0%

• Property 0%

• Infrastructure 0%

• Fixed interest 0%

• Cash 0%

• Alternative debt 0%

• Absolute return 0%

Actual asset allocation for each asset  
class may vary from time to time within  
the permitted ranges published in the  
table below:

Asset class Benchmark allocation

• Australian shares 0%

• International shares 100%

• Property 0%

• Infrastructure 0%

• Fixed interest 0%

• Cash 0%

• Alternative debt 0%

• Absolute return 0%

Actual asset allocation for each asset  
class may vary from time to time within  
the permitted ranges published in the  
table below:

Asset class Benchmark allocation

• Australian shares 0%

• International shares 0%

• Property 100%

• Infrastructure 0%

• Fixed interest 0%

• Cash 0%

• Alternative debt 0%

• Absolute return 0%

Actual asset allocation for each asset  
class may vary from time to time within  
the permitted ranges published in the  
table below:

Asset class Benchmark allocation

• Australian shares 0%

• International shares 0%

• Property 0%

• Infrastructure 0%

• Fixed interest 100%

• Cash 0%

• Alternative debt 0%

• Absolute return 0%

Actual asset allocation for each asset  
class may vary from time to time within  
the permitted ranges published in the  
table below:

Asset class Benchmark allocation

• Australian shares 0%

• International shares 0%

• Property 0%

• Infrastructure 0%

• Fixed interest 0%

• Cash 100%

• Alternative debt 0%

• Absolute return 0%

Investment profile

Expected frequency  
of negative returns

Very high risk 
Approximately six years in every 20.

Very high risk 
Approximately six years in every 20.

Medium to high risk 
Three to less than four years in every 20.

Medium risk 
Two to less than three years in every 20.

Very low risk. 
Approximately zero years in every 20.

100%
Growth

100%
Growth

Member Investment Choice snapshot
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Asset class options RBF Australian Shares RBF International Shares RBF Property RBF Fixed Interest RBF Cash

Objective To provide a high level of capital growth over 
the long-term by investing in a portfolio of 
Australian shares.

To provide a high level of capital growth over 
the long-term by investing in a portfolio of 
international shares.

To provide a stable income stream and also 
offer the opportunity for capital growth over 
the longer-term.

To provide moderate returns and retain 
capital value over the medium-term.

To provide a high level of capital security 
and maintain the purchasing power of the 
capital invested.

Target return To exceed inflation by 5.5% per annum,  
over rolling seven-year periods.

To exceed inflation by 5.5% per annum,  
over rolling seven-year periods.

To exceed inflation by 4.5% per annum,  
over rolling five-year periods.

To exceed inflation by 2% per annum,  
over rolling three-year periods.

To exceed inflation by 0.5% each year.

Benchmark allocations

Actual asset allocation for each asset  
class may vary from time to time within  
the permitted ranges published in the  
table below:

Asset class Benchmark allocation

• Australian shares 100%

• International shares 0%

• Property 0%

• Infrastructure 0%

• Fixed interest 0%

• Cash 0%

• Alternative debt 0%

• Absolute return 0%

Actual asset allocation for each asset  
class may vary from time to time within  
the permitted ranges published in the  
table below:

Asset class Benchmark allocation

• Australian shares 0%

• International shares 100%

• Property 0%

• Infrastructure 0%

• Fixed interest 0%

• Cash 0%

• Alternative debt 0%

• Absolute return 0%

Actual asset allocation for each asset  
class may vary from time to time within  
the permitted ranges published in the  
table below:

Asset class Benchmark allocation

• Australian shares 0%

• International shares 0%

• Property 100%

• Infrastructure 0%

• Fixed interest 0%

• Cash 0%

• Alternative debt 0%

• Absolute return 0%

Actual asset allocation for each asset  
class may vary from time to time within  
the permitted ranges published in the  
table below:

Asset class Benchmark allocation

• Australian shares 0%

• International shares 0%

• Property 0%

• Infrastructure 0%

• Fixed interest 100%

• Cash 0%

• Alternative debt 0%

• Absolute return 0%

Actual asset allocation for each asset  
class may vary from time to time within  
the permitted ranges published in the  
table below:

Asset class Benchmark allocation

• Australian shares 0%

• International shares 0%

• Property 0%

• Infrastructure 0%

• Fixed interest 0%

• Cash 100%

• Alternative debt 0%

• Absolute return 0%

Investment profile

Expected frequency  
of negative returns

Very high risk 
Approximately six years in every 20.

Very high risk 
Approximately six years in every 20.

Medium to high risk 
Three to less than four years in every 20.

Medium risk 
Two to less than three years in every 20.

Very low risk. 
Approximately zero years in every 20.

58%
Defensive

42%
Growth

100%
Defensive

100%
Defensive
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RBF Investment Account – Investment returns to 30 June 2013

Member Investment  
Choice option

12  
months 

3  
years 

5  
years

7  
years 

10  
years 

Since 
inception

Inception 
date

Diversified options

RBF Actively Managed (Default) 16.24% 8.36% 4.62% 4.37% 6.85% 6.30% 2-Oct-1999

RBF Long Term Growth 19.84% 8.78% 4.37% 4.00% 7.45% 6.46% 2-Oct-1999

RBF Moderate Growth 12.32% N/A N/A N/A N/A 7.66% 18-Aug-2010

RBF Conservative Growth 10.26% 7.73% 6.66% 5.89% 6.43% 5.98% 2-Oct-1999

RBF Socially Responsible Investments 18.56% 8.31% 4.68% 3.97% 6.46% 5.48% 20-Oct-2001

Asset Class options

RBF Australian Shares 24.00% 8.78% 3.91% 3.74% 8.67% 7.74% 29-Sep-2001

RBF International Shares 26.99% 10.94% 5.17% 2.25% 4.93% 2.61% 20-Oct-2001

RBF Property N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 7.59% 29-Nov-2012

RBF Fixed Interest 6.82% 8.38% 8.32% 7.20% 6.45% 6.44% 28-Jun-2003

RBF Cash 4.50% 4.27% 4.11% 4.58% 4.61% 4.60% 2-Oct-1999

The following tables show the compound 
average investment returns to 30 June 
2013 for the past 1,3, 5, 7 and 10 
years where available, as well as since 
inception. Past performance is not a 
reliable predictor of future performance, 
but longer-term historical data should 
be a more useful guide to members in 
assessing the relevance of current year 
returns to their retirement savings goals.

These rates only apply to money invested 
in the relevant accounts and options for 
the whole period. The investment returns 
may differ between members’ accounts 
depending upon when they joined the 
fund and the timing of any contributions, 
withdrawals and investment switches. 

Investment returns

The changes made to investment 
portfolios over the past 12 months 
have produced impressive results.

Over 12 months all RBF options 
have performed in the highest 
quartile of comparable options  
of other super funds.  

Over 5 years, all of our options  
are in the top half of super funds 
which is an outstanding result.
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RBF Account Based Pension – Investment returns to 30 June 2013

Member Investment  
Choice option

12  
months 

3  
years 

5  
years

7  
years 

10  
years 

Since 
inception

Inception 
date

Diversified options

RBF Actively Managed (Default) 19.00% 9.57% 5.38% 5.02% 7.74% 7.06% 15-Jan-2000

RBF Long Term Growth 23.29% 10.29% 5.41% 4.79% 8.33% 7.00% 15-Jan-2000

RBF Moderate Growth 14.32% N/A N/A N/A N/A 8.86% 18-Aug-2010

RBF Conservative Growth 11.80% 8.88% 7.39% 6.55% 7.28% 6.83% 15-Jan-2000

RBF Socially Responsible Investments 21.71% 9.56% 5.15% 4.34% 7.10% 6.08% 20-Oct-2001

Asset Class options

RBF Australian Shares 28.18% 10.28% 5.37% 4.84% 9.80% 8.88% 29-Sep-2001

RBF International Shares 30.31% 12.10% 4.99% 1.96% 5.08% 2.71% 20-Oct-2001

RBF Property N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 9.48% 29-Nov-2012

RBF Fixed Interest 7.68% 9.76% 9.75% 8.43% 7.55% 7.53% 28-Jun-2003

RBF Cash 5.08% 4.94% 4.79% 5.36% 5.42% 5.43% 15-Jan-2000

RBF Term Allocated Pension – Investment returns to 30 June 2013

Member Investment  
Choice option

12  
months 

3  
years 

5  
years

7  
years 

10  
years 

Since 
inception

Inception 
date

Diversified options

RBF Actively Managed (Default) 19.00% 9.57% 5.38% 5.02% N/A 6.22% 1-Jul-2005

RBF Long Term Growth 23.29% 10.29% 5.41% 4.79% N/A 6.34% 1-Jul-2005

RBF Moderate Growth 14.32% N/A N/A N/A N/A 8.86% 18-Aug-2010

RBF Conservative Growth 11.80% 8.88% 7.39% 6.55% N/A 6.84% 1-Jul-2005

RBF Socially Responsible Investments 21.71% 9.56% 5.15% 4.34% N/A 5.68% 1-Jul-2005

Asset Class options

RBF Australian Shares 28.18% 10.28% 5.37% 4.84% N/A 6.65% 1-Jul-2005

RBF International Shares 30.31% 12.10% 4.99% 1.96% N/A 4.00% 1-Jul-2005

RBF Property N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 9.48% 29-Nov-2012

RBF Fixed Interest 7.68% 9.76% 9.75% 8.43% N/A 7.87% 1-Jul-2005

RBF Cash 5.08% 4.94% 4.79% 5.36% N/A 5.41% 1-Jul-2005
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Investment Asset type 30 June 2013  
% of total assets

1. Westpac Bank Cash and Term Deposits 6.1%

2. Hobart Airport Infrastructure 2.9%

3. Perth Airport Infrastructure 2.0%

4. BHP Billiton Ltd Shares 1.8%

5. Westpac Banking Corporation Shares 1.8%

6. U.S.A. Government Debt Government Debt 1.7%

7. Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Shares 1.6%

8. Commonwealth Bank of Australia Shares 1.5%

9. Australian Government Debt Government Debt 1.5%

10. National Australia Bank Shares 1.4%

RBF top holdings8
Changes to investment 
managers
During 2012-13 the following changes  
to investment managers were made:

New managers funded
 • Balanced Equity Management  

(Franklin Templeton)

 • Concise Asset Management

 • FIIG

Managers terminated
 • Maple-Brown Abbott

 • Solaris

 • Paradice

 • Tascorp

Derivatives

What are derivatives?
Derivatives are financial contracts, the 
value of which depends upon the value 
of an underlying instrument or asset 
(typically a commodity, bond, equity  
or currency, or a combination of these). 
Derivatives can be used to reduce the  
risk of (or ‘hedge’) an investment in  
the underlying instrument.

RBF’s use of derivatives
Investment managers may use derivatives if 
the RBF Board deems this appropriate and 
it is documented in contracts with individual 
managers. The investment managers 
provide the RBF Board with detailed risk 
management statements which outline 
their approach to derivatives and confirm 
that their approach is applicable to the 
investments they manage.

The RBF Board monitors investment 
managers to confirm that the use of 
derivatives accords with the overall 
investment strategy of the Fund and 
is consistent with the performance 
objectives of each portfolio and sub-fund.

The RBF Board uses its currency manager 
to enter into forward exchange contracts 
to manage foreign currency exposures 
within the Fund.

The derivatives charge ratio of the fund 
did not exceed 5% at any time during the 
financial year.
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In 2012-13, the focus was building on the 
foundation from the previous year as it 
related to our administrator, Mercer, and 
improving the level of service to members. 
This has resulted in faster administration 
processing times and improved 
functionality. Most notable was the 
significant decrease in time to process 
benefit payments out of the Contributory 
Scheme. The average time to pay a 
Contributory Scheme benefit reduced by 
over 50% from a high of 73 calendar days 
to 34 calendar days. This time was from 
notification of a member’s employment 
finishing to the member receiving their 
payment and includes the time taken by 
the member to make a decision about 
retirement benefit options and return 
completed forms. 

With performance against administration 
measures now at historical highs, Mercer 
achieving all of its contracted service 
agreement responsibilities, member 
satisfaction levels higher now than prior 
to the outsourcing of administration to 
Mercer and complaints almost negligible, 
the hard work of the past three years is 
obviously paying off. 

Products have continued to develop  
with a redesign of the insurance  
product for the RBF Tasmanian 
Accumulation Scheme. 

Chief Operations Officer Message
The Operations Division takes a ‘value chain’ approach to product 
development, promotion, delivery and support mechanisms working 
together in a coordinated and integrated fashion.9

Over 50% reduction  
in average time to pay 
Contributory Scheme 
benefits.

More members are utilising online facilities 
including the newly introduced phone-
based investment switching process. 

The success of the Super Heroes 
seminars held in Launceston and Hobart 
in April 2013, and the innovation of RBF 
Superannuation Consultants conducting 
interviews in the workplace, will see  
these initiatives continue in 2013-14. 

The focus in the coming year will be 
on the quality of our interactions with 
members and implementing further 
exciting developments in product design, 
in particular a new MySuper compliant life 
cycle default product and a new Member 
Investment Choice option allowing 
RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme 
members to make direct investments in 
Australian equities and term deposits.

We look forward to releasing an exciting 
new online benefit calculation tool for 
members later in 2013.

Nick Connor 
Chief Operations Officer
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Improving our efficiency
Targeted communications
At 30 June 2013, there were 75,770 
members in RBF who are all looking 
for individual outcomes from their 
superannuation. To enhance the way 
we communicate with our members, 
during 2012-13 RBF developed 
membership profiles for our members. 
We have statistically studied the profiles, 
gaining insights that now are being 
used to help us develop and inform 
our communications, products, fees, 
and services so that they best suit our 
members’ needs.

Member administration
When RBF outsourced the administration 
of its schemes to Mercer (Australia) Pty 
Ltd in mid-2011, it was intended that 
this would ultimately lead to improved 
services to members through Mercer’s 
systems and scale. In 2012-13, these 
improvements have well and truly 
been realised and we expect ongoing 
improvements in future years.

Mercer is consistently achieving the 
service level standards that were 
established in the service agreement 
entered into between RBF and Mercer 
in 2011. Mercer’s size and industry 
knowledge also enables us to access  
add on benefits for RBF members 
such as a product that will allow direct 
investments in shares and term deposits 
at a lower cost than would be the case 
if RBF were to develop and implement 
these products alone.

Faster benefit payments to 
Contributory Scheme members
RBF completed a project of data 
cleansing in August 2012. A risk-based 
approach was taken to assess and 
categorise the risk of data integrity issues 
affecting benefit payment times from 
the Contributory Scheme. To assess the 
effectiveness of the data cleansing, an 
assessment of the time taken to process 
Contributory Scheme benefits was 
completed. As shown in the graph above, 
the data cleansing had a very positive 
impact on the time taken to process 
Contributory Scheme benefits. 

Consolidation of member accounts 
RBF completed a process of intra-fund 
consolidation in May 2013. Intra-fund 
consolidation involved determining if  
a member had more than one account 
in the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation 
Scheme and merging these into one. 
The result of this consolidation is that 
the majority of members of the RBF 
Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme now 
have only one open account and for many 
this will mean paying lower fees overall. 

Intra-fund consolidation simplified for 
4,367 members the management of their 
retirement funds with RBF as it eliminated 
the replication of mail and administration 
associated with multiple accounts. 

RBF online services 
RBF online services were enhanced; 
providing:

 • Benefits for employers – straight 
through processing of employer 
contributions to Mercer systems has 
been implemented and proved very 
efficient. This eliminates the need for 
ongoing checking of contributions, 
thereby significantly reducing work for 
both employer agencies and Mercer. 

 • Benefits for members – including 
full membership and account details, 
benefit estimates, ability for members 
to specify their communication 
preferences, ability to review and 
change investment choices, tax 
calculations, review fees and premiums, 
review the workflow status of requests 
made, obtain an insurance quote and 
use a range of calculators.

Supporting our members10
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Since starting work as a bus driver 
in 1977, Paul Stringer has seen many 
changes during his years with Metro.

In more recent years, he has noticed 
the increasing professionalism within 
Metro Tasmania.

“Everything is now by the book. There 
are a lot of systems in place to make 
sure everyone is safe,” Mr Stringer said. 

Mr Stringer is beginning to take a 
more active interest in his retirement 
and has been in contact with RBF  
on a number of occasions.

“I like going into the office because 
everyone is always so helpful.

“In my retirement years, I’d like to 
spend some time on Bruny Island, 
my favourite place in Tasmania, and 
perhaps go to Melbourne to watch  
a few AFL games,” Mr Stringer said.

“Apart from that, I’d be happy to sit 
back and relax at home or go for 
bicycle ride each day. As long as  
I’ve got good health and my family 
around me, I’m a happy man,”  
Mr Stringer said.

Paul Stringer, RBF member
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Improving our information 
and advice
Super seminars!
In November 2012, RBF won the ASFA 
People’s Choice Award in Member 
Communications for its 2011 Statewide 
Member Expos program and also was 
shortlisted for the AIST Excellence in 
Communications Award.

In April 2013, RBF sought to improve on 
the successful Member Expos program. 
We held Saturday Super Heroes seminars 
in both the North and South of the State 
and drew on the support of our employer 
network that provided venues at no cost. 
Thank you to the Department of Education 
for allowing us to use the Hobart 
College and Tasmanian Polytechnic/
Skills Institute Alanvale Campuses! We 
partnered with RBF Financial Planning, 
Centrelink, The Public Trustee, ME Bank 
and the Tasmanian Association of State 
Superannuants to provide our members 
with a one-stop information session 
focussed on topics of interest for  
our membership.

Over 850 members attended the seminars 
and the response to the format was very 
positive. The high attendance at the 
Super Heroes seminars indicates our 
membership is interested in learning more 
about their superannuation and we look 
forward to further developing this style of 
education program.

Business Relationship Officers
RBF’s three Business Relationship 
Officers (BROs) are knowledgeable and 
experienced professionals who bring RBF 
to workplaces across Tasmania. As well 
as 231 workplace visits during the year to 
conduct presentations on superannuation 
topics, the BROs are able to organise 
Superannuation Consultants and RBF 
Financial Planners to conduct personal 
face-to-face interviews for members in 
workplaces throughout Tasmania. They 
are also key contacts for our employer 
and union stakeholders.

Superannuation Consultants
Our team of Superannuation Consultants 
all have industry RG 146 qualifications. 
During 2012-13, this team supported  
RBF members in the following ways:

 • One-on-one superannuation 
discussions with members. 
Discussions were held at our Hobart 
and Launceston offices, as well as 
regular appointment days in Burnie 
and Devonport, and at workplaces by 
arrangement. A total of 4,848 personal 
interviews were held during the year.

 • Outbound call programs to members 
to support specific communication 
exercises were conducted.

During the year a new mobile 
friendly version of the RBF website 
was launched. The mobile 
optimised site allows members 
to see their account balance, 
transaction history, personal details, 
investments and contributions or 
update their PIN.

 • Interviews with members either at our 
offices or off-site at venues to suit the 
member. Superannuation Consultants 
worked with the Business Relationship 
Officers who complete worksite visits 
and seminars and then organise 
member visits.

 • Emergency discussions were 
available for members requiring urgent 
assistance at short notice.

We met with over 20,000 members at 
seminars, workplace visits, one-on-one 
interviews, financial planning services, 
and front office enquiries. 

We installed a number of member  
self-service pods in the reception areas  
of our new Hobart and Launceston offices. 
These are a great success with members 
appreciating the independent and 
immediate access to information.

We met with over 20,000 members 
face-to-face during the year.

Since the relocation of our Hobart 
office to Kirksway Place, 1,253 
members have had their walk-
in enquiry satisfied by using our 
internet access pods located in the 
office reception area. 
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RBF Financial Planning Pty Ltd
RBF Financial Planning is a wholly owned 
subsidiary of RBF and holds an Australian 
Financial Services License. Our financial 
planning team supports RBF through 
the provision of personal advice services 
to RBF members and their spouses. 
Our financial planners are the best 
placed to advise members on their RBF 
superannuation as they have an in depth 
understanding of the RBF schemes, in 
particular the complex defined benefits 
schemes, and have access to technical 
and member information. RBF Financial 
Planning wrote over 100 financial plans, 
and had over 100 ongoing service clients 
in 2012-13.

RBF Financial Planning offers:

 • initial appointments with members, 
without obligation, to discuss  
their needs;

 • a full spectrum of advice, from limited 
advice (limited to one area) through to 
comprehensive advice which considers 
all aspects of the member’s financial 
and personal situation; and

 • the option for clients to receive one-off 
advice, or to take up an ongoing service 
agreement whereby their Financial 
Planner conducts regular reviews with 
them to ensure they stay on track and 
that any changes in their situation or 
goals is taken into consideration.

Member research
RBF seeks feedback from members, 
employer agencies and unions on our 
products and services.

Feedback from employers  
and unions
The Net Promoter Score is a widely 
used research metric to measure and 
identify levels of customer advocacy. For 
a number of years, RBF used the Net 
Promoter Score methodology to survey 
Human Resources staff in employer 
agencies and officials of unions and 
associations.

However, in November 2012 the RBF 
Board approved a change in approach 
from measuring employer and union 
advocacy to measuring employer and 
union satisfaction with the services 
provided by RBF. Human Resources 
staff are legally precluded from providing 
financial advice, including advocating 

a particular superannuation fund, and 
officials of public sector unions and 
associations may have multi-faceted 
responsibilities which have the potential  
to prevent advocacy for a particular fund.

The first satisfaction survey of employer 
agencies, unions and associations was 
undertaken in April 2013. The survey 
will run again in October 2013, after 
which a target satisfaction rating will be 
determined by the RBF Board.

RBF believes that a Net Promoter Score 
methodology is appropriate for measuring 
and reporting member views about 
RBF. This also allows us to benchmark 
Net Promoter Score through the annual 
Customer Service Benchmark Australia, 
Fund Executive Association Ltd.

Feedback from members
During 2012-13, our member surveys 
showed a consistent trend of improved 
member advocacy for RBF and a 
declining level of complaints (only  
three complaints were received in  
June 2013, out of approximately  
77,500 RBF members).

RBF has used this measure to identify 
levels of member advocacy since 2008. 
The results show strong improvement 
in member advocacy. However, we 
remain determined to further improve 
our services and will continue to seek 
feedback from members during 2013-14.

The following graph shows the results of 
our member advocacy research based on 
an on-line survey of members who have 
had contact with the RBF Enquiry Line.
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Customer Service Benchmarking Australia/Fund Executives 
Association Ltd Net Promoter Score (RBF result)

The annual Customer Service Benchmark 
Australia (CBSA) Fund Executives 
Association Ltd (FEAL) Net Promoter 
Score Benchmark is based on different 
criteria to the RBF internally conducted 
net promoter score survey. The CBSA 
survey is phone based and covers broad 
superannuation industry issues as well 
as fund specific questions. Participation 
in this survey gives RBF a different 
perspective to the internally conducted 
survey based purely around our direct 
member experience.

RBF’s result held relatively steady in 
2012 while the industry showed a marked 
decline. However, the result showed 
there was scope to improve our member 
perceptions. As a result, we have put 
considerable effort into developing a 
program that focuses on improving the 
quality and consistency of our member 
interactions and in measuring our 
performance. A new tag line ‘high quality 
interactions’ has been adopted from the 
beginning of 2013-14 to further reinforce 
that quality interactions is our core 
business.

Research program
RBF conducts a member research 
program to inform our understanding 
of member’s perceptions, attitudes and 
awareness towards the delivery of RBF 
products, services and experiences. 
During 2012, RBF instigated monthly exit 
surveys to members who rolled money 
away from RBF. This research provides 
insight into the causes and triggers for 
members to exit funds from RBF. The 
research pinpoints where improvements 
can be made to retain members and/or 
what actions RBF can implement  
to influence members to consider 
returning to RBF. 

RBF Tasmanian Accumulation 
Scheme member insurance
A new improved insurance product
In December 2012, RBF upgraded the 
insurance cover available to members 
of the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation 
Scheme to a more contemporary product 
with significantly better cover and flexibility 
for members. The product is underwritten 
by CommInsure and provides automatic 
age based default cover for members with 
the ability for members to vary or fix their 
cover to suit their needs. The maximum 
age to which cover is provided has been 
extended to age 70 for death and total 
and permanent disablement benefits, 
65 for income protection cover and the 
minimum benefits have been increased.

RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme 
members automatically have access to 
Income Protection, Death and Total and 
Permanent Disablement insurance cover 
when joining, without having to provide 
health evidence.

Our insurance is flexible and members 
can select the type and level of cover that 
suits their needs including the waiting 
period, opt in/opt up, increase or fix 
cover, as well as discounts of premiums 
depending on the type of work they do. 

Improvements to ill health  
benefit administration –  
less waiting/less stress
Changes to the RBF Tasmanian 
Accumulation Scheme rules were 
approved by the Minister during the 
year to allow our ill health benefit claim 
processes to be streamlined. These 
changes now provide more flexibility by 
removing the mandatory requirement for  
a second RBF appointed doctor report in 
all claims. The level of medical evidence 
now required is more flexible and can help 
to reduce claim processing times, in some 
cases, by up to six weeks. Members with 
a Total and Permanent Disablement claim 
no longer need to remain employed to 
have their claim considered. 

We also made improvements to our 
administration to minimise stress for 
members when they need to make 
a benefit claim in relation to ill health 
and now provide more support. RBF 
Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme 
members who apply for an ill health 
insurance benefit are assigned a case-
manager who they can contact directly, 
and who keeps the member up to date 
with the progress of their application,  
and advises them on the next steps.

We also stepped up member education 
with extra workplace forums, educational 
material and newsletter articles about  
ill health benefits from RBF. 

Customer Service Benchmark Australia, Fund Executive Association Ltd.
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RBF claims experience by scheme

RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme

Claims paid 2011–12 2012–13

 Number Amount Number Amount

Income Protection  82 $2,486,267 79 $2,336,985

Death 10 $849,202 6 $718,124 

Total and Permanent Disablement  18  $947,487 18 $740,063

* The figures in this table are not intended to correlate with the figures contained within Note 8(b) on page 112 within the Financial Statements. The figures in the Financial 
Statements relate to benefits paid during the period when RBF self-insured death and disability benefits, prior to the introduction of underwriting by CommInsure in 
November 2012.

Contributory Scheme

Claims Paid 2011–12 2012–13

Number Amount Number Amount

Income Protection 70 $1,838,192 69 $2,146,913 

Death  8 $614,549 2 $282,863 

Total and Permanent Disablement  22  $2,149,243 18 $1,698,399 

During 2012-13, RBF sought to formalise 
its engagement with these stakeholder 
groups by implementing forums for 
employer agencies and forums for unions 
and associations.

The employer agency forums allow RBF 
to inform payroll and Human Resources 
staff from agencies about changes to 
RBF legislation or procedures that may 
affect members or employer processes 
and provide an opportunity for employer 
agency staff to provide feedback or ask 
questions about RBF matters.

The union forums allow discussions 
between RBF and union staff on 
forthcoming changes that may impact 
RBF members. 

A new escalation process was established 
during 2012-13 for both employer 
agencies and unions which provides 
a more streamlined way for queries 
or issues to be raised with RBF and 
managed to resolution.

Our program of engagement with 
stakeholders acknowledges that the 
employees of state government agencies 
and unions and associations representing 
public sector employees are existing and 
potential members of RBF.

No claims were paid under the State 
Fire Commission Superannuation 
Scheme, Tasmanian Ambulance 
Service Superannuation Scheme, 
Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund or 
the Parliamentary Superannuation Fund 
during the past year.

RBF’s claims philosophy is to do 
everything that is reasonable to pursue 
an insurance claim for the benefit of a 
beneficiary, if the claim has a reasonable 
prospect of success. Any claims declined 
by external insurers are subject to review 
by RBF and processes are established 
allowing members to request a review or 
appeal a decision.

Our Member Insurance Committee is 
responsible for:

 • monitoring underwriting and claims 
exceptions and complaints; 

 • death and disablement claim reviews 
and appeals; 

 • representing the Board on the Claims 
and Underwriting Review Committee.

Supporting our stakeholders
Key stakeholder groups for RBF are 
the employer agencies and the unions 
and associations representing public 
sector employees. Unions Tasmania 
is the legislated nominator of one RBF 
Board member, is consulted in the 
appointment of the RBF President and 
also is consulted in relation to proposed 
changes to the legislation, Trust Deeds 
and Governing Rules.

There are 53 employer agencies, state 
owned companies and government 
business enterprises for which RBF is 
the default provider of superannuation 
services.

In addition to Unions Tasmania as 
the peak body, RBF maintains close 
relations with the following unions and 
associations:

 • Australian Education Union

 • Australian Nursing Federation

 • Community and Public Sector Union

 • Health and Community Services Union

 • United Firefighters Union (UFU)

 • Rail Tram and Bus Union (RTBU)

 • Communications Electrical Plumbing 
Union (CEPU). 
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Business Relationship Officers
The RBF Business Relationship Officers 
are key contacts for our employer and 
union stakeholders. 

During 2012-13, the Business Relationship 
Officers had stakeholder responsibilities 
as detailed in the table above.

Sponsorship 
RBF has specific criteria for evaluating 
sponsorship opportunities. A business 
case is required which ensures that 
sponsorship dollars are spent where there 
is greatest membership benefit. 

In 2012–13 RBF supported State 
Government agencies, associated 
unions and stakeholder groups through 
sponsorships to the value of $82,670. 

$10,000 Tasmania Police

$12,000
Tasmanian Principal’s 
Association

$8,000
Tasmanian Schools 
Administrators Association

$15,000
Department of Education 
(Awards program)

$2,200 Mother’s Day Classic

$350
Tasmanian Association of 
Independent Retirees

$12,115 Australian Nursing Federation

$11,000 Australian Education Union

$5,500 United Voice Tasmanian Branch

$5,280
Health and Community Services 
Union

$875
Department of Health and 
Human Services (sponsoring  
of brochures in cafeteria)

A mutual decision was made by RBF and 
the Community and Public Sector Union 
(CPSU) that sponsorship would not be 
provided to the CPSU during 2012-13 

All approved sponsorships are reported to 
the Administration and Review Committee.

RBF 2012 Department of 
Education Awards Program – 
Supporting excellence 
In 2012-13, RBF partnered with the 
Department of Education to recognise 
excellence within the public education 
system, which includes family and child 
care centres, schools from kindergarten 
to year 12, the Polytechnic and the LINC. 
The inaugural RBF 2012 Department of 
Education Awards Program canvassed 
17 award categories with finalists 
recognised and winners announced at 
a recognition ceremony in Launceston 
on 9 November 2012 attended by the 
Minister for Education, the Secretary of 
the Department of Education and the RBF 
Chief Executive Officer. The program was 
highly successful and will continue  
in 2013.

Schemes, accounts  
and products
RBF members benefit from a choice of 
ways to increase and invest their super. 
RBF provides a range of retirement 
products including an RBF Life Pension 

Louise Pybus, Phil Claxton and Stephen Hevey,  
RBF Business Relationship Officers

Business  
Relationship Officer

Agency/Business Union

Louise Pybus Department of Health and  
Human Services (DHHS)

Australian Nursing Federation (ANF)

Health and Community Services Union 
(HACSU)

Phil Claxton Department of Education 
Polytechnic Skills Institute 
Tasmanian Academy

Australian Education Union (AEU)

United Voice

Stephen Hevey All other agencies Community and Public Sector Union 
(CPSU), and all other unions

(subject to eligibility) and an RBF Account 
Based Pension. This provides members 
with great flexibility to secure a retirement 
life-style suitable for their circumstances.

There are six schemes administered  
by RBF.

One accumulation scheme:

RBF Tasmanian  
Accumulation Scheme
Open to people employed in the Tasmanian 
state sector from 15 May 1999 and other 
employees not in the Contributory Scheme. 

RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme 
has three types of accounts:

 • RBF Investment Account: for 
employer Superannuation Guarantee 
contributions and all types of member 
contributions including personal 
contributions, salary sacrifice, rollovers, 
additional employer contributions and 
Government Super Co-contributions; 

 • RBF Account Based Pension: a 
post retirement product that provides 
an income stream from the account 
balance; and

 • RBF Term Allocated Pension: A 
post retirement product that provides 
an income stream from the account 
balance for a defined term. New 
accounts ceased being created  
after 20 September 2007.
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RBF also has five defined benefit 
schemes. Defined benefit means that  
the benefit is determined by a formula:

Contributory Scheme
For permanent employees and certain 
temporary or contract employees who 
started employment in the Tasmanian 
public sector before 15 May 1999.

The Contributory Scheme has a related 
compulsory preservation account 
(Contributory Scheme CPA) which records 
unfunded benefits. The Contributory 
Scheme Life Pension also is provided under 
the Contributory Scheme regulations. 

State Fire Commission 
Superannuation Scheme
For full time permanent uniformed 
employees who started employment  
in the Tasmania Fire Service before  
1 July 2005. The State Fire Commission 
Superannuation Scheme was incorporated 
into RBF as a sub-fund from 1 May 2006.

Tasmanian Ambulance Service 
Superannuation Scheme
For permanent employees who started 
employment with the Tasmanian 
Ambulance Service before 30 June 2006. 
The Tasmanian Ambulance Service 
Superannuation Scheme was incorporated 
into RBF as a sub-fund from 30 June 2006.

Parliamentary Superannuation Fund
For Members of Parliament first elected  
to Parliament before 12 November 1985. 
The Parliamentary Superannuation Fund 
was incorporated into RBF as a sub-fund 
from 1 January 2003.

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund
For Members of Parliament first elected to 
Parliament on or after 12 November 1985 
and before 1 July 1999. The Parliamentary 
Retiring Benefits Fund was incorporated into 
RBF as a sub-fund from 1 January 2003.

RBF membership statistics

Schemes and accounts Number of 
accounts

30 June 2012

New  
accounts

Closed 
accounts

Number of 
accounts

30 June 2013

Active 
accounts2

RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme 63,506 2,398 5,213 60,6911 28,329

Contributory Scheme 7,888 23 323 7,567 7,567

Contributory Scheme CPA 14,562 50 758 13,854 N/A

State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme 107 1 5 103 103

Tasmanian Ambulance Service  
Superannuation Scheme

150 0 2 148 148

Parliamentary Superannuation Fund 1 0 0 1 1

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund 6 0 1 5 5

Life pensions (RBF Life Pension and  
Contributory Scheme Life Pension)

8,061 450 46 8,465 N/A

RBF Account Based Pension 1,504 329 165 1,668 N/A

RBF Term Allocated Pension 30 0 2 28 N/A

1 The number of RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme accounts declined during 2012-13 in large part due to the consolidation of multiple accounts. There is now one account 
per member.

2 Active accounts are defined as those accounts which have received a contribution within the past year.
3 The two new entrants to the Contributory Scheme exercised an election to join on the basis that they were married female employees of an Agency before 1 July 1982 and had 

been continuously employed since that date. Before 1 July 1982 married females were not required to contribute to the Contributory Scheme. 

Further details about each of the schemes 
are available from the RBF website at 
www.rbf.com.au

https://secure.superfacts.com/public/rbf/landing.tpz?TP=PL_Which_scheme&QL=QL_Which_scheme


36   •   RBF Annual Report 2012-13

Administration services – Mercer 
Outsourcing (Australia) Pty Ltd
Mercer Outsourcing (Australia) Pty Ltd is 
RBF’s strategic partner in the provision of 
outsourced superannuation administration 
services. Mercer was appointed in mid-
2011 for a five year term with extension 
options. Mercer provides administration 
services to RBF members and employer 
agencies including benefit, contribution 
and pension administration as well as 
member and employer communication 
through the RBF Enquiry Line, the  
RBF website and our publications. 

Asset consultant – JANA 
Investment Advisers Pty Ltd
JANA Investment Advisers Pty Ltd assists 
RBF to formulate investment policy 
and advises on the optimal portfolio 
construction in accordance with the RBF 
Board’s return and risk objectives. JANA 
provides oversight to the performance 
of RBF’s investment managers through 
quarterly reporting and attendance at 
Board meetings. RBF works with JANA 
to bring recommendations to the RBF 
Board on asset allocation, asset class 
structure, the selection of investment 
managers, significant direct investments, 
liquidity stress testing and other matters 
as required. The outcomes are reflected in 
RBF’s Consolidated Investment Strategy. 

Taxation services – Ernst &  
Young Australia
Ernst & Young Australia is the registered 
tax agent for RBF and provides advice 
and expertise in a variety of tax related 
areas. Ernst & Young Australia is a key 
point of contact for RBF in maintaining 
industry and market taxation knowledge 
and provides expertise in liaising with  
the Australian Taxation Office. 

Taxation consultant – CA King  
and Associates
CA King and Associates provides RBF 
with specialised tax consulting services. 
Cath King, the principal of CA King and 
Associates is a Chartered Accountant 
with over 37 years’ experience of which 
24 years has been spent specialising in 
the Australian superannuation tax industry. 
Cath King has assisted RBF and its 
investment predecessor the Retirement 
Benefits Fund Investment Trust for over 
24 years and works closely with RBF 
staff. This relationship has been effective 
in building a robust tax governance and 
operational framework.

Actuary – Mercer (Australia) Pty Ltd
The RBF actuary is Dr David Knox, a 
Worldwide Partner with Mercer (Australia) 
Pty Ltd. Dr Knox’s appointment was made 
under Regulation 20 of the Retirement 
Benefits Regulations 2005 in December 
2008. Dr Knox’s initial three year term was 
extended under a two year option until 
December 2013. RBF liaises regularly  
with the actuary and receives actuarial 
advice and services in connection  
with superannuation administration  
and management. 

Custodian – JP Morgan Chase 
Bank, N.A. (Sydney Branch)
JP Morgan has provided services to RBF 
since 1995. JP Morgan provides custodial 
services for the Fund’s assets, including 
account management; transaction, 
accounting and valuation services; 
compliance reporting; performance 
measurement; unit registry; unit pricing 
and other related services. JP Morgan is 
the legal owner and provides safekeeping 
of most of the Fund’s assets.

Internal audit – KPMG

RBF has fully outsourced its internal audit 
function to KPMG since 2011-12. Internal 
audit is a material business activity for the 
purposes of APRA’s Prudential Standards. 
KPMG are engaged to review and assess 
the operational activities of RBF for 
appropriateness and effectiveness.  
KPMG attends all meetings of the Risk 
and Audit Committee and works closely 
with RBF’s Risk and Compliance Unit in 
the provision of its services.

External audit – Tasmanian 
Auditor-General
Section 18 of the Audit Act 2008, requires 
the Auditor-General to audit the financial 
statements for all Tasmanian state entities. 
Consistent with its obligations to the 
Tasmanian Parliament, the Tasmanian 
Audit Office provides high quality, value 
for money financial auditing services 
to RBF. In consultation with RBF, the 
Tasmanian Audit Office prepares a 
Client Strategy for each year’s audit 
and ensures audit timeframes are met, 
recommendations are implemented and 
an unqualified Audit Report is achieved. 
The Auditor-General meets with the RBF 
Board prior to the RBF Board approving 
the annual financial statements.

Member insurance RBF  
Tasmanian Accumulation  
Scheme – CommInsure
CommInsure is the external underwriter 
of the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation 
Scheme Life and Income Protection 
policies. CommInsure is a part of the 
Commonwealth Bank Group.

Our relationships with partners
RBF fosters relationships with external service providers  
to support our delivery of services to members.11
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IT managed services – CGI
CGI is RBF’s outsourced IT managed 
services provider. CGI was appointed 
in 2011 for an initial three year term with 
extension options.

Member insurance State Fire 
Commission Superannuation 
Scheme – TAL Life Limited
TAL is the external underwriter of the 
Tasmanian Fire Service Scheme life and 
income protection policies. 

Member insurance Tasmanian 
Ambulance Service Superannuation 
Scheme – AXA Group
AXA is the external underwriter of the 
Tasmanian Ambulance Service Scheme 
life and income protection policies. 

Insurance broking services – 
Marsh Pty Ltd
Marsh Pty Ltd provides insurance broking 
services to RBF for a range of insurance 
needs including property, liability, 
machinery, contracts, travel and personal 
accident cover.

Banking Services – Westpac 
Banking Corporation
Westpac Banking Corporation provides 
transactional and institutional banking 
services to RBF. Westpac’s relationship 
with RBF has been in place since 1998. 

Archiving of RBF documents and 
files – Iron Mountain Pty Ltd
Iron Mountain provides secure and 
compliant storage and retrieval facilities 
and services for RBF’s corporate hard 
copy records. 

Legal Advisers
 • Tasmanian Solicitor-General: 

Interpretation of RBF’s governing rules

 • Holding Redlich Lawyers: Advice 
in relation to Commonwealth 
superannuation legislation and 
investments related matters

 • Page Seager Lawyers:  
Employment advice 

 • Dobson, Mitchell & Allport Lawyers: 
Direct investments advice, Supreme 
Court matters and employment advice

 • Corrs, Chambers, Westgarth 
Lawyers: Advice on transitional and 
superannuation administration services 
agreement matters

 • Andrew Abbott SC: Advice on  
and representation in Supreme  
Court matters

External Investment Managers
A list of investment managers used  
by RBF is on page 76.

Corporate Insurers

Policy class Insurer

Industrial Special Risks Chubb Insurance Company of Australia Limited – 100%

Public and Products Liability CGU Insurance Limited

Umbrella Liability QBE Insurance (Australia) Pty Ltd

Machinery Breakdown Vero Insurance Limited

Construction Insurance Vero Insurance Limited

Corporate Travel Insurance Accident and Health International

Personal Accident Chubb Insurance Company of Australia Limited 

Financial Institutions Policy
 • Directors and Officers
 • Crime
 • Professional Indemnity

Zurich Insurance 

RBF has three related entities

RBF Financial Planning Pty Ltd
RBF Financial Planning Pty Ltd provides 
financial planning advice to RBF members 
and their spouses. RBF Financial Planning 
is a wholly owned subsidiary of RBF and 
operates as a separate legal entity. 

Financial Planners are licensed Authorised 
Representatives of RBF Financial Planning 
Pty Ltd. RBF Financial Planning charges 
members on the basis of a fee for service. 
Financial Planners are paid a salary and 
do not receive bonuses or commissions. 

RBF Property Pty Ltd and  
RBF Direct Pty Ltd
In 2010, RBF established a holding trust 
structure for some directly held assets. 
On the basis of professional advice on the 
best structure for a superannuation fund, 
two trusts were established to enable  
RBF to hold ownership of both directly 
held and shared ownership assets.  
RBF Property Pty Ltd is the trustee of  
the RBF Property Trust. The RBF Property 
Trust holds all of the issued units of the 
RBF Direct Trust, and is fully owned  
by RBF.

RBF Direct Pty Ltd (formerly known 
as 66-80 Collins Street Pty Ltd) is the 
trustee of the RBF Direct Trust which is 
the ownership vehicle for the buildings at 
66-80 Collins Street and 144 Macquarie 
Street Hobart. This structure enables RBF 
to borrow against the assets, increasing 
long term returns through leverage.
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Administration fees
RBF’s administration fees remained unchanged during the 2012-13. 

The administration fees and thresholds for RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme accounts are shown in the table below:

Account Scale of fees for 2012-13 (unchanged from 2011-12)

Part of account balance  
less than $150,000 (% pa)

Part of account balance  
more than $150,000 (%pa)

RBF Investment Account 0.45 0.20

RBF Account Based Pension 0.45 0.20

RBF Term Allocated Pension 0.45 0.20

Administration costs for the defined benefit schemes are deducted directly from the funds under management in each scheme and are 
not paid from member accounts. The costs are represented as a percentage of funds under management in each scheme.

Activity Based Costing methodology
An Activity Based Costing methodology is used to attribute the RBF operating costs to each scheme.

Following a full review in 2009, the RBF operating costs were attributed between the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme and the 
defined benefits schemes in the ratio 38% to 62%. This ratio was applied until 2011-12. 

Another full review was undertaken in September 2012, following which the RBF operating costs for 2012-13 were attributed between the 
RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme and the defined benefits schemes in the ratio 44.5% to 55.5%. This ratio applied in 2012-13.

The approved budgeted administration costs for the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme are unchanged for 2013-14.

The table below shows the administration costs for the defined benefits schemes for the 2012-13 financial year and predicted 
administration costs for 2013–14 based on budget forecasts:

Defined benefit scheme Administration costs  
2012-13 (% pa)

Predicted administration costs  
2013-14 (% pa)

Contributory Scheme 1.41 1.08

Parliamentary Superannuation Fund 0.25 0.39

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund 0.31 0.39

State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme 0.32 0.38

Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme 0.99 1.01

Fees and charges 12
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Investment management fees
Reductions in investment management fees from 1 December 2012
RBF made changes to its asset classes in 2012 which resulted in reductions in fees for the following Member Investment Choice 
options from 1 December 2012. The investment management fees included a component to recover performance fees which were paid 
in previous financial year.

Member Investment Choice option Investment management fee  
(before 1 December 2012)

Investment management fee  
(1 December 2012 to 30 June 2013)

RBF Actively Managed (default) 0.66% 0.61%

RBF Long Term Growth 0.67% 0.61%

RBF Moderate Growth 0.54% 0.51%

RBF Conservative Growth 0.43% 0.41%

RBF Australian Shares 0.53% 0.38%

RBF Socially Responsible Investments 0.80% 0.80%

RBF International Shares 0.83% 0.83%

RBF Property 0.71% 0.71%

RBF Fixed Interest 0.38% 0.38%

RBF Cash 0.03% 0.03%

Changes to investment management fees from 1 July 2013
From 1 July 2013, the following further changes will apply:

 • additional reductions have been made to the base investment fee applicable to the majority of options; and 

 • RBF will commence recovering performances fees through unit prices if and when the fees are incurred as this is more equitable  
to members. 

The right-hand column in the table below shows the new base investment management fees excluding any performance fees from  
1 July 2013.

Member Investment Choice option Investment management 
fees (31 December 2012  

to 30 June 2013)

Investment management 
fee (from 1 July 2013)

Base investment  
management fee* 

Performance fee* 

RBF Actively Managed (default) 0.57% 0.04% 0.55%

RBF Long Term Growth 0.59% 0.02% 0.56%

RBF Moderate Growth 0.48% 0.03% 0.45%

RBF Conservative Growth 0.40% 0.01% 0.32%

RBF Socially Responsible Investments 0.80% 0% 0.81%

RBF Australian Shares 0.38% 0% 0.36%

RBF International Shares 0.83% 0% 0.69%

RBF Property 0.71% 0% 0.68%

RBF Fixed Interest 0.38% – 0.41%

RBF Cash 0.03% – 0.04%

RBF has maintained an active approach, achieving fee reductions by reducing overlap between investment managers. The combination 
of the new structure and reduced fees will see stronger net returns to members.

*For 2012-13 these fees have been disclosed as the investment management fee and comprise both the base investment management fee and the performance fee.
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General Manager Governance  
and Secretariat Message
Much was achieved by the Governance and  
Secretariat Division in 2012-13. 

13
The Division adds value for money to the 
membership by guiding the organisation’ 
governance and supporting the RBF 
Board in setting direction, aligning effort 
and making informed decisions.

The Division continues to strive for 
simplicity and transparency in the way 
RBF operates, not a small task in light of 
the continuing changes in superannuation 
and much higher prudential standards 
introduced by the Stronger Super 
changes.

Highlights for 2012-13 for the Governance 
and Secretariat Division included:

•• working with the Project Management 
Office to move the Board, Board 
Committees and RBF Leadership 
Group to the provision of meeting 
papers through the BoardPad 
application on iPads. This is saving 
in excess of 10,000 pages of 
photocopying each month. In addition, 
the production of submissions has 
moved to a fully electronic process of 
review and sign-off; 

•• a new Governance Framework and 
Governance Documents Framework 
were approved by the Board, which set 
out a simple transparent structure to 
define the way RBF will operate from  
a governance perspective;

•• performance reporting across the 
business was further enhanced with an 
iPad friendly format and the use of a 
traffic light system to inform readers of 
progress towards targets;

•• the Division manages RBF’s complaints 
process and it has been pleasing to 
see further improvement across the 
business such that complaints are 
at a new low with the June quarter 
averaging only six complaints per 
month, from in excess of 70,000 
transactions and personal interactions 
that occur each month;

•• coordinating work with rating 
agencies to identify areas of potential 
improvement in member service and 
products through the year. The results 
of that work saw the RBF Tasmanian 
Accumulation Scheme and the RBF 
Account Based Pension both awarded 
the top 5 Apples rating by Chant West in 
July 2013 and positions RBF’s products 
and services for the Platinum category 
(top quartile) rating for value for money 
by SuperRatings in 2013-14; and

•• the Legal Services team managed 
RBF legal and legislative risk during 
the year ensuring RBF had no material 
complaints, contingent liabilities or 
breaches.
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To leverage off these achievements for RBF and to further ensure Governance and Secretariat is adding value for the membership,  
the following will be areas of focus during 2013-14:

•• Optimising business efficiency through 
the new Governance Framework  
(as depicted above);

•• Reviewing the RBF Regulations and 
Trust Deeds to identify administrative 
changes for Government consideration 
that could simplify and enhance 
members’ experience; 

•• Using the new Business Intelligence 
capability to enhance performance 
reporting;

•• Working with and supporting other 
Divisions to achieve strategic objectives 
through an enhanced strategic planning 
and reporting process; 

•• Working with the RBF Board and 
individual Board members to stay 
ahead of all legislative and policy 
requirements including the increased 
fitness requirements. Implementation  
of an investment management 
education program is one way in  
which we will achieve this; and

The implementation of iPads for  
the delivery of Board meeting  
papers and information is saving 
in excess of 10,000 pages of 
photocopying a month. 

GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

•• Achieving and maintaining top  
Fund and product ratings with 
SuperRatings and Chant West.

Mark Leis 
General Manager Governance  
and Secretariat 

BOARD 
GOVERNANCE 
CONTROLS

Board Charter Code of  
Conduct

Governance 
Document  
Framework

RBF Strategies Budget Delegations Policies  
(Limitation)

CEO 
GOVERNANCE 
CONTROLS

Division Plans Accurate Role Description Policies (Limitation) Process/Procedures (How)

MONITORING 
AND MEETINGS

REPORTING

Strategic 
Performance 
Report

Division  
Plans

Financial 
Reports

Performance 
Reviews

Investment 
Metrics

Delegations Compliance Risk 
Management

Policies and 
Related 
Documents

ASSURANCE

Internal Audit Control Self-Assessment Attestations External Assurance

KEY OBLIGATION/ 
CONSIDERATION

Better Practice Trust  
Deeds

Retirement 
Benefits Act 
1993 (Tas.)

Other 
Tasmanian 
Legislation

Ministerial 
Guidance

Common Law Superannuation 
Industry 
(Supervision) 
Act 1993 (Cth)

Prudential 
Standards

Other 
Commonwealth 
Legislation

TASMANIAN DEPARTMENT OF TREASURY AND FINANCE COURTS ASIC/APRA/ATO/AUSTRAC

RBF has been rated by Chant West 
as a top tier Fund.

5 Apples on both the RBF Tasmanian 
Accumulation Scheme and the RBF 
Account Based Pension product.
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Heather and Greg Harper live on the sunny eastern shore  
of Hobart. From their recently renovated living area, Heather  
and Greg look out onto the River Derwent and across to  
Mount Wellington; a scene that they both really enjoy. 

Mrs Harper is only recently retired, having been a teacher 
with the Department of Education for her entire  
working career. 

“Just before going overseas, I received a letter from RBF 
inviting me to attend a free consultation about my 
superannuation,” Mrs Harper said. 

“The Superannuation Consultant was helpful and gave us 
really useful information and, because of the value of that 
information, we decided to pay for a detailed financial plan to 
be prepared through RBF Financial Planning,” Mrs Harper said. 

This information was instrumental in improving Heather’s 
superannuation balance and minimising Greg’s tax; a  
win-win for both parties. 

Heather Harper, RBF member
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Statutory Responsibilities
The RBF Board manages RBF in 
accordance with:

 • The Retirement Benefits Act 1993

 • The Retirement Benefits Regulations 2005

 • The Retirement Benefits (Parliamentary 
Superannuation) Regulations 2002

 • The Public Sector Superannuation 
Reform Act 1999

 • The RBF Tasmanian Accumulation 
Scheme Trust Deed; and 

 • Other applicable laws of the State  
or the Commonwealth.

Details are available from the RBF website 
at www.rbf.com.au

The Tasmanian Government is a signatory 
to a Heads of Government Agreement 
between the Commonwealth and all State 
Governments. The Agreement provides 
that exempt public sector superannuation 
funds agree to comply with the 
principles of the Superannuation Industry 
(Supervision) Act 1993 (SIS) in exchange 
for being regarded as complying funds for 
Commonwealth taxation purposes. The 
RBF Board is committed to complying 
with the principles of the Commonwealth 
Retirement Incomes Policy as reflected 
in the Heads of Government Agreement 
and Commonwealth superannuation and 
taxation legislation. The requirement for 
the RBF Board to comply with the Heads 
of Government Agreement is incorporated 
into the governing rules of RBF. 

RBF is seeking to operate as though 
it is an RSE licenced entity except to 
the extent that competing regulatory 
requirements prevent compliance. RBF 

has established the Regulatory Reform 
Project to coordinate and report on 
RBF’s compliance with the Australian 
Government’s Stronger Super Reforms.

How the RBF Board governs
Following significant changes in the 
external environment applying to RBF, 
the RBF Board considered its role 
in governance and in January 2013 
approved a new Governance Framework. 

The Governance Framework sets out the 
responsibilities of the RBF Board, the 
CEO and RBF Leadership Group and the 
RBF Board Committees in maintaining 
sound governance. Clarifying roles and 
responsibilities enables the RBF Board 
to focus on its role in guiding RBF in 
the best financial interests of members. 
The responsibilities adopted by the RBF 
Board in January 2013 are:

 • the RBF Board, CEO, Management  
and Staff will:

 • meet all regulatory requirements; and 

 • operate with integrity in the best 
interest of the RBF membership; 

 • the RBF Board will develop, with input 
from the CEO and Management, the 
strategies of RBF;

 • the RBF Board will approve the annual 
corporate plan and the budget;

 • the RBF Board will ensure appropriate 
codification of the standards expected 
of itself and RBF;

 • the RBF Board will own policies:

 • as required by the regulatory 
framework;

 • governing its own conduct; and 

 • that provide appropriate limitations 
on the CEO’s activity;

 • the RBF Board through the President  
is responsible for management of  
the Board;

 • the RBF Board will delegate functions to 
the CEO and Management in a manner 
to enable the efficient operation of RBF;

 • the RBF Board, CEO, Management 
and Staff will have their performance 
measured and monitored in a 
consistent and cascading manner; 

 • the CEO will be responsible for 
implementing the strategies; and

 • the CEO will manage the conduct  
of all staff.

The RBF Board has also approved in 
March 2013 a structured approach to 
the documents that it uses to direct 
the business. The four principles of 
accountability are contained within this 
Governance Document Framework:

 • the roles, responsibilities and 
performance expectations of the  
CEO are clearly described;

 • performance expectations are balanced 
with the capacity (skills and resources) 
of the CEO to deliver;

Governance and the RBF Board14

https://secure.superfacts.com/public/rbf/content.tpz?TP=PL_Legislation&QL=QL_Legislation
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The new Governance Framework will be 
progressively reflected in changes to the manner  
in which direction is provided by the RBF Board 
during 2013-14.

 • credible and timely information is 
to be reported to the RBF Board to 
demonstrate policy compliance and 
good management performance. 
This information is also essential to 
continuous improvement; and

 • having processes in place to oversee 
compliance and management 
performance and to administer 
consequences, good or bad,  
related to compliance and the 
performance achieved.

As the next step in the Governance 
Framework, as depicted on page 41, the 
RBF Board approved a new Governance 
Policy in March 2013. The Governance 
Policy, which reflects the provisions of  
the Retirement Benefits Regulations 2005, 
and the governance principles outlined 
above, sets out the limitations that the 
Board is applying to the business. The 
RBF Board monitors compliance of the 
CEO with all policies and monitors the 
conduct of the business. 

In short these principles guide the 
business and set out the ‘why, what and 
how’ RBF runs its operations.

Key statements

Investment Policy 
The RBF Board has an Investment Policy 
to ensure the expected returns and risk 
profile of RBF’s investments meet the 
needs and expectations of members. 

In formulating the investment strategies, 
RBF engages a specialist asset consultant, 
JANA Investment Advisers, to advise 
on the optimal asset allocations in 
accordance with RBF’s stated return 
and risk objectives. The asset allocation 
development process comprises portfolio 
modelling based on a combination of 
market analysis, valuation analysis and 
market experience.

Investment principles
When implementing and managing RBF’s 
investment strategy, the RBF Board 
applies the following core principles:

 • focus on investing for the long-term;

 • produce real capital growth over time;

 • provide a degree of downside 
protection;

 • provide competitive returns;

 • provide transparency of process;

 • be cost conscious; and

 • diversify to reduce risk.

Treatment of assets 
RBF invests across the various asset 
classes on a consolidated basis taking 
advantage of the economies of scale 
provided by investment managers. The 
separation of assets across the various 
schemes and sub-funds is managed 
through the reporting, monitoring and 
control systems used by RBF. 

The physical consolidation of assets for 
investment remains a significant area of 
administrative and cost efficiency. RBF 
uses an Activity Based Costing analysis 
to ensure that each sub-scheme bears its 
true share of the costs of administration 
and that there is no material cross 
subsidisation between schemes. 

Additionally, each scheme receives its 
own concessional taxation treatment. The 
RBF defined benefits schemes receive 
untaxed contributions and pre-July 1988 
funding credits. Each scheme receives 
its allocated investment taxation benefits 
including imputation credits. CA King 
and Associates as well as Ernst & Young 
review RBF’s tax returns each year to 
provide advice and oversight.
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Asset valuation
RBF’s assets are measured at net market 
value. The use of net market value in 
measuring the assets of the Fund is 
required in the financial statements as it 
provides users with information to make 
an assessment of RBF’s ability to meet its 
obligations to members. The Statement of 
Financial Position/Statement of Net Assets 
provide information on the net market 
values of the assets available to meet 
RBF’s liability to pay member benefits.

Investments are initially recognised at cost, 
being the fair value of the consideration 
given. After initial recognition, investments 
and derivatives are measured at et market 
value. Gains or losses on investments 
and derivatives are recognised in the 
Statement of Changes in the Net Assets/
Operating Statement.

Environment, social and 
governance (ESG) principles
RBF has a commitment to better practice 
governance and has policies and 
processes in place that commercially 
enable our workforce and manage 
our risks appropriately. RBF has a 
documented approach to managing 
environment, social and governance risk, 
commonly referred to as ESG risk. This 
approach reflects RBF’s legal obligation 
and fiduciary duty to invest RBF’s assets 
for the best interests of members. RBF 
interprets this as requiring it to obtain 
the best investment returns for members 
within the risk parameters that members 
find acceptable.

RBF’s Statement of ESG Risk 
Management Principles statement  
is publicly available on the RBF  
website at www.rbf.com.au

Proxy voting
RBF has a proxy voting policy. Details of 
how RBF investment managers voted on 
specific issues are publicly are available 
from the RBF website at www.rbf.com.au

RBF’s responsibilities as  
a place of business
Some of the environmental initiatives  
RBF as a business has in place include:

 • encouraging our members to receive 
communications electronically, to 
reduce paper consumption and  
printing costs;

 • a strong focus on reducing the 
amount of paper we use for internal 
administration with a fantastic result 
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achieved to date. Paper usage 
was reduced virtually immediately 
by approximately 70% with the 
implementation of mobile working 
technology in 2012; 

 • reduced power usage through use of 
low energy workstations; and 

 • an active recycling program, including 
all staff having individual recycling 
receptacles at their desk.

How many pages did we print each month?

RBF total electricity expenditure

https://secure.superfacts.com/public/rbf/content.tpz?TP=PL_Investment_managers&QL=QL_Investment_managers
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RBF Board members 

Damian Egan
President

BEc, LLB, MAICD

 • President of the RBF Board (non-voting)

 • Nominee of the Minister, with the 
agreement of Unions Tasmania

 • RBF Member

Current term
17 September 2012 – 16 September 2013

Board tenure
Board Member since 1995 and  
President since 1996

Additional responsibilities and 
related Directorships
Director of RBF Direct Pty Ltd, RBF 
Property Pty Ltd and the Tasmanian 
Gateway Corporation Group of companies 
which owns Hobart International Airport.

Experience and expertise
Damian Egan commenced his legal 
career in 1982, joining Murdoch Clarke in 
1985 where he was made partner in 1987. 

Damian has held part time positions 
at the University of Tasmania lecturing 
in Commercial Law, Law of Business 
Organisation, Tax, Management and 
Law and was a member of the Faculty of 
Department of Accounting. Damian has 
also tutored at the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors and served as 
Councillor and State Chairman of the 
Taxation Institute.

Damian has been a member of the 
CAMAC Legal Committee since 1997. 
CAMAC is an advisory committee to 
the Commonwealth Government on 
corporations and commercial matters. He 
is also a director of several charitable and 
community organisations including Hobart 
City Mission Inc. 

Damian is experienced in commercial, 
corporate and property law. His practice 
also includes the provision of financial and 
taxation advice.

RBF Board and Committee 
Meeting attendance
RBF Board – attended 10 of 11 meetings

RBF Board Special Committees – 
attended three (3) meetings as required.

The Governor of Tasmania appoints the members of the RBF Board.  
The RBF Board is the Trustee of the Fund.
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Don Challen AM
Deputy President

BEc (Hons), MEc, FAICD, FCA,  
FCPA, FIPAA

 • Deputy President of the Board

 • Nominee of the Minister

Current term
1 November 2012 – 31 October 2013

Board tenure
Deputy President and Board member 
since 1 November 2010

Additional responsibilities and 
related Directorships
Chair of the Administration and 
Remuneration Committee

Experience and expertise
Don Challen has extensive Board 
experience and is currently Chairman 
of Transend Networks, the Tasmanian 
Public Finance Corporation and the Motor 
Accidents Insurance Board. 

Don is a director of the Tasmanian 
Symphony Orchestra and previously 
served for extended periods as a director 
of Hydro Tasmania and Trust Bank, as 
a member of the Basslink Development 
Board and as chairman of the Tasmanian 
Gaming Commission.

Don was Secretary of the Tasmanian 
Department of Treasury and Finance for 
17 years until October 2010. Prior to that 
he had been Managing Director of the 
Tasmanian Development Authority,  
Deputy Under-Treasurer in Tasmania 
and Chief Economist with the Economic 
Planning Advisory Council in Canberra;  
all of which followed an early career as  
an academic economist.

Don is an economist, specialising in 
public finance.

RBF Board and Committee 
Meeting attendance
RBF Board – attended 10 of 11 meetings

RBF Board Special Committees – 
attended two (2) meetings as required

Administration and Remuneration 
Committee – attended all seven  
(7) meetings.
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Neroli Ellis
Board Member

BN, Grad Dip Bus Mngt, FAICD, FAIST

 • Elected by members of the  
defined benefits schemes

Current term
1 September 2010 – 31 August 2013 

Re-elected to the Board in June 2013  
for a further 3 year term ending  
31 August 2016

Board tenure
Board Member since 12 July 2004

Additional responsibilities  
and related Directorships
Member of the Risk and  
Audit Committee

Member of the Member  
Insurance Committee

Experience and expertise:
Neroli Ellis is the Branch Secretary of 
the Tasmanian Branch of the Australian 
Nursing Federation. She is a strong 
health advocate with experience in human 
resources, industrial relations, governance 
and member services.

Neroli is a Graduate and Fellow of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors 
and a Fellow of the Australian Institute of 
Superannuation Trustees. She has been 
awarded the divisional Telstra Business 
Woman of the Year and was a Tasmanian 
Finalist in the Australian of the Year. She 
is a member of numerous community 
committees and a voluntary Director of 
MyState Ltd Community Foundation. 

RBF Board and Committee 
Meeting attendance
RBF Board – attended 10 of 11 meetings

RBF Board Special Committees – 
attended three (3) meetings as required

Risk and Audit Committee – attended  
all four (4) meetings

Member Insurance Committee –  
attended all two (2) meetings. 
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John Harman
Board Member

B Com, AAIST

 • Elected by members of the RBF 
Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme

 • RBF member

Current term
1 September 2010 – 31 August 2013 

Board tenure
Board Member since 1 January 2009

Additional responsibilities and 
related Directorships
Member of the Administration and 
Remuneration Committee

Chair of RBF Financial Planning Pty Ltd,  
a wholly owned subsidiary of RBF

Experience and expertise
John Harman has over 39 years’ 
experience in the superannuation and 
finance industries. John qualified and 
worked as a Financial Planner for three 
years prior to moving to investment 
management within the superannuation 
sector, including a number of years  
with RBF.

John has held directorships with financial 
planning companies and is currently 
Chairman of RBF Financial Planning  
Pty Ltd.

John enjoys his activities as a member  
of Rotary and working as a volunteer  
with Ostomy Tasmania. 

RBF Board and Committee 
Meeting attendance
RBF Board – attended all 11 meetings

RBF Board Special Committees – 
attended one (1) meeting as required

Administration and Remuneration 
Committee – attended six (6) of  
seven (7) meetings.
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Lindsay Jones
Board Member

JP, GAICD, AAIST

 • Nominee of Unions Tasmania

 • RBF Member

Current term
1 September 2010 – 31 August 2013 

Board tenure
Board member since 13 December 2004

Additional responsibilities  
and related Directorships
Chair of the Member Insurance Committee

Member of the Risk and Audit Committee

Experience and expertise
Lindsay Jones worked for the Department 
of Education for 33 years, including  
11 years as District Executive Officer. 
Lindsay is a Justice of the Peace  
(since 1992) and served as a director  
of Connect Credit Union (formerly  
Savings & Loans) for 8 years.

As well as serving on the RBF Board, 
Lindsay is currently Tasmania Branch  
Vice President of the Community and 
Public Sector Union (CPSU) and the 
Public Officer and Board Member of 
Community Transport Services Tasmania. 

As a result of his long-standing 
activities, Lindsay has been awarded 
life membership of the CPSU and the 
Kingston Junior Football Club.

RBF Board and Committee 
Meeting attendance
RBF Board – attended all 11 meetings

RBF Board Special Committees – 
attended four (4) meetings as required

Risk and Audit Committee – attended  
all four (4) meetings

Member Insurance Committee –  
attended all two (2) meetings.
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Elizabeth Thomas
Board Member

BA, GAICD

 • Nominee of the Minister

Current term
19 November 2012 – 3 September 2015 

Board tenure
Board member since 4 September 2009

Additional responsibilities and 
related Directorships
Member of the Administration and 
Remuneration Committee

Experience and expertise
Liz Thomas majored in Political Science 
and Sociology at university and has 
worked in managerial positions in Hobart, 
Canberra, Sydney and Melbourne. Since 
2003, she has been a professional Board 
Director and self employed as a principal 
of Thomas Consulting, specialising in 
strategic and business planning, change 
management and leadership coaching 
and development. 

Liz’s Board experience encompasses  
a wide range of Tasmanian companies 
and organisations, including Island 
Produce, the Salvation Army, The 
Public Trustee, Hobart Water, the Police 
Review Board, the Tasmanian Gaming 
Commission and RBF. 

In a part time capacity, Liz is also the 
Managing Director of an international 
social housing model, Common Ground 
Tasmania, established in 2008 as a 
government, business and community 
sector partnership to end chronic 
homelessness in Tasmania. 

Liz’s professional achievements have 
been recognised in the Telstra Business 
Woman Awards. The University of 
Tasmania also recognised her contribution 
to her profession and community with a 
University Foundation Graduate Award.

RBF Board and Committee 
Meeting attendance
RBF Board – attended eight (8) of  
11 meetings

RBF Board Special Committees – 
attended four (4) meetings as required

Administration and Remuneration 
Committee – attended six (6) of seven (7) 
meetings.
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Experience and expertise
John Wilcox trained in the UK and has 
40 years’ experience as a Chartered 
Accountant including 15 years with  
PricewaterhouseCoopers and 20 years  
at Deloitte. John specialised in internal 
and external audit with clients in both  
the public and private sector. 

John’s work has taken him through 
Central Europe and the UK as well  
as more than 20 years in Australia  
(mainly Tasmania).

RBF Board and Committee 
Meeting attendance
RBF Board – attended all 11 meetings

RBF Board Special Committees – 
attended four (4) meetings as required

Risk and Audit Committee – attended all 
four (4) meetings

Member Insurance Committee – attended 
all two (2) meetings.

John Wilcox
Board Member

MAICD

 • Nominee of the Minister

 • RBF Member

Current term
19 November 2012 – 3 September 2014

Board tenure
Board Member since 1 October 2006

Additional responsibilities  
and related Directorships
Chair of the Risk and  
Audit Committee

Member of the Member  
Insurance Committee
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Rita loves interacting with people and her job as 
a Barista at the Launceston General Hospital is a 
perfect fit for her naturally out-going personality.

Rita has been with RBF for about five years now  
and has always been very happy with the service 
she has received. 

“I transferred from Tasplan around five years ago 
because I believe that RBF is the best fund for me 
and RBF’s returns will allow me to have a more 
comfortable retirement,” Ms Cristy said.

“I have always felt that I can talk to RBF. Everyone  
is very helpful, efficient and they really take the  
time to explain things to you.

“I see RBF staff in my workplace and if I have a 
question, I can just walk up and ask them. If I  
need more information I can make an appointment 
and sit down with someone in the office. 

“It’s great when they come to my workplace  
though, because working full time I don’t always 
have the time to go into the branch.

Ms Cristy’s favourite place in Launceston is the 
Stillwater restaurant. 

“I come here often with friends because I think 
the staff are friendly and I like being able to look 
out over the water,” Ms Cristy said.

Rita Cristy, RBF member
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Board Committees
The RBF Governance Framework provides for three standing Board Committees. These Committees have the power to make decisions 
and recommendations to the RBF Board on policy. All Board members have responsibilities as a member of at least one Committee, in 
addition to their commitments as a member of the Board. The table below shows the members as at 30 June 2013.

Risk and Audit Committee Administration and 
Remuneration Committee

Member Insurance Committee

Membership John Wilcox (Chair) 
Neroli Ellis 
Lindsay Jones

Don Challen (Chair) 
Elizabeth Thomas 
John Harman

Lindsay Jones (Chair) 
John Wilcox 
Neroli Ellis

Objective Provides independent assurance 
and assistance to the Board 
on RBF’s risk, control and 
compliance framework.

Provides independent assurance 
and assistance to the Board on 
its oversight responsibility for 
operational matters not otherwise 
covered by the Risk and Audit 
Committee or the Member  
Insurance Committee.

Monitors the member insurance 
processes and determines 
outcomes for death and disability 
claims reviews and appeals.

Meeting frequency Quarterly Quarterly Six monthly

As required, the Board appoints a Special 
Committee to conduct a natural justice 
hearing in relation to an application for a 
decision review by a member.

During 2012-13, six Special Committee 
meetings were held.

Commitment to investment oversight
Since 21 December 2011, the RBF Board 
has incorporated the functions of its 
former Investment Committee into the 
full Board activities, in order to reflect 
its commitment to strong investment 
performance and oversight. The Board 
sets quarterly Board meetings to focus on 
investment review and considers tactical 
investment matters at other monthly Board 
meetings as required.

External Committee Members
The RBF Board Charter provides for the 
appointment of non-Board members to 
Committees, where additional specialised 
expertise may be deemed appropriate, 
either on a short term or ongoing basis. 
During 2012-13, no non-Board members 
were appointed to Committees.

Board Member election 2013
John Harman and Neroli Ellis were 
appointed to the RBF Board as a result 
of RBF member elections in 2010. John 
was elected by the RBF Tasmanian 
Accumulation Scheme members and 
Neroli elected by members of the 
defined benefit schemes. The terms of 
appointment for both John and Neroli end 
on 31 August 2013.

RBF Board Member elections were held 
in May 2013. Neroli Ellis was returned 
to the Board by the RBF Tasmanian 
Accumulation Scheme members 
and John Mazengarb was elected by 
members of the defined benefit schemes. 
John Harman did not stand for re-election. 
The term of appointment will be for a 
period of three years commencing on  
1 September 2013.

Indemnity insurance protects  
the Fund
The RBF Board provided Directors and 
Officers with liability insurance cover for 
2012-13. Insurance is provided by Zurich.

Related party payments
Board Members and senior management 
are required to provide a declaration 
of any related party transactions each 
financial year. The following related party 
transactions were declared in respect  
of 2012-13:

Damian Egan was paid $10,000 for  
his directorship of Hobart International 
Airport Pty Ltd of which RBF owns  
a 49.9% share. Neroli Ellis is the 
Tasmanian Branch Secretary of the 
Australian Nursing Federation (ANF) 
which received sponsorship from RBF of 
$12,115 including GST during 2012-13.

Regulatory or statutory breaches 
of professional conduct
The Superannuation Industry Supervision 
(SIS) legislation provides amongst other 
things for establishment of operating 
standards, prudential duties and 
responsibilities and criminal and civil 
penalties for breach of conduct, duty  
and fraud.

There were no regulatory or statutory 
breaches of professional conduct by 
Board Members or RBF staff.
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Board Member total remuneration 1 July 2012 – 30 June 2013

Board Member Fees  
($ pa)

Committee Fees  
($ pa)

Superannuation  
($ pa)

Total 2012-13  
($ pa)

Damian Egan 75,442

In addition Mr Egan was paid:

$4,000pa plus $1,000 per meeting for the 
Tasmanian Gateway Holdings Corporation Group 

($10,000 in total) directorships.

Director fees are not paid in respect of  
RBF Property Pty Ltd or RBF Direct Pty Ltd

– 6,789.78 92,231.78

Don Challen 35,802 – 3,222.18 39,024.18

Neroli Ellis 35,802 – 3,222.18 39,024.18

Lindsay Jones 35,802 – 3,222.18 39,024.18

Elizabeth Thomas 35,802 – 3,222.18 39,024.18

John Wilcox 35,802 – 3,222.18 39,024.18

John Harman 35,802

Director fees are not paid in respect  
of RBF Financial Planning Pty Ltd

– 3,222.18 39,024.18

Senior management (including CEO) remuneration 1 July 2012 – 30 June 2013

2012-13 Cash Other

Band Number of 
Employees

Base Salaries Bonuses Super and 
termination 

benefits 

Total  
2012-13 

Previous year 
Total 2011-12 

< $150,000 0 – – – – 125,592.33 

$150,001 – $300,000 5  942,022.02 – 84,781.98 1,026,804.00 1,221,431.06 

> $300,000 1  277,736.51 – 24,996.29 302,732.80 –

Total 6 1,219,758.53 – 109,778.27 1,329,536.80 1,347,023.39

Two senior managers finished their contracts in the 2011-12 reporting period and one senior manager commenced in their role. There 
were no changes in the composition of the senior management team in 2012-13.

Responsibilities and procedures 
for succession planning
The RBF Board has a succession 
planning policy covering RBF staff  
and a Board renewal policy covering  
RBF Board Members.

Both polices are reviewed and 
updated annually.

Remuneration
The remuneration of RBF Board Members 
is determined by the Minister responsible 
for the Retirement Benefits Act 1993, in 
accordance with Tasmanian Government 
policy on the remuneration of Board 
members of government entities.

The remuneration of the Chief Executive 
Officer is determined by the Minister 
responsible for the Retirement Benefits  
Act 1993.

Remuneration for senior management 
is based on market remuneration 
data provided by The Hay Group. 
Senior management remuneration was 
determined by the Chief Executive Officer 
in consultation with the Administration 
and Remuneration Committee. ‘Senior 
management’ encompasses the five 
Divisional Managers reporting to the  
Chief Executive Officer.

RBF staff remuneration for 2012-13 
was set under the Retirement Benefits 

Fund Board Staff Agreement 2010–13. 
The negotiation of the Agreement 
took into account the market rates for 
superannuation funds and conservative 
financial services organisations, market 
remuneration data and movements 
and forecasts provided by independent 
remuneration consultants.

The total compensation of Board 
Members comprises an annual 
remuneration, paid on a fortnightly 
basis, plus allowances in respect of 
certain expenses. There is no additional 
remuneration payable for being a Board 
Committee member.
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RBF Member

Mr Philip Mussared, Chief Executive 
Officer, is a Director and Dr Ian Lundy, 
Chief Investments Officer, is an Alternate 
Director of the Tasmanian Gateway 
Holdings Corporation Group (TGCG) 
of companies which owns Hobart 
International Airport. Mr Mussared and  
Dr Lundy do not receive a Director’s fee 
for these Directorships. 

Mr Mussared and Mr Nick Connor,  
Chief Operations Officer, are directors  
of RBF Property Pty Ltd, RBF Direct 
Pty Ltd and RBF Financial Planning  
Pty Ltd and do not receive a Director’s  
fee for these directorships.

Fit and proper –  
professional conduct 
By State Government direction, RBF 
operates at the standard expected of 
an APRA regulated superannuation 
fund, which includes meeting APRA 
requirements in respect of the fitness and 
propriety of Responsible Officers. The 
RBF Responsible Officers are the Board 
Members and the members of the RBF 
Leadership Group. 

Responsible Officers are required to 
possess skills and knowledge to carry 
out their role in order to meet the fitness 
standard. The RBF Fit and Proper Policy 
requires that all requirements are to be 
met at the time of commencing duties as 
a Responsible Officer. 

The RBF Fit and Proper Policy and 
Guidance Notes describe the procedures 
for Board Members to be considered 
as ‘fit and proper’. These procedures 
are consistent with those that apply 
to a Regulated Superannuation Entity 
under the Superannuation Industry 
(Supervision) Act and comply with APRA’s 
Superannuation Prudential Standard 
(SPS) 520 – Fit and Proper, with the 
exception of RBF’s external auditor. RBF 
must use the Tasmanian Auditor-General 
as the auditor of its financial statements 
and they have not been subject to 
assessment of fitness and propriety  
under the SPS 520 standard. 

The RBF Board has determined that 
in respect of Board Members, these 
requirements are satisfied by:

 • successful completion of formal training 
in Regulatory Guide RG146; and

 • membership of the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors or an equivalent 
professional body.

RBF’s Code of Conduct and Conflicts 
of Interest Policy is used, in addition to 
the RBF Fit and Proper Policy, to assist 
in determining a Board Member’s fitness 
and propriety.

RBF’s approach to conflicts of interest 
is to meet better practice and ensure 
transparency in the Fund’s dealings. A 
copy of the Fit and Proper Policy can be 
found on the RBF website.

Register of Relevant Interests  
and Duties
All RBF Board Members and RBF 
Leadership Group members have 
completed declarations of interests and 
duties. A register of relevant interests  
and duties is available on page 80 and 
are available from the RBF website at  
www.rbf.com.au. 

Performance evaluation –  
RBF Board, Senior Executive 
and Staff

RBF Board performance
The RBF Board undertakes an annual 
evaluation of its performance. This is 
completed by the President with support 
from the Secretariat Unit. Every three 
years, this process is completed by an 
external consultant and the next externally 
facilitated review will take place in  
2013-14. A survey instrument based on 
the ASX best practice materials forms the 
basis of the Board evaluation, combined 
with individual interviews and group 
resolution. The results of the annual 
evaluation feed into the annual RBF 
Board and individual Board member 
development plans. This process is 
aimed at ensuring the Board continues to 
improve their performance and produce 
the value for money that members’ desire.

CEO performance
The CEO is annually appraised by the 
Board with support from an external 
facilitator and input from individual Board 
Members and the members of the RBF 
Leadership Group. The CEO has clear 
objectives established by the Board that 
align with the strategic direction set by the 
Board. The annual appraisal of the CEO 
is focussed on ensuring that outcomes 
align with:

 • maintaining focus on strategic objectives;

 • being in-line with the desired market 
remuneration positioning;

 • encouraging performance within 
an acceptable risk management 
framework; and

 • ensuring the performance aligns  
with Australian Prudential  
Regulation Authority (APRA)  
licensing requirements.

RBF Leadership Group 
performance 
RBF has a Performance Development 
Framework which is designed to 
encourage high achievement, improve 
and manage individual performance and 
develop managers and staff. Performance 
development links to achievement 
of RBF’s Strategic Plan and RBF’s 
values. The principles that are followed 
to measure RBF Leadership Group 
performance are:

 • focus on the long term objectives of RBF;

 • emphasise prudent risk management 
principles;

 • support RBF’s licensing requirements  
in relation to APRA standards; 

 • differentiate pay to reward behaviours 
in line with RBF’s values and desired 
culture;

 • offer a competitive proposition for  
the attraction, retention, motivation  
and alignment of highly qualified 
managers required to achieve  
RBF’s strategic objectives;

 • accentuate accountability and 
leadership; and

 • be linked, where appropriate, to the 
performance of both individuals and RBF.



RBF Annual Report 2012-13   •   57

Staff performance
The RBF Staff Agreement 2010-13 
provides for employees to be rewarded 
based on individual performance.  
By way of an online performance 
management system staff are eligible  
to receive performance related base 
salary increases once per year. 

RBF uses an online People and 
Performance system to support 
learning and development activities, 
the performance planning and review 
process, training course enrolments, 
delivery of eLearning modules and staff 
reward and recognition.

The RBF Performance Development 
Framework is designed to encourage 
and reward high achievement, improve 
and manage individual performance, 
as well as develop staff to support the 
future needs of RBF and provide career 
pathways.

The RBF Performance Development 
Framework consists of four essential 
elements:

 • performance development planning;

 • ongoing discussions;

 • performance development review; and

 • reward and recognition – salary 
progression review.

Board Member training and 
professional development 
The RBF Board has a development 
plan based around the knowledge 
requirements established by 
superannuation prudential standards. 

The development plan is tailored to the 
development needs of new and existing 
Board members and the Board President. 
Development activities are identified as 
either mandatory or highly recommended. 
Each Board Member has a specific 
individual learning plan for the next  
12 months. The RBF Board development 
plan is reviewed annually. 

Upon appointment, Board Members 
undertake a comprehensive induction 
program including:

 • a fund and industry overview;

 • a corporate induction focusing on 
governance, corporate and strategic 
planning, risk management, Division 
activities and significant projects; and

 • identifying opportunities for ongoing 
development through staff briefings, 
membership of professional 
associations and attendance  
at industry events.

The RBF Board conducts an annual 
evaluation and from this identifies 
professional development requirements. 

The RBF Board in total spent 435.5 hours 
on development activity during 2012-13. 

The RBF Board has used its best 
endeavours to comply with all APRA 
requirements, as instructed by the 
Tasmanian Government.



58   •   RBF Annual Report 2012-13

Philip Mussared
Chief Executive Officer
BA, BEc (Hons), RG146 for Superannuation, 
FCPA, FAICD, FARPI, FAIM, FIPAA

 • RBF Member

Appointment date: 11 April 2010

Skills and Experience
Philip began his career in the Australian 
Foreign Service and then served in a 
number of Australian Public Service 
agencies including the Commonwealth 
Treasury, the Office of National 
Assessments, the Department of 
the Prime Minister and Cabinet and 
the Australian Security Intelligence 
Organisation. He served two terms 
totalling five years with the Organisation 
for Economic Cooperation and 
Development in Paris.

From 1994 to 2006, Philip held Deputy 
Secretary positions in the Department 
of Health and Human Services and the 
Department of Treasury and Finance in 
Tasmania and was Project Director for a 
Review of Strategic Asset Management 
with the Department of Education.  
From 2006 to 2010, Philip held a range  
of Deputy Secretary positions with  
NSW Treasury.

Philip has held director positions with 
Comalco Aluminium (Bell Bay) Pty Ltd, 
the Barangaroo Delivery Authority, the 
NSW Internal Audit Bureau Services, the 
NSW Innovation Council, the NSW Skills 
Council and the Australian Procurement 
and Construction Council. Philip has 
served as President of Swimming 
Tasmania, Chair of the St Michael’s 
Collegiate School Foundation and a 
Director of the Australian Swimming 
Foundation.

CEO Responsibilities
As CEO, Mr Mussared has statutory 
responsibility for the general management 
of the RBF Board’s investment and 
administration operations. He attends all 
RBF Board meetings.

Current Directorships
 • RBF Direct Pty Ltd

 • RBF Property Pty Ltd

 • RBF Financial Planning Pty Ltd

 • Tasmanian Gateway Corporation  
Group of companies which owns 
Hobart International Airport.

Senior Executive Profiles15
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Nick Connor
Chief Operations Officer
CFP, BEd, MBA, RG146 for 
Superannuation, FAICD

Appointment date: 4 January 2011

Nick Connor has over 25 years’ 
management experience in the Tasmanian 
Financial services industry having held 
senior roles and directorships for various 
organisations. Nick began his business 
career in commercial real estate rising 
to the position of Director of Commercial 
Sales for Colliers Jardine Australia. Making 
the move to financial planning in 1994 
he spent two years in private practice 
before joining a credit union where he 
held various senior roles including Chief 
Operations Officer and Deputy CEO a 
position he finished in at MyState Financial 
in 2009. From 2009 until 2011 Nick held 
the most senior role in Tasmania with 
Australia Post as Commercial Manager 
before joining RBF as Chief Operations 
Officer in January 2011. 

Nick is an active member of the business 
community and has served as a Director on 
various boards, including as an inaugural 
director of RBF Financial Planning Pty Ltd. 

Current Directorships
 • RBF Direct Pty Ltd

 • RBF Property Pty Ltd

 • RBF Financial Planning Pty Ltd.

Ian Lundy
Chief Investments Officer
BSc (Hons), PhD, RG146 for 
Superannuation, MAICD

Appointment date: 15 March 2011

Dr Ian Lundy has more than 17 years’ 
experience in asset consulting, investment 
management and investment research in 
Australia and Asia. Ian joined RBF from 
Forte Investment Advisors in Melbourne, 
a niche consulting firm he established 
and managed from 2005 to 2009 where 
his particular focus was on Asian equity 
managers and hedge funds. He consulted 
to microcap manager Acorn Capital in 
2010. He was at Russell Investment  
Group from 2001 to 2005 and had 
previously worked for Deutsche Bank  
and GMO Australia. 

Current Directorship
 • Tasmanian Gateway Holdings 

Corporation Group of companies 
which owns Hobart International Airport 
(Alternate Director).

Anthony Bellamy
Chief Financial Officer
FCA, RG146 for Superannuation

Appointment date: 4 January 2011

Anthony became a member of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
England and Wales (ICAEW) and was 
employed by a leading accounting firm 
gaining experience across a number of 
industries, later becoming a fellow of  
the ICAEW.

Anthony joined Touche Ross and Co in 
Sydney where he worked as an audit 
manager on a number of large financial 
services organisations.

Anthony has more than 20 years’ 
experience working in the financial 
services industry predominately for blue 
chip European banks in both Australia 
and Europe. 
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Ms Tammi Lambert currently works 
at the Coroner’s Office as a Coroner’s 
Associate. It is a job that she finds  
both challenging and rewarding.

“In my job, there are always a different 
set of circumstances that is unique  
to each deceased person and their 
loved ones. 

“To be honest, it was a colleague 
that got me interested in my 
superannuation. He literally dragged 
me into the RBF office and told the 
receptionist that I was there to make  
an appointment.

Since having that meeting, Ms 
Lambert has become more engaged 
and interested in managing her 
superannuation. She’s recently 
begun salary sacrificing to ensure her 
superannuation nest egg continues to 
build and she’s insisted that her mother 
and two close friends, all RBF members, 
also come in for interviews with RBF 
Superannuation Consultants. 

Tammi Lambert, RBF member
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Tim Baker
General Manager  
Corporate Support
BIS, RG146 for Superannuation, MAICD

Appointment date: 1 January 2012

Tim Baker has 12 years’ experience 
working in a range of roles within the 
Tasmanian public service. Tim has 
worked in information technology, project 
management, contract management and 
general management. Tim is currently a 
Director of Centacare Tasmania.

Prior to commencing in the role of 
General Manager Corporate Support, Tim 
led RBF’s strategic initiative to outsource 
member administration services to Mercer 
(Australia). Following the completion of 
the Project, Tim then led the strategic 
initiative to support RBF obtaining a 
Registrable Superannuation Entity license 
from the Australian Prudential Regulation 
Authority (APRA).

In December 2012 Tim’s contribution 
to the superannuation industry was 
recognised by the Australian Institute of 
Superannuation Trustees (AIST) which 
awarded him the Super Operations/
Administration Award for Excellence. 

Mark Leis
General Manager Governance  
and Secretariat
BCom (Hons), CA, MAppFin, RG146  
for Superannuation,

Appointment date: 1 March 2012

From university, Mark joined KPMG in 
their audit and management consulting 
divisions. This exposed him to a deep 
understanding of both internal and 
external audit methodologies as well 
as financial modelling for numerous 
corporate structuring engagements 
and allowed him to attain his Chartered 
Accountant designation. It was from one 
of these engagements he then spent 
four years with a niche financial services 
consultancy that worked on various 
contracts around Australia with funds 
management houses, superannuation 
funds, financial services dealer groups 
and large financial planning practices.

Mark spent two years as a Finance 
Manager with Tasmania’s largest print and 
mailing house before joining RBF in 2005. 

He has built a diverse understanding 
of RBF, the superannuation industry 
and financial services sector by moving 
through a number of senior roles at  
RBF and completing his Masters in 
Applied Finance. 

Mark’s strong financial base and 
business understanding enables the 
implementation of effective governance, 
strategic planning and performance 
management for RBF.
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The successful negotiation of a 
contemporary Enterprise Bargaining 
Agreement appropriate to a financial 
services organisation was a significant 
achievement. RBF had a strong level of 
participation by and engagement from our 
employees which resulted in a very active 
and harmonious negotiation process.

The Information, Technology and 
Accommodation Project (ITA) delivered 
new Hobart office accommodation and 
upgraded information management 
and information technology systems. 
RBF moved to new Launceston office 
accommodation in June 2012. The new 
offices in Hobart and Launceston have 
improved facilities for both members and 
staff, with contemporary member facilities 
including street front reception areas, 
private meeting rooms, internet access 
pods and member seminar rooms. 

A focus for the Information Services 
Unit was supporting the implementation 
of business intelligence and reporting, 
which has enabled enhanced strategic, 
operational and business reporting in 
support of decision making. In January 
2013, the RBF Board approved the 
Information Management Strategy Project 
to implement the next wave of initiatives 
under RBF’s Information Management 
Strategy. A focus of the project, which 
will work closely with the Information 
Services Unit, is to maximise the return 
from the investment already made in 
the new technology implemented by the 
ITA Project in 2012 to achieve process 
efficiencies and further reductions in paper 
usage and photocopying.

RBF also completed a project to improve 
the quality of membership data for 
Contributory Scheme members. The 

Manager of the Information Services 
Unit managed the Data Cleansing and 
Decommissioning Project during 2012-13. 
This now means that RBF has arguably the 
most robust set of data at any stage of its 
history. This has led to reduced average 
benefit payment times for the complex 
defined benefit schemes. 

RBF has a number of material outsourced 
business activities, the most significant 
being member administration services. 
The Commercial Services Unit provided 
ongoing support to the management 
of the contracts, participated in the 
planning and implementation of market 
testing of the provision of internal audit 
services, planned the market testing of 
the provision of asset consultant services 
and coordinated the annual review of the 
relationship with Mercer.

Responsibility for the planning of the 
program of change rests with the 
Technology and Change Unit. A list of 
the projects undertaken in 2012-13 is 
provided on page 72. Given RBF’s 
demonstrated ability to deliver projects 
on time and to budget, the program 
approach is being intensified in 2013-14 to 
bring further enhancements for the benefit 
of members such as the new lifecycle 
default product and a new member  
direct investment product.

The Internal Support Unit provides project 
support resources, and generates  
internal communications including  
a Monday Update and a monthly 
electronic newsletter ‘The Lions Roar’.

Tim Baker 
General Manager Corporate Support

General Manager Corporate  
Support Message 16

A huge amount of innovation was 
successfully achieved in the provision 
of Corporate Support services during 
2012-13. The application of a rigorous 
project management approach, the 
responsiveness of RBF staff to the changes 
and strong senior management and Board 
support were critical to our success.

Risk and compliance is a functional 
responsibility of the Corporate Support 
Division. The General Manager Corporate 
Support is the nominated Fraud Control 
Officer. The Risk and Compliance Unit 
coordinated the development of the  
2012-13 Strategic Assurance Program 
which covers internal audit, control  
self-assessment and external assurance.

The People and Performance Unit 
provided strong support for RBF’s 
strategic objective related to developing 
our people and a high performance 
culture. The increase in the staff 
engagement score to 50% in December 
2012 reflected employee’s enthusiasm for 
the program of change and the continued 
demonstration of the RBF values and 
commitment to RBF strategic direction. 



Matthew Combey has been employed 
by RBF Financial Planning for the past 
three years as a Financial Planner. 

“Each and every day, I get to help 
people to realise their dreams and that 
makes it a pleasure to come to work,” 
Matthew said. 

“Sometimes clients have a really clear 
idea of what they want to achieve 
and the steps required to make that 
happen. However, in many cases, the 
steps are not as clear and it’s in these 
instances that financial planning is 
really valuable because we help clients 
to explore what their options are, the 
pros and cons of each option and the 
potential consequences,” he said. 

Matthew has a well-established 
reputation for providing tailored advice 
to his clients, which is demonstrated 
by the number of ongoing clients he 
has under his management. 

Matthew’s knowledge and experience in 
financial planning is equally well valued 
within RBF, with Matthew a frequent, 
if not somewhat reluctant, speaker at 
internal functions and events. 

Asked what Matthew most likes  
about working at RBF, his response 
was instant:

“Working with a great group of people 
who have the member’s interest at the 
centre of what they do,” Matthew said.

Matthew Combey, RBF member

When not at work, Matthew loves being in the great 
outdoors and is a regular visitor to Mount Wellington.
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Our values
RBF has a set of core values that we hold 
to be important above all others. These 
values are powerful motivators that give 
meaning, purpose and commitment to  
our vision, mission and strategic direction. 
We recognise that the impact of RBF’s 
values depends upon how effectively we 
bring those values ‘alive’ through our  
daily behaviours.

The RBF values are:

 • Responsibility 

 • Respect 

 • Integrity 

 • Quality 

 • Achieve together

On a monthly basis, RBF acknowledges 
staff, individually or in a team, who 
have been nominated by their peers 
as living the RBF values in their work 
to a particularly high degree. The RBF 
Leadership Group selects one nominee 
as the recipient of the monthly Applaud 
Award which is presented at a monthly all 
staff forum. An annual President’s Award 
is selected by the RBF President from 
the monthly Applaud winners. RBF had 
197 nominations for the Applaud Award 
during 2012-13.

Our employees17
Month Staff member Value Nominated for

July 2012 Matt Abbott  • Achieve together
 • Responsibility

Managing the relocation of the 
Launceston office.

August 2012 Claire Bessell  • Responsibility
 • Achieve together
 • Quality

Managing the preparation of  
the 2011-12 financial accounts  
and receiving an unqualified  
audit opinion.

September 
2012

Rita Mawson  • Quality Providing a Statement of Advice 
document of exceptional quality  
and also for taking the initiative to 
learn processes and procedures 
required to maintain services.

October 2012 Member 
Solutions

 • Achieve together Ensuring that the Mobile 
Redundancy Team initiative  
worked extremely well. 

November 
2012

Susan Harvey

ITA Project 
Team

 • Achieve together
 • Quality

Doing an outstanding job in 
coordinating the relocation to 
Kirksway Place.

Achieving all outcomes in a short 
timeframe and with excellent quality.

December 
2012

Damian Ryan  • Quality Successful delivery of the RBF 
Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme 
New Insurance Product. 

January 2013 Ningning Lyons  • Responsibility Taking ownership and achieving 
a valued outcome for our 
stakeholders. 

February 2013 Michael 
Bonsey

 • Integrity His professional attitude. For always 
being friendly and helpful.

March 2013 Michael Jordan  • Achieve together Helping the Hobart team during  
a very busy time. 

April 2013 Stephen 
Donaghy

 • Achieve together His critical involvement in the 
Unitisation Project. 

May 2013 Natasha 
Anderson

 • Achieve together
 • Responsibility

Stepping up and delivering  
a quality budget. 

June 2013 Nathan 
Venables

 • Respect For his involvement, positive attitude 
and excellent communication in the 
Business Intelligence Project.
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High performance culture
A number of policies and training 
programs contribute to RBF as an 
organisation that has a high performing 
culture. We believe that having the right 
people at the right time with the right skills 
will ensure that RBF provides superior 
member service every time. 

RBF measures staff engagement as a part 
of its assessment of high performance 
culture. It does this by participating in 
the Aon Hewitt Engagement survey. RBF 
has achieved a consecutive increase 
in engagement scores in the past two 
surveys, from 31% in June 2011, to 45% 
in February 2012 to 50% in December 
2012. Aon Hewitt’s research indicates 
that only 12% of organisations were 
able to improve engagement by 7% or 
more over the same period. Relative to 
this environment, RBF’s improvement 
is a considerable achievement. Further 
improvement is targeted in 2013-14 with 
a particular focus on people management 
support and skill development,recruitment 
and on boarding and defining an 
employee value proposition.

RBF has extremely clear and 
contemporary policies and guidelines 
in relation to diversity, harassment and 
discrimination, equal opportunity and 
recruitment and on boarding. 

Safe and healthy workplace
RBF is committed to providing a safe 
and healthy work environment for its 
employees.

All members of the RBF Board and the 
RBF Leadership Group are persons 
conducting or undertaking a business 
for the purposes of the Work Health and 
Safety Act 2012 (Tas), which took effect 
from 1 January 2013.

A number of activities were undertaken 
in 2012-13 to maintain a safe working 
environment. These included: 

 • establishment and maintenance of a 
Work Health and Safety Committee;

 • eLearning module titled A Safe 
Workplace;

 • a comprehensive risk assessment was 
undertaken and a work health and 
safety risk register developed. The 
Board approved register contains 17 
identified risks which are monitored by 
the Work Health and Safety Committee;

 • reporting to the RBF Leadership 
Group and Board was upgraded with 
a quarterly report addressing general 
risk management, general workplace 
management and workforce health and 
safety incidents;

 • the launch of the Health and  
Well-being Program;

 • provision of optional free influenza 
vaccinations for employees, with  
a 90% participation rate;

 • ergonomic assessments for employees 
at the time of relocation to new  
office accommodation and ongoing  
on request; 

 • provision of breastfeeding facilities in 
the new Hobart office with accreditation 
as a Breastfeeding Friendly Workplace;

 • an Employee Assistance Program 
providing professional counselling; and

 • ad hoc support services for employees 
and their families.

The Work Health and Safety Committee is 
chaired by the General Manger Corporate 
Support and meets quarterly. The minutes 
of Committee meetings are provided to 
the RBF Leadership Group for review.

The risk assessment identified 63 risks 
of which 17 have been assessed as 
requiring attention. Of the 17 risks, none 
were assessed as extreme or high and 
treatment actions are being implemented 
to reduce two medium risks to low  
during 2013-14.

A quarterly work health and safety  
report is provided to the RBF Leadership 
Group and the Administration and 
Remuneration Committee.

RBF 2012-13 President’s Award  
winner Susan Harvey
Susan was recognised with the inaugural President’s 
Award for outstanding performance as the Program 
Manager responsible for coordinating the successful 
relocation of the Hobart office from Sandy Bay Road to 
Kirksway Place, the upgrade of IT and the transition to 
a less paper office. This project was delivered with an 
exceptional level of planning and with RBF members 
and employees front of mind.

Work Health and Safety Metrics for 2012-13

Number of ergonomic assessments completed 10 Plus 2 days conducting over 20 
assessments during the relocation

Number of reported incidents 6

Number of Lost Time Injuries (LTI) 2

Number of lost days associated with LTIs 18

Average number of days lost per LTI 9

Number of Claims Lodged 2

Number of open Claims as at 30 June 2013 0
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The RBF Health and Wellbeing Program 
provides a holistic approach to health 
and wellbeing for employees. It offers a 
range of activities and events to promote 
the benefits of improved health, wellbeing 
and fitness. Participation in the program 
is voluntary. Some of the services that are 
offered through this program are:

 • workshops on healthy eating  
and nutrition;

 • physical activity through the 10,000 
steps challenge; and

 • mental health and education sessions.

RBF secured an engagement score 
relating to perceptions of work place 
safety of 80% in the December 2012  
staff engagement survey. It is clear 
from this result that a safe and healthy 
workplace is important to our employees 
and is being provided.

Use of personal leave 
RBF’s healthy workplace is reflected  
in a low use of personal leave (sick 
leave and carers leave) compared  
to the industry average. 

Corporate uniform 
In November 2012, coinciding with the 
relocation of the Hobart office from 
Sandy Bay Road to Kirksway Place, 
RBF introduced a corporate uniform. 
For member facing staff, the uniform is 
compulsory and fully funded by RBF. 
For all other staff, RBF subsidises the 
uniform for those who choose to wear it. 
The take up rate for the corporate uniform 
has been excellent, with over 50% of staff 
now wearing some or all of the available 
uniform pieces. 

Employment statistics
In 2012-13, RBF had an approved 
establishment of 108 permanent full time-
equivalent positions. Additional staff were 
engaged as required on a fixed term basis 
for project work or to back fill vacancies.

The table shows the number of permanent 
and fixed term employees at 30 June 2013.
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Headcount By Division

 Female Male Total % Female % Male

Board 2 5 7 26% 74%

Office of CEO 1 1 2 50% 50%

Corporate Support 17 17 34 50% 50%

Finance 9 3 12 75% 25%

Investment Management 1 6 7 14% 86%

Operations 28 19 47 59% 41%

Governance and Secretariat 3 4 7 43% 57%

Total Headcount 61 55 116 53% 47%

At 30 June 2013, RBF had 10 staff 
members, all of whom are female,  
working reduced hours in order to  
meet personal requirements.

Flexible working arrangements
In January 2013, the RBF Board approved 
a flexible working policy. RBF recognises 
the increasing importance of flexible 
working arrangements in attracting, 
retaining and rewarding a diverse,  
high performing workforce.

This new policy has been created to 
provide a clear and consistent application 
of existing provisions within the Retirement 
Benefits Fund Board Staff Agreement 
(Staff Agreement) and to promote:

 • a culture of enhancing performance, 
innovation and continuous improvement, 
which enables employees to contribute 
to improving RBF’s business and share 
in the rewards of high performance; and

 • a safe and healthy working environment 
where employees are encouraged to 
adopt healthy lifestyles and achieve a 
balance between their professional and 
personal life.

KPI 3.2 Use of personal leave 2012-13

Target calculated by using 9.2 days per annum per employee multiplied by number of RBF Staff divided by 12 months.

Using IBSA Environment Scan – 2010 Financial Services Industry.
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RBF currently has 18% of the workforce 
with a Flexible Working Arrangement, 
including parents that are returning to  
the workforce after parental leave. 

In addition, 11 staff have accessed  
RBF’s parental leave scheme. 

Recruitment policies  
and programs
RBF has a strategic goal to attract, 
develop and retain the best people to 
align with our organisational needs. 

To assist in meeting this goal, RBF has 
implemented contemporary recruitment 
practices. We aim to attract and recruit the 
right people, at the right time, in the right 
role. This means that we pride ourselves 
on our ability to attract the best people 
to RBF and are able to move quickly to 
secure the right person.

RBF seeks expressions of interest from 
internal employees prior to a position 
being advertised in the market. We do  
this because:

 • we are confident that RBF already has 
some of the best talent in the market 
working for us;

 • we pride ourselves on developing 
and supporting a career path for our 
employees; and 

 • we are conscious that seeking external 
candidates is far more costly than 
‘growing our own talent’.

We have made significant changes during 
2012-13 to our recruitment practices 
to support engagement in relation to 
career development and to reduce our 
recruitment and on boarding costs.  
Some of these changes include:

 • advertising all vacancies internally 
before going out to market;

 • removing the need for applicants 
to submit lengthy selection criteria 
documentation; and

 • changing our internal delegations 
and approvals process to streamline 
recruitment procedures.

During 2013-14, we will be focussing 
on further improving our recruitment 
processes and reviewing our on  
boarding and induction processes.

Employee remuneration  
and conditions
During 2012-13, RBF successfully 
negotiated a new three year Enterprise 
Bargaining Agreement (EBA). We were 
able to achieve this by actively engaging 
with our staff and the Community and 
Public Sector Union, resulting in a positive 
outcome for both staff and RBF. A number 
of principles were applied by the parties 
through the negotiations, including:

 • ensuring that the draft agreement  
was written in ‘plain English’, 
significantly simplifying and removing 
the complexity found in the existing  
staff agreement document; 

 • ensuring fairness and flexibility; 

 • ensuring competitive and market 
relative remuneration; and

 • promoting productivity and facilitating 
the transformation of the RBF workplace 
culture to ‘high-performance’ where 
employees are engaged and focused 
on meeting or exceeding clearly  
defined expectations. 

By utilising these principles and ensuring 
integrity of the process through strong 
governance and a robust project 
management methodology, RBF 
secured a 75% ‘yes’ vote to the new 
EBA with a 96% participation rate. This 
outcome reflected the strong employee 
participation and a vast amount of 
internal communications. The new Staff 
Agreement was approved by the Fair 
Work Commission on 1 July 2013 to  
take effect on 8 July 2013.

The new Staff Agreement includes 
provisions for:

 • an annual pay increment of 2%  
for all staff;

 • reduced redundancy provisions for  
staff joining RBF after commencement 
of the new Staff Agreement;

 • removal of flexitime provisions, replaced 
by an increased emphasis on flexible 
working arrangements;

 • performance pay arrangements  
for all staff; and

 • application of the Hay Group 
methodology for job evaluation purposes.

The new Staff Agreement will support 
a more engaged workforce that is 
remunerated in a way that directly 
correlates with a high performance 
culture, thus adding value to RBF, its 
employees and RBF members.

Diversity 
RBF has diversity guidelines which 
communicate our commitment to creating 
a diverse workforce. We believe that 
supporting diversity benefits individuals, 
teams, and our members. 

RBF is diverse along many dimensions. 
Our diversity encompasses differences 
in ethnicity, gender, language, age, 
sexual orientation, religion, socio-
economic status, physical and mental 
ability, thinking styles, experience and 
education. We believe that the wide 
array of perspectives that results from 
such diversity promotes innovation and 
business success. Managing diversity 
makes us more creative, flexible, 
productive and competitive.

RBF’s gender mix by position type (30 June 2013)

Band Female Male % Female % Male

RBF Board 2 5 29% 71%

Executive 0 6 0% 100%

Managers 5 4 56% 44%

Team Leaders / Member Facing 25 25 50% 50%

Service / Support 26 14 65% 35%

Support 3 1 75% 25%

Total 61 55 53% 47%
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RBF’s ‘Gender Tree’ at 30 June 2013 
shows the gender diversity of the Board, 
the RBF Leadership Group and the direct 
reports to the RBF Leadership Group.

The above chart is colour coded 
according to the gender of the incumbent 
at 30 June 2013. Females are shown in 
yellow and males in grey. Vacant positions 
are uncoloured.

RBF acknowledges the opportunity to 
improve the gender diversity within the 
RBF Board and the RBF Leadership 
Group. However, when considering the 

broader management team, RBF has a 
healthy mix of genders, experience and 
educational backgrounds. 

We are committed to improving gender 
diversity on the RBF Board and in the 
RBF Leadership Group. For the five RBF 
Board positions that are nominated by 
either the Minister or Unions Tasmania, 
we are drawing attention to the current 
gender balance in the nomination 
process. In regard to the RBF Leadership 
Group, we are seeking to develop 
our female managers to the next level 

through participation in a RBF Leadership 
Program for Women which is being run by 
Dattner Grant in 2013-14. This program 
aims to encourage women to reach their 
potential and be in a strong position to 
add value in their chosen career path. 

Acknowledging the current lack of 
diversity in the RBF Leadership Group, a 
program was implemented in 2012-13 to 
develop all our people leaders by rotating 
them to attend the weekly RBF Leadership 
Group meetings for a month at a time. 
Two people leaders are invited each 
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month to attend and fully participate  
in the RBF Leadership Group meetings.  
This program has proven to be very  
useful in exposing people leaders to  
the RBF Leadership Group and its 
associated responsibilities. 

Training and development
In order to ensure that development 
activity at RBF is governed to make sure it 
is best practice, effective and sustainable, 
the RBF Development Framework has 
been defined to draw together relevant 
development activities, resources and 
documentation and to provide the  
context in which they function. 

RBF is focused on being a learning 
organisation, one where the environment 
enables its employees to develop their 
capacity to learn and to teach others. It 
fosters the sharing of information within  
a supportive and collaborative culture.

Having a Development Framework 
acknowledges the importance of 
supporting RBF employees to enable the 
organisation to achieve its strategic goals. 
The implementation of a Development 
Framework demonstrates the value 
placed on developing the capability of 
RBF employees and their contribution  
to the organisation. 

Level 1 – Development foundations
This level represents RBF’s practices, 
which act as the foundation for a learning 
and development culture. It represents the 
policies, processes, resources and tools 
that underpin a learning culture. 

Outcome equals collaboration – RBF  
is clearly committed to development,  
and learning attitudes and behaviours  
are genuinely supported. 

Level 2 – Compliance and capability
This level represents RBF and Individual 
development compliance and capability 
requirements for the skills, knowledge and 
behaviour that enable the achievement of 
RBF’s objectives. 

Outcome equals competency – 
Individually employees improve capability 
and then collectively RBF’s ability to 
deliver on its objectives expands.

Level 3 – Alignment
This level represents the development 
activities beyond compliance and 
mandatory training to support career 
progression, employee engagement  
and the realisation of worthwhile work.

Outcome equals engagement –  
All RBF managers and employees are 
able to contribute to and participate  
in development in the workplace.

RBF uses eLearning to ensure all staff 
are introduced to important employment 
requirements and then receive periodic 
updates. eLearning modules in 2012-13 
covered were:

 • A Safe Workplace

 • Alcohol and other drugs

 • Anti-Money Laundering and  
Counter Terrorism Financing –  
Know your Customer

 • Code of Conduct

 • Conflicts of Interest – Employees

 • Conflicts of Interest – Board

 • Fraud and Corruption  
Control Awareness

 • Fraud and Corruption Control –  
Identify Theft

 • Fraud and Corruption Control –  
for Managers

 • Incident and Breach Management

 • Harassment and Anti-discrimination

 • Information Security Framework

 • Introduction to Anti-Money Laundering 
and Counter Terrorism Financing

 • Record Keeping

Community commitment
RBF is committed to ensuring we are  
in a position to support our community. 
Our staff are committed to weekly 
donations provided on ‘casual Fridays’, 
with 12 different charities supported 
during the year. RBF staff were also keen 
participants in community fun runs with 
many staff volunteering at the Mothers’ 
Day Classic. 

RBF has approximately 2,200 members 
who were living in the areas affected  
by the devastating January 2013 fires. 

RBF ensured that priority was given to  
any member who had been impacted 
by the fires, whether they were seeking 
services form RBF in Tasmania or through 
our administrator Mercer. RBF staff 
wanted to do something for those that 
were affected and raised money through 
donations and fundraising activities for the 
Red Cross Tasmanian Bushfire Appeal. 
Further support was provided by:

 • RBF members and visitors who 
donated to the Red Cross Tasmanian 
Bushfire Appeal tins at our Hobart and 
Launceston office reception areas; 

 • RBF, which as a business matched 
employee donations up to $1,000;

 • Mercer staff who made personal 
donations through the Mercer payroll 
system; and

 • Mercer, which as a business matched 
employees’ contributions. 

A total of $8,350 was forwarded to the 
Red Cross.

RBF also offered two properties from 
its property portfolio on a concessional 
basis for use by the State Government to 
support ongoing bushfire recovery efforts.

Superannuation  
Guarantee obligations
RBF in 2012-13 met its obligations 
under the Superannuation Guarantee 
(Administration) Act 1992 in respect  
of all of its employees.
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Risk Management Framework
The RBF Risk Management Framework 
as described below was first approved 
by the RBF Board in July 2010 and is 
reviewed and updated annually, with the 
most recent review being undertaken in 
November 2012. 

The Framework consists of the  
following documents:

 • Risk Management Policy;

 • Risk Management Strategy;

 • Risk Management Plan;

 • Enterprise Wide Risk Register; and

 • Division Risk Registers.

Quarterly reporting is provided to the  
Risk and Audit Committee covering:

 • Enterprise Wide Risk Treatment Plan;

 • Enterprise Wide Control  
Self-Assessments;

 • top ten residually rated risks;

 • all extreme residually rated risks;

 • Risk Management Strategy  
and Plan – breaches;

 • Risk Management Framework – 
independent reviews of key  
controls; and

 • major change and project  
risk assessments.

An annual Strategic Assurance Program 
provides the RBF Board with assurance 
about the integrity of the RBF internal 
control systems and with findings and 
recommendations to improve the efficiency 
and effectiveness of the internal control 
systems. The Program is risk based with 
three elements – internal audit, control  
self-assessment and external assurance. 

Outsourced internal audit services are 
provided by KPMG. The internal audit 
function reports to the RBF Board through 
the Risk and Audit Committee and is 
responsible for:

 • assisting the Risk and Audit Committee:

 • set the Strategic and Annual Plans for 
the delivery of internal audit projects;

 • set the scopes for each internal  
audit project in consultation  
with management;

 • assisting management:

 • in participating in internal  
audit projects;

 • in evaluating processes for 
identifying, assessing and  
managing the key operational, 
financial and compliance risks;

 • by evaluating the effectiveness 
of internal control systems and 
management performance, including 
the financial and risk management 
framework and compliance with  
internal policies;

Internal audit project Overall rating

Impact of findings

Process Organisational Management 
comments

Tendering, contracting and  
contractor management

Good –* Good

Project management frameworks Good –* Good

Conflict of interest

 Phase 1 Good –* Good

 Phase 2 Good Good Optimal

Member administration Average Good Optimal

Financial systems Good Good Optimal

Disaster recovery/business continuity Average Good Optimal

IT general controls Average Good Optimal

Incident and breach management Good Good Optimal

Compliance systems Good Good Optimal

AML/CTF Good Good Optimal

IT security Good Good Optimal

Payroll and leave management Good Good TBA

Outsourced services management Good Good Optimal

HR recruitment Good Good Optimal

Governance Optimal Optimal Optimal

Investment arrangements Good Good TBA

Rating scale is as follows: Unsatisfactory, Needs Improvement, Average, Good, Optimal. 
* An assessment of the overall impact of the findings was not provided for these reports. 
TBA refers to ratings not yet finalised. 

 • recommending improvements in 
efficiency to the internal control systems 
established by management;

 • validating that management actions  
are completed as agreed; 

 • keeping abreast of:

 • new developments affecting the 
organisation’s activities and in 
matters affecting internal audit work; 

 • the progress of internal audit projects 
against the annual plan; and

 • being responsive to the organisation’s 
changing needs, striving for continuous 
improvement and monitoring integrity  
in the performance of its activities.

A total of 16 internal audits were undertaken in 2012-13. The topics and the overall rating 
of the findings and the management responses are summarised in the following table:
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Control Self-Assessment (CSA) is an 
internal ‘monitoring and review’ technique 
that enables managers and work teams 
directly involved in business units, 
functions or processes to participate 
in ‘self-assessing’ the adequacy and 
operating effectiveness of controls that 
are in place to mitigate organisational 
strategic or operational risks. At RBF,  
CSA is targeted at the controls to manage 
its key enterprise wide strategic risks.  
A pilot CSA was undertaken in April 2013 
of fraud and corruption key controls and 
assertions. A CSA was also undertaken in 
February 2013 on the process undertaken 
by the Chief Investments Officer to 
support his recommendation to the RBF 
Board that it make the Annual Certification 
for RBF’s current custody arrangements. 
The findings of both CSAs were reported 
to the Risk and Audit Committee.

External assurance is a term used to 
describe assurance activities that are 
conducted by parties external to RBF. 
Some of the external assurance activities 
are mandatory due to legislative, 
regulatory or internal policy requirements. 
Where the external assurance activities 
are discretionary, the conduct of such 
activities is subject to the Board approved 
operational budget. External assurance 
activities are typically those most suited 
to review by an external party due to their 
independence from RBF’s operations and 
their expert knowledge and experience. 
During 2012-13, the following external 
assurance activities were undertaken:

 • financial statements RBF – Tasmanian 
Audit Office;

 • financial statements RBF Financial 
Planning – Tasmanian Audit Office;

 • fund income tax return review –  
Ernst & Young;

 • fringe benefits tax return review –  
Wise Lord & Fergusson;

 • independent valuation of Hobart 
International Airport – VAA Pty Ltd;

 • JP Morgan GS007 (report 
on controls over investment 
administration and registry services) – 
PricewaterhouseCoopers;

 • JP Morgan SSAE16 (report on the 
description of controls over processing 
of transactions and safekeeping of 
assets for global securities and custody 
clients) – PricewaterhouseCoopers;

 • investment managers GS007/SSAE16  
– various providers;

 • actuarial advice and attestation  
– Mercer Actuarial;

 • RBF Financial Planning Authorised 
Representative audit – Securitor;

 • RBF Financial Planning technical  
review – Securitor; and

 • Mercer GS007 (report on superannuation 
member administration and information 
technology) – PricewaterhouseCoopers.

One incident of suspected fraud was 
identified during 2012-13, investigated 
and subsequently reported to Tasmania 
Police in July 2013. The incident involved 
a member seeking early release of a 
preserved superannuation benefit.

During 2012-13, a detailed review  
by KPMG of the internal provision  
of risk and compliance services was 
initiated. A report on the first phase, 
Current State Assessment, was being 
reviewed internally at 30 June 2013. 
The next phases are Future State 
recommendations and transition to  
the Future State.

In May and June 2013, the RBF Leadership 
Group and the RBF Board participated in 
separate facilitated sessions to develop  
a Risk Appetite Statement as required  
by the APRA Prudential Standard on  
Risk Management. 

Sand ripples and Marram Grass on Peron Dunes, Tasmania
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RBF’s program of change

Projects completed in 2012-13

Board approval Name of program/project Completed Further details

July 2010 (1) Registered Superannuation Entity Licensing Project December 2012 page 12

July 2011 Data Cleansing and Decommissioning Project January 2013 page 62

December 2011 RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme Insurance Product Project February 2013 page 32

March 2012 Membership Profile Phase 2 Project February 2013 page 28

March 2012 Information, Technology and Accommodation Program January 2013 page 62

May 2012 Unitisation Project June 2013 page 17

Projects continuing at 30 June 2013

Board approval Name of program/project Target Further details

April 2012 Member Solutions Tools Project October 2013 page 27

June 2012 Product Innovation Program (formerly ‘MySuper’) (2) June 2014 page 12

June 2012 Enterprise Bargaining Agreement Project July 2013 page 67

July 2012 Interactions Not Transactions Project (formerly ‘AFS Licensing’) (4) December 2013 page 32

July 2012 Business Intelligence and Reporting Project July 2013 page 9

December 2012 Regulatory Reform Project July 2014 page 12

January 2013 Information Management Strategy Project July 2014 page 62

April 2013 Employee Engagement Project July 2014 page 62

May 2013 WRAP Product (now part of Product Innovation Program) (3) June 2014 page 27

May 2013 144 Macquarie Street Refurbishment Project June 2015 page 14

(1) Date represents appointment of Program Manager.

(2) MySuper was rebranded as ‘Product Innovation Program’ (PIP) in July 2013.

(3) WRAP Project became the ‘Member Direct Investments’ workstream of PIP as of July 2013.

(4) AFS Licensing Project scope was increased and the project renamed as ‘Interactions Not Transactions’ in March 2013.

Looking ahead, the RBF program of change for 2013-14 has two elements:

 • implementation of the 2012-13 projects not yet completed at 30 June 2013; and

 • implementation of new projects and initiatives in 2013-14. These potentially include (pending approval):

 • Accreditation of External Financial Planners

 • Stakeholder Relationship Management System



Cradle Mountain, Tasmania, Australia
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We welcome all feedback from our 
members as it allows us to acknowledge 
staff doing a great job and to improve our 
service where required.

RBF’s complaint process
At RBF, we strive to ensure our members 
receive the best possible service at all 
times, but sometimes our service might 
not meet a member’s expectations. For 
this reason, RBF has a comprehensive 
complaint process to address concerns.

Procedure to lodge a complaint
Members who have a complaint are 
asked to submit it in writing to the 
Complaints Officer at RBF, by letter or  
by filling out a ‘Complaint Form’ available 
from RBF’s website www.rbf.com.au. If 
this is not possible assistance is available 
from RBF in lodging a complaint.

There is no charge to lodge a complaint 
with RBF.

The principles of natural justice apply  
to all complaints. 

Number of complaints
RBF continues to welcome complaints 
as a source of business improvement. 
Wherever possible, RBF will use member 
feedback to improve our processes and 
member experience.

Regular reporting on complaints is 
provided to the Administration and 
Remuneration Committee and the 
RBF Leadership Group. As detailed in 
the following graph, a significant and 
sustained reduction in the number of 
complaints was recorded in 2012-13. 
The spike of complaints in 2011-12 
resulted from a range of transition issues 
following the outsourcing of member 
administration.

External review of complaint
RBF provides members with a means 
by which to seek resolution of their 
complaints via an external dispute 
resolution scheme if a satisfactory 
resolution cannot be achieved through  
our internal complaints handling process.

That external body is the Ombudsman 
Tasmania, an independent officer 
appointed by the Governor of Tasmania. 
Complaints must be lodged with the 
Ombudsman within certain time limits. 

There were 15 matters referred to the 
Ombudsman during 2012-13.

RBF Financial Planning 
complaint process
Number of complaints
There were no formal complaints 
relating to financial planning advice  
during 2012-13. 

Procedure to lodge a complaint
Members who have a complaint about 
RBF Financial Planning Pty Ltd services 
are asked to contact their RBF Financial 
Planner about the complaint direct in 
the first instance. If the complaint is not 
resolved to the member’s satisfaction 
within five days, members have the option 
to contact The Responsible Manager by 
phone or by letter.

Feedback, reviews, complaints and 
public interest disclosures
RBF and RBF Financial Planning Pty Ltd recognise the 
importance of member satisfaction, and acknowledges  
the rights of members and other stakeholders. 

18

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Jul-11 Jul-12 Jan-13Oct-12 Apr-13

Received complaints

Oct-11 Jan-12 Apr-12

Received complaints



RBF Annual Report 2012-13 • 75

There is no charge to lodge a complaint 
with RBF Financial Planning Pty Ltd.

The principles of natural justice apply  
to all complaints. 

External review of complaint
RBF Financial Planning Pty Ltd provides 
members with a means by which to 
seek resolution of their complaints via 
an external dispute resolution scheme 
if a satisfactory resolution cannot be 
achieved through our internal complaints 
handling process. That external body is 
the Financial Ombudsman Service. 

There were no matters referred to  
the Financial Ombudsman Service  
during 2012-13.

RBF Financial Planning Pty Ltd is 
regulated by the Australian Securities 
and Investments Commission (ASIC). 
The ASIC website also contains useful 
information in relation to the types of 
complaints handled by ASIC. To obtain 
further information, contact ASIC on  
1300 300 630 or visit www.asic.gov.au 

Enquiries and requests  
for information
Any enquiries received on the  
RBF Enquiry Line, that are determined to 
be a complaint are recorded and referred  
to the RBF Officer responsible for 
enquiries and complaints.

Requests for Prescribed Information 
under the Corporations Act 2001 are 
normally required in writing.

Two requests under Right to Information 
were received in 2012-13.

Applications made pursuant to the  
Right to Information Act 2009 will be  
dealt with in accordance with that Act. 

Email and written enquiries are responded 
to within seven days of the request.  
The response can be by telephone,  
fax, email or in writing.

A Family Law enquiry must be responded 
to within a reasonable time having regard 
to the information requested and Family 
Law legislation. 

A total of 82 Family Law enquiries  
were received in 2012-13.

Except for Family Law requests and 
applications made under the Right to 
Information Act 2009, no charges will be 
made for the supply of information.

Privacy
Complaints are treated as confidential. 
RBF complies with the principles of the 
Personal Information Protection Act 2004 
and the Privacy Act 1988.

For more information, please refer to the 
RBF Privacy Policy which can be found  
on the RBF website, www.rbf.com.au

Public Interest Disclosures
The objectives of the Public Interest 
Disclosures Act 2002 (the Act) are to:

•• encourage and facilitate disclosures  
of improper conduct by public officers 
and public bodies; 

•• protect a person making a disclosure 
from reprisals; protect other relevant 
persons from reprisals; 

•• provide for the matters disclosed  
to be properly investigated and  
dealt with; and 

•• provide all parties involved with  
natural justice.

During 2012-13 there were:

•• no disclosures made to the  
RBF Board;

•• no public interest disclosure  
matters referred to the RBF Board  
by the Ombudsman;

•• no public interest disclosure matters 
referred by the RBF Board to the 
Ombudsman to investigate;

•• no public interest disclosure matters 
taken over by the Ombudsman from  
the RBF Board; and

•• no recommendations of the 
Ombudsman that relate to the  
RBF Board.

The RBF Board has implemented a 
framework to support the management  
of public interest disclosures at RBF. 

More information is available on the 
website at www.rbf.com.au, or by 
contacting either of the following RBF 
Public Interest Disclosures Officers:

Mr Peter Wise  
Legal Counsel  
21 Kirksway Place  
Hobart TAS 7000  
Phone: (03) 6165 1795  
Email: Peter.Wise@rbf.com.au 

Mrs Judith Keith  
Manager, Product Support  
21 Kirksway Place  
Hobart TAS 7000  
Phone: (03) 6165 1833  
Email: Judith.Keith@rbf.com.au

https://secure.superfacts.com/attachments/Form/RBF_PrivacyPolicy.pdf
https://secure.superfacts.com/attachments/Form/RBF_PublicInterestDiscFactSheet.pdf
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Funds under management per asset class

Investment managers 
as at 30 June 2013

30 June 2013
($,000)

30 June 2012
($,000)

Net movement
($,000)

Australian Shares

Balanced Equity Management Pty Ltd

Concise Asset Management Ltd 

Invesco Australia Ltd

Schroder Investment Management Australia Ltd

Tribeca Investment Partners Pty Ltd

1,074,926 1,019,658 55,268

International Shares

Apostle Asset Management Ltd

Baillie Gifford Overseas Ltd

Capital International Inc

Harding Loevner LP

Independent Franchise Partners LLP

Industry Funds Management Pty Ltd

Mesirow Financial Holdings Inc

Pzena Investment Management LLC

891,865 707,426 184,439

Diversified Fixed Interest

Brandywine Global Investment Management LLC

PIMCO Australia Ltd

RBF Commercial Mortgages 

Super Loans Trust 

651,211 604,514 46,697

Property

AMP Capital Investors Ltd

Gresham Property Funds Management Ltd

Goodman Australia Industrial Fund

Lend Lease Investment Management Ltd

RBF Direct Property 

Retirement Villages Group Management Ltd

461,013 473,523 (12,510)

Funds under management19
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Funds under management per asset class

Investment managers 
as at 30 June 2013

30 June 2013
($,000)

30 June 2012
($,000)

Net movement
($,000)

Infrastructure

AMP Capital Investors Ltd

Hastings Fund Management Ltd

Tasmanian Gateway Consortium Holdings Pty Ltd

425,607 337,314 88,293

Absolute Return

BNP Paribas Investment Partners (Australia) Ltd

GMO Australia Ltd

JANA Investment Advisers Pty Ltd

175,521 168,653 6,868

Alternative Debt

Babson Capital Management LLC

Bentham Asset Management Pty Ltd

Hastings Fund Management Ltd

149,643 89,977 59,666

Cash

FIIG Securities Limited

Perennial Investment Partners Ltd

Westpac Banking Corporation

297,456 280,849 16,607

Enhanced Cash

Cash Management (Westpac) 

Perennial Investment Partners Ltd 

185,823 187,141 (1,318)

Unit Trust Member Investment Choice Option Investments

AMP RIL Balanced

11,966 11,022 944

TOTAL RBF 4,325,031 3,880,077 444,954
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 • the cost model was reviewed in 
September 2012 and resulted  
in a reduction in the operating  
costs allocated to the defined  
benefit schemes;

 • the operating, capital and fund  
budgets were successfully approved 
by the RBF Board in May 2013 for the 
2013-14 financial year;

 • continued active management of  
the investment effective rates of each 
Member Investment Choice option  
to ensure after tax returns are optimal 
for members; and

 • sound financial management resulting 
in a 2012-13 Operating and Fund 
Expenses Budget outcome of 1.6% 
under budget.

We look forward to 2013-14 and to 
continuing to deliver quality financial 
management to the organisation  
and our members.

Anthony Bellamy 
Chief Financial Officer

Chief Financial Officer Message20
At RBF, our financial operations remain 
aligned to our strategic goals and 
direction. Financial decisions are made 
with the interest of our members at the 
forefront.

The superannuation industry is ever 
changing, and these changes can 
have significant financial impacts on 
the organisation and our members. It is 
therefore crucial for RBF to continue to 
maintain a strong finance function that 
supports contemporary product and 
service offerings at a competitive price 
to our members, providing accurate and 
timely financial information for senior 
management and the RBF Board by 
implementing the financial strategies  
of the organisation.

A brief look at a few of the highlights in 
Finance at RBF in 2012-13:

 • the unit pricing model implemented 
in March 2013 has delivered a robust 
treasury management process  
fully aligned with the contemporary 
unitised environment considered  
as best practice;

 • RBF has continued to receive 
unqualified audit opinions on our 
external audit which supports the 
effective internal accounting processes 
in place;
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The audited RBF Annual Financial 
Statements are provided in the following 
section. The RBF Annual Financial Report 
is prepared by RBF’s Finance Division. 
The Report is based on RBF’s general 
ledger balances, custodian investment and 
taxation reports, together with members’ 
funds information sourced from Mercer’s 
administration systems.

The Report includes the individual 
schemes’ Financial Statements, which 
comprise a Statement of Financial Position/
Statement of Net Assets, Operating 
Statement/Statement of Changes in Net 
Assets and Statement of Cash Flows  
(RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme 
only), and Notes to these Financial 
Statements. The Report also includes 
a Trustee Statement, Auditor’s Report 
and Additional Financial Instruments 
Disclosures. The Report is prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards, legislative requirements and  
the requirements of the Trust Deeds.

The RBF Board approves both an annual 
Operating and Fund Expenses Budget and 
a Fund Budget.

The Operating and Fund Expenses Budget 
represents the resources allocated by 
the RBF Board to undertake the business 
activities of the Fund. The RBF Leadership 
Group places a high priority on managing 
within the RBF Board approved budget. 

The 2012-13 Operating and Fund Expenses 
Budget was approved by the RBF Board 
in May 2012. End of month reporting was 
provided to the Board during 2012-13 and 
a projected end of year outcome provided 
from September 2012 through to June 
2013. As previously noted, the 2012-13 
outcome was under budget by 1.6%.

The Fund Budget is heavily influenced by 
investment returns. 

completed. The internal controls and 
procedures audit supporting investment-
related information is reflected in the 
Financial Statements and Notes to the 
Financial Statements.

Member administration controls
An independent audit of the internal controls 
and procedures the administrator has over 
superannuation member administration  
is completed. The internal controls and 
procedures audited support information is 
reflected in the Financial Statements and 
Notes to the Financial Statements.

Tax review
A tax review of the key tax numbers 
in the Statement of Financial Position/
Statement of Net Assets and Operating 
Statement/Statement of Changes in Net 
Assets is completed by RBF’s internal tax 
specialist in conjunction with its external 
taxation consultant, both of whom provide 
assurance over these numbers. In-house 
tax expertise assists in maintaining 
comprehensive tax management and 
accuracy of tax expense within the Fund.

External audit clearance
RBF’s external auditor conducts an 
independent audit of the Financial 
Statements and Notes to the Financial 
Statements to provide an opinion as to 
whether the Financial Statements are 
presented fairly.

Internal audit
RBF’s internal auditor completes reviews 
of internal controls and procedures over 
key RBF transactions that are represented 
in the Financial Statements and Notes to 

the Financial Statements.

Financial management21

Prudent financial management underpins 
RBF’s efforts to achieve its strategic 
objectives, in particular maintaining our 
cost/value focus and ensuring the net 
benefit delivered to members is maximised. 
Continuous review of financial controls and 
procedures forms part of RBF’s commitment 
to keeping costs within budget.

Unclaimed superannuation benefits
RBF is required by State legislation 
to transfer unclaimed superannuation 
benefits to State Treasury when the  
benefit becomes payable. No transfers 
were made in 2012-13. 

Preparation of the Financial 
Statements
The RBF Financial Statements are 
prepared by RBF’s Finance Division 
and subjected to both internal and 
independent external review.

Investment administration controls 
An independent audit of the internal 
controls and procedures the custodian 
has over custody, investment 
administration, unit registry and related 
information technology services is 

The net assets of RBF at 30 June 2013 
were considerably above the Fund 
Budget, reflecting the 16.2% return 
after fees and taxes of the default 
RBF Actively Managed option and the 
first quartile performance of all RBF 
investment options.
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Management representation letter
RBF’s Chief Executive Officer and 
Chief Financial Officer provide a letter 
to the external auditor confirming their 
responsibility in ensuring that the Financial 
Statements are fairly presented.

Operating risk reserve
This reserve is used to cover unforeseen 
or unrecouped costs in relation to the 
operations of RBF. RBF targets its reserve 
at no more than 0.5% of total RBF assets.

This reserve is managed in accordance 
with the RBF Reserves Policy. Details of 
movements are contained in the attached 
Financial Statements.

GST claimed in respect of services 
acquired from 1 July 2012 is correct.

RBF utilises both staff taxation expertise 
and services from external experts to 
manage our tax risks and obligations. 
External expertise is provided by CA King 
and Associates and Ernst & Young.

Register of Relevant Interests and Duties 

2012 – 2013

Name Duties relating  
to Fund

Principal Employer 
and position

Company 
Directorships 

Other Positions  
or Interests

Conflict 
management

Damian Egan President: 

RBF Board 

Partner, Murdoch 
Clarke Lawyers

 • Tasmanian Gateway 
Holding Corporation 
Pty Ltd

 • Tasmanian Gateway 
Corporation Pty Ltd

 • Tasmanian 
Gateway Property 
Corporation Pty Ltd

 • Hobart International 
Airport Pty Ltd

 • RBF Direct Property  
Pty Ltd

 • 66-88 Collins Street  
Pty Ltd

 • MCMF Pty Ltd 

Superannuation: 
RBF Tasmanian 
Accumulation Scheme

 • Declared and noted. 
 • Manage the 
conflict by the use 
of non-conflicted 
Board Members to 
maintain the integrity 
of the process. 

 • Avoid discussion 
and voting on 
matters where 
the integrity of the 
process would be 
compromised  
by participation.

Don Challen Deputy President:

RBF Board 

Chairman of the:

Administration 
and Remuneration 
Committee

Various consulting 
and board 
memberships

 • Transend Networks 
Pty Ltd

 • Motor Accidents 
Insurance Board

 • Tasmanian Public 
Finance Corporation 

 • Tasmanian 
Symphony 
Orchestra  
Holdings Ltd

 • Tasmanian 
Symphony 
Orchestra Pty Ltd

Board Member:

Network Integration 
Transition Board

Board Member:

Advisory Board 
Lazard Pty Ltd 
(Australia)

Independent Chair:

Victorian Independent 
Broad-Based 
Anti-Corruption 
Commission Audit 
and Risk Management 
Committee

 • Declared and noted. 
 • Manage the 
conflict by the use 
of non-conflicted 
Board Members to 
maintain the integrity 
of the process. 

 • Avoid discussion 
and voting on 
matters where 
the integrity of the 
process would be 
compromised  
by participation.

Payments to Regulators
Payments were made to the Australian 
Securities and Investments Commission 
as fees for lodgement of the Financial 
Statements and Authorised Representatives 
of RBF Financial Planning Pty Ltd.

Significant tax issues

Reduction in the GST credit
As a result of new GST regulations, from 
1 July 2012 RBF only receives the benefit 
of 55% of any GST payable on services 
provided to it by the Board, rather than 
75%. However, RBF has made a number 
of system changes to ensure that any 
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Name Duties relating  
to Fund

Principal Employer 
and position

Company 
Directorships 

Other Positions  
or Interests

Conflict 
management

Neroli Ellis Board Member:

RBF Board

Member of the:

 • Risk and Audit 
Committee

 • Member Insurance 
Committee

State Secretary, 
Australian Nurses 
Union

N/A N/A  • Declared and noted. 
 • Manage the 
conflict by the use 
of non-conflicted 
Board Members to 
maintain the integrity 
of the process. 

 • Avoid discussion 
and voting on 
matters where 
the integrity of the 
process would be 
compromised by 
participation.

John Harman Board Member:

RBF Board

Member of the:

Administration 
and Remuneration 
Committee

Retired RBF Financial  
Planning Pty Ltd

Income: 

RBF Life Pension

 • Declared and noted. 
 • Manage the 
conflict by the use 
of non-conflicted 
Board Members to 
maintain the integrity 
of the process. 

 • Avoid discussion 
and voting on 
matters where 
the integrity of the 
process would be 
compromised by 
participation.

Lindsay Jones Board Member:

RBF Board

Chairman of the:

Member Insurance 
Committee

Member of the:

Risk and Audit 
Committee

Retired N/A Superannuation: 
RBF Tasmanian 
Accumulation Scheme

Superannuation: 
RBF (owned by wife)

Income:  
RBF Life Pension

Director:  
Community Transport 
Services Tas

Vice President: 
CPSU (SPSFT)

 • Declared and noted. 
 • Manage the 
conflict by the use 
of non-conflicted 
Board Members to 
maintain the integrity 
of the process. 

 • Avoid discussion 
and voting on 
matters where 
the integrity of the 
process would be 
compromised by 
participation.

Elizabeth Thomas Board Member: 

RBF Board

Member of the:

Administration 
and Remuneration 
Committee

Principal of Thomas 
Consulting Tasmania 

Common Ground 
Tasmania Pty Ltd 

Damon Thomas 
(husband) – Lord 
Mayor of Hobart

 • Declared and noted. 
 • Manage the 
conflict by the use 
of non-conflicted 
Board Members to 
maintain the integrity 
of the process. 

 • Avoid discussion 
and voting on 
matters where 
the integrity of the 
process would be 
compromised by 
participation.
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Name Duties relating  
to Fund

Principal Employer 
and position

Company 
Directorships 

Other Positions  
or Interests

Conflict 
management

John Wilcox Board Member: 

RBF Board

Chairman of the:

Risk and Audit 
Committee

Member of the:

Member Insurance 
Committee

Retired N/A Income:

RBF Account Based 
Pension

Income: 

Tas Marine 
Construction (salary)

Income: 

RBF pension  
(owned by wife)

 • Declared and noted. 
 • Manage the 
conflict by the use 
of non-conflicted 
Board Members to 
maintain the integrity 
of the process. 

 • Avoid discussion 
and voting on 
matters where 
the integrity of the 
process would be 
compromised by 
participation.

Philip Mussared Administrator of  
the Fund

Chief Executive 
Officer: 

RBF

 • RBF Financial 
Planning Pty Ltd

 • Tasmanian Gateway 
Holding Corporation 
Pty Ltd

 • Tasmanian Gateway 
Corporation Pty Ltd

 • Tasmanian 
Gateway Property 
Corporation Pty Ltd

 • Hobart International 
Airport Pty Ltd

 • RBF Property  
Pty Ltd

 • RBF Direct Pty Ltd

Superannuation:

RBF Tasmanian 
Accumulation Scheme

 • Declared and noted. 
 • Manage the 
conflict by the use 
of non-conflicted 
Board Members to 
maintain the integrity 
of the process. 

 • Avoid discussion 
and voting on 
matters where 
the integrity of the 
process would be 
compromised by 
participation.

Nick Connor Administrator of  
the Fund

Chief Operations 
Officer: 

RBF

 • RBF Financial 
Planning Pty Ltd

 • RBF Property  
Pty Ltd

 • RBF Direct Pty Ltd

Superannuation:

RBF Tasmanian 
Accumulation Scheme

 • Declared and noted. 
 • Manage the 
conflict by the use 
of non-conflicted 
Board Members to 
maintain the integrity 
of the process. 

 • Avoid discussion 
and voting on 
matters where 
the integrity of the 
process would be 
compromised by 
participation.

Anthony Bellamy Administrator of  
the Fund

Chief Financial 
Officer: 

RBF

N/A Superannuation:

RBF Tasmanian 
Accumulation Scheme

 • Declared and noted. 
 • Manage the 
conflict by the use 
of non-conflicted 
Board Members to 
maintain the integrity 
of the process. 

 • Avoid discussion 
and voting on 
matters where 
the integrity of the 
process would be 
compromised by 
participation.
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Name Duties relating  
to Fund

Principal Employer 
and position

Company 
Directorships 

Other Positions  
or Interests

Conflict 
management

Dr Ian Lundy Administrator of  
the Fund

Chief Investments 
Officer: 

RBF

Alternate Director:

 • Tasmanian Gateway 
Holding Corporation 
Pty Ltd

Alternate Director:

 • Tasmanian Gateway 
Corporation Pty Ltd

Alternate Director:

 • Tasmanian 
Gateway Property 
Corporation Pty Ltd

Alternate Director:

 • Hobart International 
Airport Pty Ltd

 • Kreml Pty Ltd
 • Forte Investment 
Advisors Pty Ltd

N/A  • Declared and noted. 
 • Manage the 
conflict by the use 
of non-conflicted 
Board Members to 
maintain the integrity 
of the process. 

 • Avoid discussion 
and voting on 
matters where 
the integrity of the 
process would be 
compromised by 
participation.

Tim Baker Administrator of  
the Fund

General Manager 
Corporate Support:

RBF

N/A Superannuation:

Tasmanian 
Accumulation Scheme

Superannuation:

Contributory Scheme

Deloitte Touche 
Tohmatsu Limited 
(wife holds the 
position of Director)

Director of  
Advisory Board: 
Centacare Tasmania

 • Declared and noted. 
 • Manage the 
conflict by the use 
of non-conflicted 
Board Members to 
maintain the integrity 
of the process. 

 • Avoid discussion 
and voting on 
matters where 
the integrity of the 
process would be 
compromised by 
participation.

Mark Leis Administrator of  
the Fund

General Manager 
Governance and 
Secretariat:

RBF

N/A Superannuation:

RBF Tasmanian 
Accumulation Scheme

Wise Lord Ferguson 
(wife holds the 
position of a salaried 
partner)

 • Declared and noted. 
 • Manage the 
conflict by the use 
of non-conflicted 
Board Members to 
maintain the integrity 
of the process. 

 • Avoid discussion 
and voting on 
matters where 
the integrity of the 
process would be 
compromised by 
participation.
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Financial statements22
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Retirement Benefits Fund Board
Trustee’s statement
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Note 2013  
$’000

2012 
 $’000

ASSETS

Cash Assets

Cash at bank 2(e), 2(t)  29,557  13,374 

Receivables

Contributions and pensions 3(a)  1,735  (7,086)

Investment income accrued 3(b)  434  468 

Other 3(c)  1,436  1,141 

GST  240  176 

Income tax 4(c)  24,901  26,478 

Interfund 2(f)  5,020  120,988 

 33,766  142,165 

Investments

Australian equities  394,283  378,680 

International equities  298,686  231,200 

Diversified fixed interest 5  183,316  159,471 

Property  229,069  429,021 

Alternative investments  373,524  71,324 

Cash deposits  64,709  60,016 

 1,543,587  1,329,712 

Other assets

Plant, equipment and intangibles  196  1,561 

RBF Financial Planning Pty Ltd  171  168 

Deferred tax asset 4(d)  3,233  3,365 

 3,600  5,094 

TOTAL ASSETS  1,610,510  1,490,345 

LIABILITIES

Payables

Other 6  8,566  7,775 

 8,566  7,775 

Provisions

Contributions in advance 7  3,649  3,925 

Provision for employee entitlements 8  17,622  19,976 

 21,271  23,901 

Tax Liabilities

Deferred tax liability 4(e)  9,315  4,931 

Superannuation contributions surcharge payable  1,501  1,714 

 10,816  6,645 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  40,653  38,321 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS  1,569,857  1,452,024

The above Statement of Net Assets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

RBF Contributory Scheme   
Statement of net assets as at 30 June 2013 
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Note 2013  
$’000

2012 
 $’000

INVESTMENT REVENUE

Interest 9  8,703  8,754 

Dividends 9  20,592  17,191 

Distributions 9  32,040  29,610 

Property rentals 9  1,907  2,031 

Movement in net market value of investments 10  140,720  (58,282)

 203,962  (696)

Less: direct investment expenses  4,695  5,167 

Gross (loss)/profit on investment activities  199,267  (5,863)

CONTRIBUTION REVENUE

Employer contributions  282,067  310,853 

Member contributions  29,537  36,062 

 311,604  346,915 

OTHER NET REVENUE/(EXPENSE) 11  (69)  (932)

TOTAL REVENUE  510,802  340,120 

BENEFITS PAID

Pensions  232,797  217,932 

Lump sums  138,032  151,525 

Refunds & interest  41  (30)

 370,870  369,427 

EXPENSES

General administration expenses 12  20,468  24,081 

TOTAL EXPENSES  391,338  393,508 

NET CHANGE IN NET ASSETS BEFORE INCOME TAX  119,464  (53,388)

INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/BENEFIT 4(a)  (1,631)  3,418 

NET CHANGE IN NET ASSETS AFTER INCOME TAX  117,833  (49,970)

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS at the beginning of the financial year  1,452,024  1,501,994 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS at the end of the financial year  1,569,857  1,452,024

The above Statement of Changes in Net Assets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

RBF Contributory Scheme   
Statement of changes in net assets for the year ended 30 June 2013 
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RBF Contributory Scheme
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013

1. Operation of the Fund
The RBF Contributory Scheme (the Scheme) is a defined benefit scheme, domiciled in Australia that provides benefits to its members 
pursuant to the provisions of the Retirement Benefits Act 1993. The address of the Scheme’s registered office is 21 Kirksway Place, 
Hobart, Tasmania, 7000.

Reforms to public sector superannuation, effective 15 May 1999, have resulted in the closure of the Scheme to public sector employees 
employed on or after that date.

The Trustee of the Scheme is the Retirement Benefits Fund Board (ABN: 97 724 593 931).

‘The Fund’ refers to the Retirement Benefits Fund (ABN: 51 737 334 954) as a whole when referenced throughout the financial 
statements and includes the following schemes:

 • RBF Contributory Scheme (the Scheme)

 • Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme (TAS)

 • Parliamentary Superannuation Fund (PSF)

 • Parliamentary Retirement Benefits Fund (PRBF)

 • State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme (SFCSS)

 • Tasmanian Ambulance Services Superannuation Scheme (TASSS)

‘The Board’ refers to the Retirement Benefits Fund Board (ABN: 97 724 593 931) as Trustee of the Fund when referenced throughout  
the financial statements.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
a. Basis of preparation

The financial report is a general purpose report which has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AAS 
25 ‘Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans’ (AAS 25) as amended by AASB 2005-13 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards (AAS 25)’, other applicable Accounting Standards, other mandatory requirements, the provisions of the Retirement Benefits 
Act 1993, the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme Trust Deed, and relevant legislative requirements. 

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 9 September 2013.

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous year, unless specifically stated. 

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars, being the functional currency, and has been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars.

b. Statement of compliance 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) form the basis of Australian Accounting Standards adopted by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (AASB). Certain requirements of AAS 25 however differ from the equivalent requirements that would be 
applied under IFRS. Since AAS 25 is the principal standard that applies to the financial statements, other standards, including IFRS,  
are also applied where necessary except to the extent that they differ from AAS 25.

The following standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been identified as those which may impact the entity  
in the period of initial application. They have mandatory application dates for future reporting periods and the Scheme has decided  
not to early adopt.

 • AASB 9: Financial Instruments (December 2010) and AASB 2010-07: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from AASB 9 (December 2010) (AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 
1038 and Interpretations 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127) (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013). 
These standards are applicable retrospectively and include revised requirements for the classification and measurement of financial 
instruments, as well as recognition and derecognition requirements for financial instruments. These standards are not expected to 
significantly impact the Fund.

 • AASB 10: Consolidated Financial Statements. AASB 10 introduces a single control model to determine whether an investee should 
be consolidated. As a result, the Scheme may need to consider whether an investee should be consolidated and may need change 
its consolidation conclusion in respect of its investees, which may lead to changes in the current accounting for its investees. The 
standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 and is not expected to significantly impact the Fund.
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 • AASB 119: Employee Benefits. AASB 119 removes the “corridor” approach from AASB 119, thereby requiring all entities to recognise 
all changes in a net defined benefit liability (asset) (including actuarial gains and losses, unvested past service costs, settlements and 
curtailments) when they occur. The revised standard will also replace the interest cost and expected return on assets components 
of superannuation expense with a single net interest cost and remove the deduction for investment tax from the discount rate. The 
standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 and has not been early adopted by the Fund.

 • Investment Entities (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27). These amendments to IFRS define an investment entity and 
introduce an exception to consolidating particular subsidiaries for investment entities. These amendments require an investment entity 
to measure those subsidiaries at fair value. As a result, the Fund may qualify as an investment entity under the amendments and 
need to change its consolidation conclusion in respect of its investees, which may lead to changes in the current accounting for its 
investees. The AASB has issued ED 233 Australian Additional Disclosures – Investment Entities, which proposes to require additional 
disclosures of consolidated financial information where the exception applies. ED 233 and the Investment Entities Amendments, if 
adopted as final standards by the AASB, are proposed to be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. 

If these accounting standards had been adopted, the Board does not believe that there would have been a material impact to either the 
statement of net assets as at for the year to 30 June 2013 or the Statement of Changes in Net Assets for the year to 30 June 2013.

c. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the financial statements requires the Trustees to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised.

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable in 
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities where 
they are not available from independent sources. The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the values of assets and liabilities are:

 • Valuation of Accrued Benefits – The amount of accrued benefits has been actuarially determined. The key assumptions are discussed 
in note 13.

 • Valuation of Investments – The key valuation measures are set out in note 2(d).

d. Investments 

Investments of the Scheme are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given. 

After initial recognition, investments and derivatives are measured at net market value in the statement of net assets as at reporting date. 
Movements in the net market value of investments and derivatives are recognised in the Statement of Changes in Net Assets in the 
periods in which they occur.

The net market value of investments has been determined as follows: 

 • Cash and cash equivalents are valued at face value;

 • Listed equities are recorded at the ‘last’ price quoted at the reporting date on the exchange that the equity is listed less a provision  
for disposal costs;

 • Unlisted equities are valued at net market value using the valuation technique;

 • Bonds are measured at their capital fair value using the valuation technique;

 • Foreign exchange contracts are measured at fair value (the present value of all future cashflows);

 • Options and futures are recognised at their quoted published prices in an active market and on exchange bid or offer prices;

 • Direct properties are valued at their net market values as determined by an independent valuer; and

 • All other investments are valued at the net market value as assessed by the Board.

The valuation techniques include the use of recent arm’s length market transactions, the current fair value of any other instrument that is 
significantly similar, discounted cashflow techniques, option pricing models or other valuation techniques that provide a reliable estimate 
of prices obtained.

The investments of the Scheme are managed on behalf of the Board by selected investment managers. Disclosure of the investment 
managers are detailed in the Funds Under Management section of the Annual Report.
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e. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of net assets comprise cash at bank, cash on hand and short-term deposits with an 
original maturity of three months or less. 

f. Other receivables and other payables

Other receivables are carried at nominal amounts due, which approximate net market value. Sundry debtors are normally settled within 
30 days. An allowance for uncollectible amounts is only made where there is objective evidence that the debt will not be collected. 
Prepayments are non-interest bearing and expensed over the terms of the relevant contract. 

Other payables are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the Fund 
or the Board, and are carried at nominal amounts which approximate net market value. Sundry creditors and accrued expenses are 
normally settled on 30 day terms. 

The interfund receivables/payables are non-interest bearing and monitored on a monthly basis. These balances arise as a result of the 
rebalancing of the asset allocation and other transactions which have an effect on two or more sub funds. As a result of the move to  
unit pricing during the year, interfund receivables/payables were realigned. These transactions did not impact the net asset position of 
any schemes. 

g. Accrued defined benefits

The liability for accrued defined benefits of the Scheme at 30 June 2013 is not included in the statement of net assets, the amount being 
reported by way of note 13.

The amount of accrued defined benefits is determined on the basis of the present value of expected future payments which arise from 
membership of the Scheme, to the measurement date. The figure reported in note 13 has been determined by reference to expected 
future salary levels and by application of a market-based, risk-adjusted discount rate and relevant actuarial assumptions.

h. Employee entitlements

Provision is made for the Scheme’s liability for employee entitlements arising from services rendered by the Board’s employees to the 
end of the financial year. These benefits include annual leave, long service leave and superannuation. Employee entitlements expected 
to be settled within one year arising from salaries, annual leave and long service leave, have been measured at their nominal amount. 
Other employee entitlements, payable later than one year, have been measured at the present value of the estimated cash flow in 
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. In determining the present value of future cash flows, the interest 
rates attaching to government securities, which have terms to maturity, approximating the terms of the related liability, are used.

Employee entitlement expenses are in respect of the following categories:

 • wages and salaries, annual leave, long service leave and sick leave;

 • other types of employee entitlements,

and are included on the Statement of Changes in Net Assets on a net basis in their respective categories.

Superannuation contributions to employees’ accumulation funds are charged as expenses when incurred. Increases in liabilities of 
employees’ defined benefit funds are charged as expenses when incurred.

i. Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent it is probable the economic benefits will flow to the Scheme and the revenue can be reliably 
measured. The following specific recognition criteria must be met before revenue is recognised:

Movement in net market values

Changes in the net market value of investments are calculated as the difference between the net market value at sale, or at balance date, 
and the net market value at the previous valuation point. All changes are recognised in the Statement of Changes in Net Assets. 

Contributions revenue

Contributions are recognised when control of the asset has been attained and are recorded, gross of any tax, in the period to which  
they relate. 

Interest

Interest revenues are recognised when the control of the right to receive consideration for the provision of, or investment in, assets  
has been attained.

Dividends

Dividends on quoted equities are recognised on the date the dividend is declared.
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Distributions

Distributions are recognised as at the date the unit value is quoted ex-distribution and where not received at reporting date, are reflected 
in the statement of net assets as a receivable at net market value. 

Rent income

Rent on the Scheme’s internally managed Direct Property portfolio is recorded on an accrual basis.

j. Foreign currency 

Both the functional and presentation currency of the Fund is Australian dollars.

Cash and investment transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign currency exchange rate ruling at the date of the 
transaction into the portfolio currency equivalents (the ‘functional currency’).

Subsequently foreign denominated cash and investments are re-valued, using the exchange rate at the reporting date into the functional 
currency. Foreign currency exchange differences arising on translation and realised gains and losses on disposals or settlements of 
monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in the Statement of Changes in Net Assets in the period in which they arise.

k. Leases

Leases are classified at their inception as either an operating or finance lease based on the economic substance of the agreement so 
as to reflect the risks and benefits incidental to ownership.

Operating leases

The minimum operating lease payments, where the lessor effectively retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the 
leased item, are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis in the periods in which they are incurred.

l. Income tax

The Scheme is part of a complying superannuation fund for the purposes of the provisions of the Income Tax Assessment Act. 
Accordingly, the concessional tax rate of 15% has been applied to the Scheme’s taxable income.

Income tax on the Statement of Changes in Net Assets for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is reflected in the 
Statement of Changes in Net Assets.

Tax-effect accounting is applied using the liability method whereby income tax is regarded as an expense and is calculated on the 
accounting profit after allowing for permanent differences. To the extent temporary differences occur between the time items are 
recognised in the financial statements and when items are taken into account in determining taxable income, the net related taxation 
benefit or liability, calculated at current rates, is disclosed as a deferred tax asset or a deferred tax liability. The net deferred tax asset, 
relating to tax losses and temporary differences, is not carried forward as an asset, unless the benefit has a high probability of being 
realised. Capital gains tax applicable on unrealised investment gains or losses has been included in the income tax expense. 

The deferred tax liability would be expected to be settled 12 months or more from the reporting date as it relates to investments which 
are maintained for a long-term objective. 

m.  Goods and services tax (GST)

Revenues are recognised net of the amount of GST where applicable. Expenses and assets are also recognised net of the amount of 
GST where applicable to the extent that the GST is recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). Where GST is not recoverable, 
it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as an expense item as applicable.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from the taxation authority is included as part of receivables in the statement of net assets.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, the GST component of cash flows arising from operating, investing or financing activities, which  
are either recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO, is in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standard classification of  
operating costs.

n. No Tax File Number (TFN) contributions tax

Where a member does not provide their TFN to the Fund, the Fund may be required to pay no-TFN contributions tax at a rate of 31.5% 
on contributions received from and on behalf of the member. The no-TFN contributions tax applies in addition to the concessional 
contributions tax rate of 15% applicable to such contributions.

A no-TFN contributions tax liability recognised by the Fund will be charged to the relevant member’s no-TFN contributions tax liability 
and the tax offset will be included in the relevant member’s account.
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o. Superannuation contributions surcharge

The Superannuation Laws Amendment (Abolition of Surcharge) Act 2005 abolishes both the superannuation contributions surcharge and 
the termination payments surcharge in respect of superannuation contributions and certain termination payments made or received on 
or after 1 July 2005. Assessments for surcharge in respect of contributions and payments for the year ended 30 June 2005 and prior 
years will continue to be issued and remain payable. Interest will continue to be debited to outstanding balances on members account.

Superannuation Contribution Surcharge is levied on surchargeable contributions for a relevant year on the basis of the individual 
member’s adjusted taxable income for that year. The liability for the Superannuation Contribution Surcharge is recognised when  
the assessment is received, as the Board considers this is when it can be reliably measured.

The amount of the liability brought to account at balance date in respect of the financial years ended 30 June 1997 through to 
 30 June 2005 has been based on the actual surcharge calculated by the Australian Taxation Office and reported to the Board.  
The superannuation surcharge liability recognised by the Board has been charged to the relevant members’ accounts.

p. Plant, equipment and intangibles

Fixtures and fittings, computer hardware, other plant and equipment and intangibles, including work in progress, are recorded at historic 
cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. 
The cost of projects and self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour and any other costs directly attributable 
to bringing the asset to a working condition of its intended use.

All applicable items of plant, equipment and intangibles having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated or amortised over their 
useful lives in a manner which reflects the consumption of their service potential, unless a project is approved by the Board as being of 
a strategic nature, i.e. transforming the business for the members. Strategic projects are either partly or fully funded from outside the 
operating and fund expenses budget. The cost is initially capitalised and on its completion the capitalised cost is expensed against the 
appropriate reserve pool or investment assets. The cost of projects that affect both the Scheme and TAS is allocated in accordance  
with the Fund’s activity based costing methodology.

q. Benefits payable

Benefits payable comprise the entitlements of members who ceased employment or were entitled to an invalidity withdrawal prior  
to year end but had not been paid at that time. Benefits payable are normally settled within 30 days.

r. Provisions

Provisions are recognised when there is a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is probable that  
an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured.

s. Comparatives

Where necessary, comparatives have been reclassified and repositioned for consistency with current year disclosures.

t. Unit pricing

The Fund moved to a unit pricing environment as at 15 March 2013. In a unitised environment the net value of the Fund’s investment 
assets are broken into portions of ownership. Each beneficiary’s interests are expressed as a proportion of the underlying Investment 
Pools in which they are invested. 

For the defined benefit schemes a notional unit price is calculated for the purposes of deriving returns on investment assets. The unit 
price is not used for the calculation of member benefits. 

Crediting rates were used for all schemes prior to 15 March 2013. When ‘unit price’ is referred to throughout the financial statements  
this encompasses the crediting rate prior to 15 March 2013 and the unit price post 15 March 2013. 

During the transition to unitisation, movements of assets were required to align the schemes and to fund the reserves and provisions. 
As a result, an increased volume of investment transactions occurred in 2012-13 which is reflected in the cash flow statement and an 
increase in cash assets held. 
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3. Receivables
a. Contributions and pensions receivables:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Pension debtors 1,199 –

Exit debtors 536 (7,086)

1,735 (7,086)

Pension debtors consist of ongoing fortnightly claims owed to the Scheme from Tasmanian state government departments and 
other agencies for retired members. Contribution debtors consist of employer and member contributions owed by Tasmanian state 
government departments and other agencies to the Scheme at year end. 

Exit debtors consist of lump sum payments, resulting from members satisfying required conditions of release, owed by Tasmanian state 
government departments and other agencies to the Scheme at year end. The 30 June 2012 credit balance was the result of Tasmanian 
state government departments and other agencies paying in excess of their outstanding balance due to an administrative error. 

b.  Investment income accrued: 

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Investment income accrued 434 468

Investment income accrued consists of distributions and interest declared at year end but not yet received.

c. Other receivables:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Recoverable within 12 months

Service buy back receivables 1,103 948

Prepayments 333 193

1,436 1,141

Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value. The maximum 
exposure to credit risk, in respect to debtors, is the fair value of receivables.

4. Income tax
As the Fund is an exempt public sector superannuation scheme, it is deemed to be a complying superannuation fund for tax purposes. 
Accordingly, the Scheme is taxed at the rate of 15% on net investment earnings, employer contributions and capital gains, with 
deductions allowable for administration expenses, but not benefits paid. A reconciliation of income tax expense, with revenues and 
expenses for the year before income tax is shown below.

a. The components of the income tax (expense)/benefit comprise:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Current tax (expense)/benefit 1,926 661

Deferred tax (expense)/benefit (4,111) 2,586

Over/(under) provision prior years – current tax 959 (508)

Over/(under) provision prior years – deferred tax (405) 679

(1,631) 3,418 
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b. The prima facie tax on change in net assets before income tax is reconciled to the income tax (expense)/benefit as follows:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Prima facie tax (expense)/benefit on change in net assets before income tax at 15% (17,920) 8,008

Tax effect of:

Tax credits (gross up) (1,121) (1,164)

Non deductible expenditure – –

Benefits paid (55,631) (55,414)

(56,752) (56,578)

Tax effect of:

Member contributions 4,431 5,409

Untaxed contributions 34,068 39,492

Pre July 1988 funding credits 1,827 680

Exempt investment income 496 645

Discount on realised gains/(losses) 20 32

Discount on unrealised gains/(losses) 7,189 (3,657)

Pension exemption 16,746 1,887

Death and invalidity-tax deduction 1,336 675

Death and invalidity-recovery from sub-fund (1,125) (972)

Net recoveries from sub funds 367 356

Other (10) (227)

65,345 44,320

Tax effect of:

Over provision for prior years (note 4(a)) 554 171

Tax credits 7,142 7,497

7,696 7,668

Income tax (expense)/benefit (1,631) 3,418

c. Balances as at 30 June:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Income tax receivable 24,901 26,478

Comprises:

Amounts receivable from sub funds 30,227 34,669

Amounts payable to the ATO (5,326) (8,191)

d. Deferred tax asset:

Opening balance Charge to statement of 
change in net assets

Closing balance

Investment income 103 – 103

Administration expenses 3,293 (132) 3,161

Pension adjustment (31) – (31)

Balance as 30 June 2013 3,365 (132) 3,233

Investment income 99 4 103

Administration expenses 2,754 539 3,293

Pension adjustment (33) 2 (31)

Balance as 30 June 2012 2,820 545 3,365
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e. Deferred tax liability:

Opening balance Charge to statement of 
change in net assets

Closing balance

Contributions 49 (49) –

Unrealised capital gains/(losses) (2,480) 13,998 11,518

Administration expenses 86 (29) 57

Pension adjustment 7,276 (9,536) (2,260)

Balance as 30 June 2013 4,931 4,384 9,315

Contributions 49 – 49

Unrealised capital gains/(losses) 2,902 (5,382) (2,480)

Administration expenses 57 29 86

Pension adjustment 4,645 2,631 7,276

Balance as 30 June 2012 7,653 (2,722) 4,931

5. Investments
Diversified fixed interest investments

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Other diversified fixed interest 147,823 125,986

Mortgages 35,493 33,485

Total diversified fixed interest investments 183,316 159,471

6. Other payables

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Due within 12 months:

Sundry creditors and accrued expenses 8,566 7,775

Total  8,566  7,775

Due to the short term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value. 

7. Contributions in advance
The Retirement Benefits Regulations 1994 require the Board to maintain separate accounts for various monies paid to the Scheme. In 
1993 a contribution was received in advance which covered the expected liability, of all current and former members of the Scheme who 
were previously employed by the Tasmanian Government Insurance Office (TGIO).

The closing balance at 30 June 2013 represents the future actuarial liability for former TGIO employees.

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Opening balance 1 July 3,925 4,280

Additional provisions 40 (30)

Amounts used/adjusted (316) (325)

Closing balance 30 June 3,649 3,925
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8. Provision for board employee entitlements

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Provision for long service leave 539 499

Provision for annual leave 689 494

Provision for superannuation (note 23) 16,394 18,983

17,622 19,976

Opening balance 1 July 19,976 16,985

Additional provisions (160) 6,884

Amounts used/adjusted (2,194) (3,893)

Closing balance 30 June 17,622 19,976

The number of employees at year end was: 109 118

9. Investment revenue

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Asset class dissection

Australian equities 17,578 15,844

International equities 5,344 4,532

Diversified fixed interest 11,537 10,435

Property 9,401 10,491

Alternative investments 15,982 12,998

Cash deposits 3,400 3,286

63,242 57,586

Income type dissection

Interest 8,703 8,754

Dividends 20,592 17,191

Distributions 32,040 29,610

Property rentals 1,907 2,031

63,242 57,586

10.  Movements in net market value of investments

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Investments held at the end of the financial year 

Australian equities 38,674 (30,295)

International equities 56,972 (3,433)

Diversified fixed interest (4,732) 4,037

Property 3,416 (5,436)

Alternative investments 23,259 (18,819)

Cash 11 (109)

Total unrealised (losses)/gains 117,600 (54,055)
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2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Investments realised during the financial year

Australian equities 19,364 (5,995)

International equities 3,947 (3,222)

Diversified fixed interest 4,043 4,846

Property (32) 105

Alternative investments (3,898) 131

Cash (304) (92)

Total realised (losses)/gains 23,120 (4,227)

Total change in net market value of investments 140,720 (58,282)

11. Other revenue/(expense)

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Depreciation of internal use assets (117) (1,266)

Miscellaneous income – 17

Cost recoveries 20 20

Lease income 120 293

Loss on sale of equipment (105) (1)

Family law fees 13 5

(69) (932)

12.  Administration fees paid to the Board

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Administration fee paid to the Board 29,931 30,206

AASB 119 Superannuation(income)/expense (1,324) 5,210

Fund Strategic Initiatives 5,714 1,352

Recoveries from sub funds (13,853) (12,687)

20,468 24,081

The Administration fee paid to the Retirement Benefits Board (the Board) is to reimburse the actual costs incurred in administering 
the Fund. The costs incurred by the Board are monitored against an approved budget throughout the financial year. The major costs 
incurred are detailed below.

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Salary and related payments 11,927 13,009

Outsource provider 10,981 10,020

Information systems 1,191 1,271

GST 1,545 750

Other 4,287 5,156

29,931 30,206

The variance in the AASB 119 superannuation item between the current and previous financial years is a result of the actuarially 
determined superannuation liability decreasing in the current year. This is primarily attributed to the increase in the discount rate  
used in the principal actuarial assumptions (Note 23). 

10.  Movements in net market value of investments cont.
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The increase in the Fund Strategic Initiatives item is due to the Board approved business transformation costs that occurred within the 
current financial year and in accordance with the policy expense strategic projects as detailed in Note 2(p). 

The Recoveries from sub funds paid to the RBF Contributory Scheme are to reimburse the actual costs incurred in administering the  
sub funds. The allocation between sub funds is detailed below and reduces the general operating provision of those funds. 

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme (12,457) (11,978)

Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme Death & Incapacity (871) –

Parliamentary Superannuation Fund (13) (41)

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund (14) (41)

Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme (416) (308)

State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme (82) (319)

(13,853) (12,687)

13. Total accrued benefits for the Contributory Scheme as a whole
The liability for accrued benefits represents the Scheme’s present obligation to pay benefits to members and beneficiaries and has been 
determined on the basis of the present value of expected future payments which arise from the membership of the Scheme up to the 
reporting date. 

The figure reported has been determined by reference to the expected future salary levels and by application of a market-based, 
risk-adjusted discount rate and relevant actuarial assumptions. The Accrued Benefits were last valued at 30 June 2013 and that 
measurement has been disclosed.

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Accrued Benefits as at 30 June 5,791,444 5,565,755

In accordance with policy note 2(g) these accrued benefits are not recognised in these financial statements.

14.  Total vested benefits for the Contributory Scheme as a whole
Vested benefits are benefits which are not conditional upon continued membership of the Scheme (or any factor other than resignation 
from the Scheme) and include benefits which members were entitled to receive had they terminated their membership as at the 
reporting date.  

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Vested Benefits as at 30 June 6,122,979 5,898,663

15. Guaranteed benefits
The vested benefits referred to in Note 14 are guaranteed under the Retirement Benefits Regulations 1994 by the Treasurer.

16. Funding arrangements
Employer obligations to the Scheme, which vary in line with employee contributions, are unfunded, being financed on an ‘emerging 
cost’ basis. Employee contributions, which are fully funded by the members and vest fully in them, are made at a specified rate of salary. 
The unfunded liability is reflected in the difference between the net assets available to pay benefits and the amount of accrued benefits 
as at the reporting date. Movement in the unfunded liability since 30 June 2010 is shown in the following table:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Accrued benefits 5,791,444 5,565,755 5,512,551 5,623,345

Net assets available to pay benefits 1,569,857 1,452,024 1,501,994 1,426,411

Unfunded liability 4,221,587 4,113,731 4,010,557 4,196,934
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17. Auditor’s remuneration

External 2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Amounts paid or payable to the Tasmanian Audit Office
 • Audit of financial statements

218 184

Internal 2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Amounts paid or payable to KPMG Australia
 • Various internal audit projects

261 112

18. Insurance
The Fund provides death and disability benefits to members. The Fund is a self insurer and provision for any liability is taken into 
account in the actuarial assessment of the accrued benefits at the time of actuarial valuation.

19. Operating commitments
a. The Board participates in non-cancellable leasing arrangements for motor vehicles it uses. 

Under these arrangements the RBF Board:

 • Is not required to purchase the motor vehicles at the end of the lease period,

 • The lessee is LeasePlan Australia and the lessor is the Tasmanian Department of Treasury and Finance, with the Board being the  
sub lessor of the motor vehicles,

 • There are no restrictions imposed by the lease arrangements

b. The Board currently leases two office spaces. 

Under these arrangements the RBF Board:

 • Holds a 10 year lease for Ground Floor 21 Kirksway Place, Hobart. 

 • Holds a 5 year lease for Ground Floor 113-115 Cimitiere Street, Launceston.

c. The total amount of lease expense recognised in the financial year was: 

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Lease expense recognised 727 668

d. The minimum lease payments under the lease are:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Not later than one year 713 648

Later than one year and not later than five years 2,748 15

e. There are no contingent leases.

f. The Board has a Superannuation Administration Services Agreement with Mercer (Australia) Pty Ltd. The term of the 
agreement is until May 2016 and the fee for service is based on a per member per fund schedule.

g. The Board has a global custody agreement with JP Morgan. This contract is ongoing.
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20. Board key management personnel compensation
The names and positions held by the Board and key management personnel in office at any time during the financial year:

Board/Key Management Person Position

Mr D Egan President of the Board

Mr D Challen Deputy President of the Board 

Ms E Thomas Board Member

Ms N Ellis Board Member

Mr L Jones Board Member 

Mr J Wilcox Board Member

Mr J Harman Board Member 

Mr P Mussared Chief Executive Officer 

Mr A Bellamy Chief Financial Officer

Mr N Connor Chief Operations Officer 

Dr I Lundy Chief Investments Officer 

Mr T Baker General Manager – Corporate Support

Mr M Leis General Manager – Governance and Secretariat 

The compensation received or receivable by the Board and key management personnel of the Fund:

Compensation 2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Short term employee benefits 1,520 1,523

Post employment benefits 136 135

Termination benefits – 15

21. Related party transactions
A number of key management persons, or their related parties, hold positions in other entities that result in them having control or 
significant influence over the financial or operating policies of those entities. A number of these entities transacted with the Board  
in the reporting period. In addition, a number of key management persons, or their related parties, transacted with the Board in the 
reporting period as a member of the Fund. The terms and conditions of the transactions with key management personnel and their 
related parties were no more favourable than those available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, on similar 
transactions to non-key management personnel. 

Interfund transactions arise in the normal course of business and are treated as a receivable or payable at year end in line with  
Fund policy note 2(f).

22. Financial instruments
The disclosure requirements of the Accounting Standard AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures is appended to the financial 
statements (Appendix A).

23. The Board’s employee entitlements and superannuation commitments 
Employees of the Board employed prior to 15 May 1999 were entitled to become members of the Scheme. The Scheme is a defined 
benefit fund which pays lump sum and pension benefits to members upon retirement (the majority of which are calculated as a multiple 
of the member’s final average salary). Employer contributions are funded on an emerging cost basis and have not been fully funded 
by the Board at balance date. An actuarial assessment of the net present value of the future cost has been raised as a liability in the 
statement of net assets (see note 8). Below are set out details of the key assumptions and other disclosures as required by AASB 119 
Employee Benefits. The figures include the liability for the Scheme members and pensioners as well as members (ex-employees) who 
hold a Compulsory Preservation Account.

The 30 June 2013 disclosures required under paragraph 120A of AASB 119, shown in the table below, have been calculated using  
31 March 2013 actuals and actuarial assumptions. 

Accounting Policy – Para 120A(a)

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in the Statement of Changes in Net Assets in the year in which they occur.
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Fund Information – Para 120A(b)

Defined benefit members receive lump sum benefits on resignation and lump sum or pension benefits on retirement, death or invalidity. 
The defined benefit section of the Scheme is closed to new members. All new members receive accumulation only benefits. 

Reconciliation of the Defined Benefit Obligation – Para 120A(c)

Financial year ending 2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Present value of defined benefit obligations at beginning of the year 23,317 20,257 

(+) Current service cost 299 454 

(+) Interest cost 792 1,096 

(+) Estimated contributions by plan participants 73 168 

(+) Actuarial (gains)/losses (1,837) 4,011

(–) Estimated benefits paid 2,088 2,624 

(–) Estimated taxes, premiums & expenses paid 43 45 

Present value of defined benefit obligations at end of the year 20,513 23,317 

Reconciliation of the Defined Benefit Obligation – Para 120A(d)

The defined benefit obligation consists entirely of amounts from plans that are wholly or partly funded.

Reconciliation of the Fair Value of Scheme Assets – Para 120A(e)

Financial year ending 2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of the year 4,334 4,481

(+) Expected return on plan assets 318 331 

(+) Actuarial gains/(losses) 84 389

(+) Estimated employer contributions 1,441 1,634 

(+) Estimated contributions by plan participants 73 168 

(–) Estimated benefits paid 2,088 2,624 

(–) Estimated taxes, premiums & expenses paid 43 45 

Fair value of plan assets at end of the year 4,119 4,334 

Reconciliation of the Assets and Liabilities Recognised in the Statement of Net Assets – Para 120A(f)

As at 30 June 2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Defined Benefit Obligation 20,513 23,317 

(–) Fair value of plan assets 4,119 4,334 

Deficit/(surplus) 16,394 18,983 

Net superannuation liability/(asset) 16,394 18,983 

Current net liability 608 515 

Non-current net liability 15,786 18,468 

Expense Recognised in Statement of Changes in Net Assets – Para 120A(g)

Financial year ending 2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Service cost 299 454 

Interest cost 792 1,095 

Expected return on assets (318) (331)

Actuarial loss/(gain) (1,920) 3,622

Superannuation expense/(income) (1,147) 4,840 
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Fund Assets – Para 120A(j)

The percentage invested in each asset class at the Statement of Net Assets date:

As at 30 June 2013 2012

Australian Equity 27% 25% 

International Equity 19% 18% 

Fixed Income 12% 12% 

Property 15% 17% 

Alternatives/Other 24% 24% 

Cash 3% 4% 

Fair Value of Fund Assets – Para 120A(k)

Assets are not held separately for each authority but are held for the Scheme as a whole. The fair value of Scheme assets was estimated 
by allocating the total Scheme assets to each authority in proportion to the value of each authority’s funded liabilities, calculated using 
the assumptions outlined in this report.

The fair value of Fund assets includes no amounts relating to:

 • any of the authority’s own financial instruments

It is not possible to separately identify and allocate assets attributable to employees of the board.

Expected Rate of Return on Fund Assets – Para 120A(l)

The expected return on assets assumption is determined by weighting the expected long-term return for each asset class by the target 
allocation of assets to each asset class and allowing for the correlations of the investment returns between asset classes. The returns 
used for each asset class are net of estimated investment tax and investment fees.

Actual Return on Fund Assets – Para 120A(m)

Financial year ending 2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Actual return on plan assets^ 401 721 

^as separate assets are not held for each authority, the actual return includes any difference in the allocation to each authority.

Principal Actuarial Assumptions at the Statement of Net Assets Date – Para 120A(n)

As at 30 June 2013 2012

Discount rate 4.25%p.a 3.45% pa

Expected rate of return on plan assets* n/a 7.50% pa

Expected salary increase rate 3.00%pa 3.50% pa

Expected rate of increase compulsory preserved amounts 3.75%pa 4.50% pa

Expected pension increase rate 2.50%pa 2.50% pa

*The expected return on assets is no longer applicable from 30 June 2013 due to the revised accounting standard. 

The discount rate is based on the market yields on the longest dated Government bonds as at 30 June 2013 extrapolated to allow for 
the fact that the term of the liabilities exceeds the term of the longest Government bond. The decrement rates used for mortality and 
retirement have been updated since the last valuation and are described in the Actuarial Assumptions section below. 

Operating costs

Operating costs for the Scheme as a whole have been assumed to be incurred at the rate of 1.5% of salaries plus 1.0% of pensions in 
payment. This cost has then been allocated to each authority in proportion to assets.

Temporary invalidity expense

The cost of temporary invalidity benefits has been assumed to be 0.2% of salaries of current contributory members. This cost has then 
been allocated to each authority in proportion to assets.
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Historical information – Para 120A(p)

Financial year ending 2013
$’000

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Present value of defined benefit obligation 20,513 23,317 20,257 21,901 20,036 

Fair value of plan assets 4,119 4,334 4,481 5,309 5,204 

(Surplus)/deficit in plan 16,394 18,983 15,776 16,592 14,832 

Experience adjustments (gain)/loss – plan assets (84) (389) 746 110 105 

Experience adjustments (gain)/loss – plan liabilities 1,020 (1,583) (936) 474 714

The experience adjustment for Scheme liabilities represents the actuarial loss (gain) due to a change in the liabilities arising from the 
Scheme’s experience (e.g. membership movements, salary increases and indexation rates) and excludes the effect of the changes in 
assumptions (e.g. movements in the bond rate).

Expected Contributions – Para 120A(q)

Financial year ending
2014

$’000

Expected employer contributions 608 

24. Subsequent events
The Department of Treasury and Finance is conducting a Strategic Review of the Retirement Benefits Fund while it considers its options 
for the long term objectives regarding the Retirement Benefits Fund and its future role in the superannuation industry. The Review is in 
progress and RBF has not been advised when the outcomes of the Review will be released.

25. Segment information
The Scheme operates solely in the business of provision of benefits to members and operates in Australia only.

26. Contingent liabilities
Estimate of the potential financial effect of contingent liabilities that may become payable:

As at 30 June 2013, there were three (3) instances of litigation currently involving the Board.

In each of these instances, an application for a declaration from the Supreme Court of Tasmania has been made by the Board in 
accordance with the process prescribed by regulation 127 of the Retirement Benefits Regulations 2005. In one of these matters, the 
declaration from the Supreme Court was delivered in May 2013 and the Board has subsequently lodged an appeal. The total liability  
for these matters including legal costs has been estimated to be $330,000. These applications are currently being defended, but  
Legal Counsel is not able to predict the outcomes with any certainty.

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Contingent liabilities 330 250
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Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme   
Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2013 

Note 2013  
$’000

2012 
 $’000

ASSETS

Cash Assets

Cash at bank 2(e), 2(q), 14(b)  104,006  6,124 

Receivables

Investment income accrued 4  1,140  1,138 

Investments

Australian equities  663,767  672,057 

International equities  580,871  458,319 

Diversified fixed interest 5  459,625  434,948 

Property  220,741  429,098 

Alternative investments  372,080  70,086 

Cash deposits  414,480  403,220 

 2,711,564  2,467,728 

Other Assets

Deferred tax asset 6(d)  6,103  28,320 

TOTAL ASSETS  2,822,813  2,503,310 

LIABILITIES

Payables

Other 7  7  47 

Interfund 2(f)  5,282  82,212 

 5,289  82,259 

Provisions

General operating provision 8(a)  27,454  25,979 

Provision for death & incapacity insurance 8(b)  7,552  19,597 

 35,006  45,576 

Tax liabilities

Provision for income tax 6(c)  29,615  34,109 

 29,615  34,109 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  69,910  161,944 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS  2,752,903  2,341,366 

Represented by:

LIABILITY FOR ACCRUED BENEFITS

Allocated to members’ accounts 11  2,723,868  2,325,785 

Not yet allocated  5,915  (12,596)

Reserves 9  23,120  28,177 

NET LIABILITY FOR ACCRUED BENEFITS  2,752,903  2,341,366 

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Note 2013  
$’000

2012 
 $’000

INVESTMENT REVENUE

Interest 12  31,265  29,038 

Dividends 12  37,385  35,091 

Distributions 12  52,349  40,687 

Property rentals 12  1,874  2,001 

Movement in net market values of investments 13  253,372  (91,094)

 376,245  15,723 

Less: direct investment expenses  8,742  9,293 

Gross profit on investment activities  367,503  6,430 

CONTRIBUTION REVENUE

Employer contributions  139,948  149,575 

Member contributions  58,607  52,877 

Transfers in  235,362  231,020 

 433,917  433,472 

OTHER REVENUE – general operating provision & reserves 9  5,443  (5,977)

TOTAL REVENUE  806,863  433,925 

EXPENSES

General operating fee – administration component  10,221  9,081 

General operating fee – taxation component (credit)/charge  3,589  (153)

Death & incapacity insurance fee 8(b)  7,501  6,483 

Superannuation contributions surcharge 2(m)  4  31 

TOTAL EXPENSES  21,315  15,442 

BENEFITS ACCRUED AS A RESULT OF OPERATIONS BEFORE INCOME TAX  785,548  418,483 

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 6(a)  (50,927)  (27,441)

BENEFITS ACCRUED AS A RESULT OF OPERATIONS AFTER INCOME TAX  734,621  391,042 

BENEFITS PAID  323,084  311,044 

LIABILITY FOR ACCRUED BENEFITS at the beginning of the financial year  2,341,366  2,261,368 

LIABILITY FOR ACCRUED BENEFITS at the end of the financial year  2,752,903  2,341,366

The above Operating Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme   
Operating statement for the year ended 30 June 2013 
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Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme   
Statement of cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2013 

Note 2013  
$’000

2012 
 $’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Employer contributions 139,948 149,575

Member contributions 58,567 52,654

Transfers from other funds 235,362 231,020

Interest received 7,395 7,196

Distributions received 832 778

Property and alternative investment returns 1,874 2,001

Other payments – general operating provision (5,057) (977)

Benefits paid (323,084) (311,044)

Direct investment expenses (8,042) (6,437)

Management fee paid (13,035) (11,020)

Income tax paid (33,204) (30,793)

Interfund transfers (76,930) 9,218

Death & incapacity benefits deducted (9,046) (4,363)

Superannuation contributions surcharge paid (4) (45)

NET CASH (OUTFLOWS)/FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 14(a) (24,424) 87,763

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of investments 2(q) 2,025,925 36,151

Payments for purchase of investments 2(q) (1,903,619) (127,154)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES 122,306 (91,003)

NET INCREASE IN CASH HELD 97,882 (3,240)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS at the beginning of the financial year 6,124 9,364

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS at the end of the financial year 14(b) 104,006 6,124

The above Statement of Cash Flow should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013

1. Operation of the Fund
The Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme (TAS) is an accumulation scheme, domiciled in Australia, established under the Public Sector 
Superannuation Reform Act 1999. It provides eligible employees with the minimum superannuation guarantee support under the 
Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme Trust Deed 17 April 2000 which took effect on 25 April 2000.

The address of TAS’s registered office is 21 Kirksway Place, Hobart, Tasmania, 7000.

The Trustee of TAS is the Board (ABN: 97 724 593 931).

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
a. Basis of preparation

Refer to note 2(a) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

b. Statement of compliance 

Refer to note 2(b) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

c. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the financial report requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the  
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may  
differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised.

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable in 
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities where 
they are not available from independent sources. The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the values of assets and liabilities are:

 • Valuation of Investments – The key valuation measures are set out in note 2(d).

All amounts are presented in thousands of Australian dollars unless otherwise stated.

d. Investments

Refer to note 2(d) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

e. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an 
original maturity of three months or less. For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash includes cash at bank and cash deposits 
that are readily convertible to cash on hand and that are used in the cash management function on a day-to-day basis.

f. Other receivables and other payables

Refer to note 2(f) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

g. Accrued benefits

The liability for accrued benefits is TAS’s present obligation to pay benefits to members and beneficiaries. This has been calculated as 
the difference between the carrying amount of the assets and the carrying amount of the sundry liabilities and income tax liabilities as at 
the reporting date.

h. Revenue recognition

Refer to note 2(i) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

i. Foreign currency 

Refer to note 2(j) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

j. Income tax

Refer to note 2(l) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.
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k. Goods and services tax (GST)

Refer to note 2(m) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

l. No Tax File Number (TFN) contributions tax

Refer to note 2(n) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme

m.  Superannuation contributions surcharge

Refer to note 2(o) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

n. Provisions

Refer to note 2(r) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

o. Comparatives

Refer to note 2(s) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

p. Reserves

Reserves are established and maintained to protect TAS and its members against the financial effects of possible future adverse risk 
events, to fund initiatives to ensure that TAS is able to continually develop in line with the needs of members and for future expenditure 
where there are no sources of future external funding.

q. Unit Pricing

The Fund moved to a unit pricing environment as at 15 March 2013. In a unitised environment the net value of the Fund’s investment 
assets are broken into portions of ownership. Each beneficiary’s interests are expressed as a proportion of the underlying investment 
pools in which they are invested. 

Crediting rates were used for all schemes prior to 15 March 2013. When ‘unit price’ is referred to throughout the financial statements this 
encompasses the crediting rate prior to 15 March 2013 and the unit price post 15 March 2013. 

During the transition to unitisation, movements of assets were required to align the schemes and to fund the reserves and provisions. 
As a result, an increased volume of investment transactions occurred in 2012-13 which is reflected in the cash flow statement and an 
increase in cash assets held. 

3. Funding Arrangements
On 25 April 2000, the initial account balances of TAS, being the account balances of the Non-Contributory Scheme as at that date, were 
funded using surplus assets from within the Contributory Scheme, adjusted to take account of the income taxation differences between 
the two schemes.

During 2012-13 employers contributed to TAS at the rate of 9% (2011-12: 9%) of the gross salaries of those employees who were 
members of the scheme. The superannuation guarantee rate will increase to 9.25% in 2013-14. Allocated, Transition to Retirement 
Allocated and Term Allocated pensions are fully funded by members

4. Receivables

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Investment income accrued 1,140 1,138

Investment income accrued consists of distributions and interest declared at year end but not yet received.

5. Investments
Diversified fixed interest investments

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Other diversified fixed interest 370,634 343,621

Mortgages 88,991 91,328

Total diversified fixed interest investments 459,625 434,948
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6. Income tax
As the Fund is an exempt public sector superannuation scheme, it is deemed to be a complying superannuation fund for tax purposes. 
Accordingly, TAS is taxed at the rate of 15% on net investment earnings, employer contributions and capital gains, with deductions 
allowable for administration expenses, but not benefits paid. A reconciliation of income tax expense, with revenues and expenses  
for the year before income tax is shown below.

a. The components of the income tax (expense)/benefit comprise:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Current tax (expense)/benefit (29,615) (34,109)

Deferred tax (expense)/benefit (22,828) 7,455

(Under)/over provision prior years – current tax 906 (353)

(Under)/over provision prior years – deferred tax 610 (434)

(50,927) (27,441)

b. The prima facie tax on benefits accrued before income tax is reconciled to the income tax expense as follows:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Prima facie tax expense on benefits accrued before income tax at 15% (117,832) (62,772)

Tax effect of:

Tax credits (gross up) (2,066) (1,326)

Non-deductible expenditure – –

Other (538) 23

(2,604) (1,303)

Tax effect of:

Member contributions 8,616 7,644

Rollovers in non-taxable 25,523 25,024

Exempt investment income 914 735

Discount on realised gains/(losses) 37 22

Discount on unrealised gains/(losses) 13,382 (4,286)

Pension exemption 5,046 851

Other 816 (1,269)

54,334 28,721

Tax effect of:

No TFN tax (113) (141)

(Under)/over provision for prior years (note 6(a)) 1,516 (787)

Tax credits 13,772 8,841

15,175 7,913

Income tax expense (50,927) (27,441)

c. Balances as at 30 June:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Income tax liability 29,615 34,109

Refer to note 4(c) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.
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d. Deferred tax asset:

Opening balance Charge to operating 
statement 

Closing balance

Capital losses 31,783 (25,238) 6,545

Pension adjustment (3,463)  3,021 (442)

Balance as 30 June 2013 28,320 (22,217) 6,103

Capital losses 23,374 8,410 31,783

Pension adjustment (2,075) (1,388) (3,463)

Balance as 30 June 2012 21,299 7,022 28,320

7. Other Payables

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Due within 12 months

Sundry creditor 7 47

7 47

Due to the short term nature of these payables, the carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value. 

8. Provision
a. General operating provision:

The actual administration expenses of TAS were initially allocated to the RBF Contributory Scheme of the Fund. To recoup this outlay,  
an administration fee is charged to member accounts based on the member’s account balance. 

To recoup the investment management fee expense of TAS, the unit price of TAS is reduced by a specified rate. This rate is based  
upon an estimate of the investment management fee expense and varies between investment choices. 

To recoup the income tax expense of TAS, the unit price of TAS is reduced by a specified rate. This rate is based upon an estimate  
of the income tax expense. Movements in provision during the year are explained by:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Opening balance 25,979 20,215

Add amounts deducted from members 72,395 52,039

Add amounts transferred from the D & I provision 10,500 –

Less investment expenses amounts paid from provision (7,535) (8,457)

Less administration expenses amounts paid from provision (12,457) (11,978)

Less tax expenses amounts paid from provision (50,928) (27,441)

Add amounts transferred from reserves through operating statement (Note 9) – 7,490

Less amounts transferred back to TAS members (10,500) (5,888)

Closing balance 27,454 25,979

The difference between the amount deducted from members and the actual administration fee, investment management fee and 
income tax expense is disclosed as the General Operating Provision. This surplus is administered on the determination by the Board  
in accordance with the Trust Deed.
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The balance of the provision is made up of the following fee components:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Administration 5,708 8,312

Investment management 2,251 1,551

Income tax 19,495 16,116

Closing balance 27,454 25,979

b. Provision for death and incapacity insurance:

TAS provides death and disability benefits to members. Premiums are deducted from members’ accounts each fortnight. Prior to the  
18 January 2012 TAS was a self insurer and provided for any liability for benefits through the below death and disability provision 
account. Post the 18 January 2012 the insurance of TAS was outsourced to CommInsure. 

The State Actuary provided a recommendation (dated 30 October 2012) for the death and incapacity provision account as at  
30 June 2012. The State Actuary noted that a surplus in excess of the expected future death and incapacity claims has built up since  
the commencement of the account. It was recommended that $10.5M be released from the provision account in accordance with 
Clause 3.6 of the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme Trust Deed. The Board approved that $10.5M be released to the Administration 
Provision account. 

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Opening balance 19,597 17,477

Add premiums deducted from members 7,501 6,483

Less benefits paid from provision (1,175) (1,642)

Less premiums paid to CommInsure (7,000) (2,117)

Less administration fee paid from provision (871) (604)

Less surplus transferred to Administration Provision (10,500) –

Closing balance 7,552 19,597

On the basis of the most recent actuarial review at 30 June 2012, the remaining balance of the provision was adequate to meet claims.

9. Reserves

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Opening balance 28,177 38,155

Add/(less) amounts transferred to operating statement from general operating provision 
(Note 8)

10,500 (7,490)

Less amounts incurred from strategic initiatives from operating statement  
(Note 2(p) of the RBF Contributory Scheme)

(5,057) (977)

Less amounts transferred back to TAS members (10,500) (4,001)

Add bonus income interest from operating statement – 2,490

Closing balance 23,120 28,177

The balance of the other revenue from operating statement is made up of the following components:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Amounts transferred from general operating provision 10,500 (7,490)

Amounts incurred from strategic initiatives (5,057) (977)

Bonus income interest – 2,490

5,443 (5,977)
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The balance of the reserves is made up of the following components:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Operating risk 12,741 12,740

Strategic development 10,379 15,437

Closing balance 23,120 28,177

The operating risk reserve is designed to cover the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and 
systems or from external events that are relevant for the operations of TAS. 

The strategic development reserve is designed to fund initiatives to ensure that TAS is able to continually develop in line with the needs 
of members. 

10.  Liability for accrued benefits
Changes in liability for accrued benefits:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Liability for Accrued Benefits at the beginning of the year 2,313,189 2,223,213

Plus: Benefits Accrued after Income Tax 734,621 391,042

Plus: Movement in Reserves 5,057 9,978

Less: Benefits Paid (323,084) (311,044)

Liability for Accrued Benefits at end of the year 2,729,783 2,313,189

Consists of:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Superannuation Guarantee & Investment Account members 2,370,466 2,011,426

Allocated Pension & Term Allocated Pension Accounts 359,317 301,763

Liability for Accrued Benefits at the end of the year 2,729,783 2,313,189

No guarantees have been made in respect of any part of the liability for accrued benefits of the Account.

11. Vested benefits
Vested benefits are benefits which are not conditional upon continued membership of the Account (or any factor other than resignation 
from TAS) and include benefits which members were entitled to receive had they terminated their membership as at reporting date. 

Vested benefits are benefits that are not conditional upon continued membership of TAS (or any factor other than resignation from TAS) 
being benefits that members were entitled to receive had they terminated their membership as at the reporting date. 

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Investment Account & Superannuation Guarantee members 2,359,999 2,025,841

Allocated Pension & Term Allocated Pension Accounts 363,869 299,944

Vested benefits at the as at 30 June 2,723,868 2,325,785

No guarantees have been made in respect of any part of the liability for accrued benefits of TAS.
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12. Investment revenue

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Asset class dissection:

Australian equities 33,008 32,873

International equities 10,099 8,841

Diversified fixed interest 32,476 24,167

Property 9,281 10,329

Alternative investments 20,071 5,059

Cash deposits 17,938 12,836

122,873 94,104

Income type dissection:

Interest 31,265 29,039

Dividends 37,385 35,091

Distributions 52,349 40,687

Property rentals 1,874 2,001

122,873 94,104

13. Movements in net market value of investments

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Investments held at the end of the financial year:

Australian equities 83,141 (65,466)

International equities 109,818 (6,844)

Diversified fixed interest  (11,397) 10,159

Property 3,297 (5,272)

Alternative investments 19,371 (16,768)

Cash (48) (260)

Total unrealised (losses)/gain 204,182 (84,451)

Investments realised during the financial year:

Australian equities 36,215 (12,456)

International equities 6,752 (6,373)

Diversified fixed interest 10,492 11,767

Property (32) 104

Alternative investments (3,530) 483

Cash (707) (168)

Total realised (losses)/gains 49,190 (6,643)

Total change in net market value of investments 253,372 (91,094)
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14. Statement of cash flows
a. Reconciliation of net cash from operations to benefits accrued as a result of operations after income tax

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Benefits accrued after income tax 734,621 391,042

Changes in net market value of investments (253,372)  91,094 

Benefits paid (323,084)  (311,044)

Non-cash distributions (note 14(c)) (112,770)  (95,985)

Change in operating assets and liabilities  

Increase in investment income receivable (2) (857)

Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax assets 22,217 (7,021)

(Decrease)/increase in other payables (76,970) 9,001

(Decrease) in contributions payable – (6)

Increase in general operating provisions 1,475 5,764

(Decrease)/increase in provision for death and incapacity insurance (12,045) 2,120

(Decrease)/increase in provision for income tax (4,494) 3,669

Decrease in superannuation contributions surcharge payable –  (14)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities (24,424) 87,763

b. Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Cash balances comprise:

Cash at bank 104,006 6,124

c. Non cash transactions:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Dividends 37,385 35,091

Interest 23,868 20,985

Distributions 51,517 39,909

112,770 95,985

The above income transactions were received and reinvested by acquiring additional investment units.

15. Auditor’s remuneration
Refer to note 17 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

16. Related party transactions
Refer to note 21 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

17. Financial instruments
The disclosure requirements of the Accounting Standard AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures is appended to the financial 
statements (Appendix A).

18. Subsequent events
Refer to note 24 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

19. Segment information
Refer to note 25 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

20. Contingent liabilities
Refer to note 26 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.
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Parliamentary Superannuation Fund  
Statement of net assets as at 30 June 2013 

Note 2013  
$’000

2012 
 $’000

ASSETS

Cash assets

Cash at bank 2(e)  467 –

Receivables

Investment income accrued 3  1  2 

Contributions and pensions 3 –  472 

Interfund 2(f), 3  436  (1,663)

 437  (1,189)

Investments

Australian equities  967  1,897 

International equities  714  1,126 

Diversified fixed interest 4  456  786 

Property  646  1,943 

Alternative investments  957  320 

Cash deposits  227  374 

 3,967  6,446 

TOTAL ASSETS  4,871  5,257 

LIABILITIES

Payables

Other 5 –  429 

Provisions

General operating provision 7  872  813 

Tax liabilities

Deferred tax liability 6(c)  17  15 

Superannuation contributions surcharge payable –  4 

 17  19 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  889  1,261 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS  3,982  3,996

The above Statement of Net Assets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Parliamentary Superannuation Fund  
Statement of changes in net assets for the year ended 30 June 2013 

Note 2013  
$’000

2012 
 $’000

INVESTMENT REVENUE

Interest 8  47  39 

Dividends 8  71  85 

Distributions 8  133  141 

Property rentals 8  8  9 

Movement in net market values of investments 9  612  (291)

 871  (17)

Less: direct investment expenses  23  23 

Gross (loss)/profit on investment activities  848  (40)

CONTRIBUTION REVENUE

Employer contributions  497  1,404 

Member contributions  19  18 

 516  1,422 

TOTAL REVENUE  1,364  1,382 

BENEFITS PAID

Pensions  1,277  1,336 

EXPENSES

General operating fee – administration component  65  42 

General operating fee – taxation component charge  38  1 

Superannuation contributions surcharge 2(m)  (4) –

TOTAL EXPENSES  1,376  1,379 

NET CHANGE IN NET ASSETS BEFORE INCOME TAX  (12)  3 

INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/BENEFIT 6(a)  (2)  3 

NET CHANGE IN NET ASSETS AFTER INCOME TAX  (14)  6 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS at the beginning of the financial year  3,996  3,990 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS at the end of the financial year  3,982  3,996

The above Statement of Changes in Net Assets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Parliamentary Superannuation Fund
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013

1. Operation of the Fund
The Parliamentary Superannuation Fund (PSF) is a defined benefit scheme, domiciled in Australia that provides benefits to its members 
pursuant to the provisions of the Retirement Benefits Act 1993. The PSF was closed to new members as at 11 November 1985.

The address of PSF’s registered office is 21 Kirksway Place, Hobart, Tasmania, 7000.

The Trustee of PSF is the Board (ABN: 97 724 593 931).

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
a. Basis of preparation

The financial report is a general purpose report which has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AAS 
25 ‘Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans’ (AAS 25) as amended by AASB 2005-13 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards (AAS 25)’, other applicable accounting standards, other mandatory requirements, the provisions of the Retirement Benefits 
Act 1993, the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme Trust Deed, and relevant legislative requirements. 

The Retirement Benefits (Parliamentary Superannuation Trustee Arrangements and Miscellaneous Amendments) Act 2002 received Royal 
Assent on 27 November 2002. This legislation had effect from 1 January 2003. It resulted in:

 • The PSF and the Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund being transferred to the Fund as sub-funds

 • The Board becoming the corporate Trustee of these sub funds

 • The Parliamentary Superannuation Act 1973, the Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Act 1985, the Parliamentary Superannuation 
Regulations 1999 and the Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Regulations 1999 being repealed.

The Retirement Benefits (Parliamentary Superannuation) Regulations 2002 commenced on 1 January 2003. The purpose of these 
regulations is to ensure that equivalent rights continue to be provided to members of the Parliamentary Funds upon their incorporation 
as sub-funds of the Fund.

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 9 September 2013.

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous year, unless specifically stated.

b. Statement of compliance 

Refer to note 2(b) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

c. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the financial report requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the  
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may  
differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised.

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable in 
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities where 
they are not available from independent sources. The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the values of assets and liabilities are:

 • Valuation of Accrued Benefits – The amount of accrued benefits has been actuarially determined. The key assumptions are discussed 
in note 10.

 • Valuation of Investments – The key valuation measures are set out in note 2(d).

All amounts are presented in thousands of Australian dollars unless otherwise stated.
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d. Investments 

Refer to note 2(d) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

e. Cash and cash equivalents

Refer to note 2(e) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

f. Other receivables and other payables

Refer to note 2(f) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

g. Accrued benefits

The liability for accrued benefits of PSF at 30 June 2013 is not included in the statement of net assets, the amount being reported by 
way of note 10.

The amount of accrued benefits has been determined on the basis of the present value of expected future payments which arise from 
membership of PSF, to the measurement date. The figure reported in note 10 has been determined by reference to expected future 
salary levels and by application of a market-based, risk-adjusted discount rate and relevant actuarial assumptions.

A copy of a statement prepared by the Fund Actuary, Calculation of Vested and Accrued Benefits in accordance with AAS 25 for the 
Retirement Benefits Fund as at 30 June 2013 is appended to the financial statements (Appendix C).

h. Revenue recognition

Refer to note 2(i) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

i. Foreign currency 

Refer to note 2(j) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

j. Income tax

Refer to note 2(l) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

k. Goods and services tax (GST)

Refer to note 2(m) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

l. No Tax File Number (TFN) Contributions Tax

Refer to note 2(n) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

m.  Superannuation contributions surcharge

Refer to note 2(o) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

n. Benefits payable

Refer to note 2(q) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

o. Provisions

Refer to note 2(r) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

p. Comparatives

Refer to note 2(s) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

q. Unit price

Refer to note 2(t) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

3. Receivables

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Recoverable within 12 months

Investment income accrued 1 2

Contributions and pensions – 472

Interfund 436 (1,663)

437 (1,189)

Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value. As at 30 June 2013 
there were no outstanding payables.
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4. Investments
Diversified fixed interest investments

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Other diversified fixed interest 368 621

Mortgages 88 165

Total diversified fixed interest investments 456 786

5. Other payables

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Pension payables – 429

Due to the short term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value. As at 30 June 2013 there 
were no outstanding payables. 

6. Income tax
As the Fund is an exempt public sector superannuation scheme, it is deemed to be a complying superannuation fund for tax purposes. 
Accordingly, PSF is taxed at the rate of 15% on net investment earnings, employer contributions and capital gains, with deductions 
allowable for administration expenses, but not benefits paid. A reconciliation of income tax expense, with revenues and expenses for the 
year before income tax is shown below.

a. The components of the income tax (expense)/benefit comprise:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Deferred tax (expense)/benefit – 2

Over provision prior years – current tax – –

Over/(under) provision prior years – deferred tax (2) 1

(2) 3

b. The prima facie tax on change in net assets before income tax is reconciled to the income tax (expense)/benefit as follows:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Prima facie tax (expense)/benefit on change in net assets before income tax at 15% (2) –

Tax effect of:

Tax credits (gross up) (4) (6)

Benefits paid (190) (200)

Other (4) –

(198) (206)

Tax effect of:

Member contributions 3 3

Untaxed contributions 75 211

Exempt investment income 2 3

Discount on realised losses – –

Discount on unrealised (losses)/gains 30 (26)

Pension exemption 58 (20)

168 171

Tax effect of:

Over/(under) provision for prior years (note 6(a)) (2) 1

Tax credits 32 37

30 38

Income tax (expense)/benefit (2) 3
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c. Deferred tax liability:

Opening balance Charge to statement of 
change in net assets

Closing balance

Capital losses (77) 60 (17)

Pension adjustment 92 (58) 34

Balance as 30 June 2013 15 2 17

Capital losses (51) (26) (77)

Pension adjustment 69 23 92

Balance as 30 June 2012 18 (3) 15

7. General operating provision
The actual administration expenses of PSF were initially allocated to the RBF Contributory Scheme of the Fund. To recoup this outlay,  
the notional unit price of PSF is reduced by a specified rate. 

To recoup the investment management fee expense of PSF, the notional unit price of PSF is reduced by a specified rate. This rate is 
based upon an estimate of the investment management fee expense and varies between investment choices. 

To recoup the income tax expense of PSF, the notional unit price of PSF is reduced by a specified rate. This rate is based upon an 
estimate of the income tax expense. Movements in provision during the year explained by:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Opening balance 813 811

Add amounts deducted from members 90 62

Less investment expenses amounts paid from provision (16) (22)

Less administration expenses amounts paid from provision (13) (41)

Less tax expenses amounts paid from provision (2) 3

Closing balance 872 813

The difference between the amount deducted from members and the actual administration fee, investment management fee and 
income tax expense is disclosed as the General Operating Provision. This surplus is administered on the determination by the Board  
in accordance with the Trust Deed.

The balance of the provision is made up of the following fee components:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Administration 144 92

Investment management 52 47

Income taxation 676 674

Closing balance 872 813
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8. Investment revenue

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Asset class dissection

Australian equities 66 78

International equities 19 21

Diversified fixed interest 51 51

Property 39 47

Alternative investments 62 59

Cash deposits 22 18

259 274

Income type dissection

Interest 47 39

Dividends 71 85

Distribution 133 141

Property rentals 8 9

259 274

9. Movements in net market value of investments 

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Investments held at the end of the financial year:

Australian equities 226 (162)

International equities 199 (20)

Diversified fixed interest (11) 19

Property 13 (23)

Alternative investments 93 (83)

Total unrealised (losses)/gains 520 (269)

Investments realised during the financial year:

Australian equities 76 (30)

International equities 22 (16)

Diversified fixed interest 12 24

Property – –

Alternative investments (18) –

Total realised (losses)/gains 92 (22)

Total change in net market value of investments 612 (291)

10. Total accrued benefits for the PSF
The liability for accrued benefits represents PSF’s present obligation to pay benefits to members and beneficiaries and has been 
determined on the basis of the present value of expected future payments which arise from the membership of the plan up to the 
reporting date. 

The figure reported has been determined by reference to the expected future salary levels and by application of a market-based, 
risk-adjusted discount rate and relevant actuarial assumptions. The Accrued Benefits were last valued at 30 June 2013 and that 
measurement has been disclosed.
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2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Accrued Benefits as at 30 June 15,716 16,692

In accordance with policy note 2(g) these accrued benefits are not recognised in these financial statements.

11. Total vested benefits for the PSF 
Vested benefits are benefits which are not conditional upon continued membership of PSF (or any factor other than resignation from 
PSF) and include benefits which members were entitled to receive had they terminated their membership as at the reporting date.

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Vested Benefits as at 30 June 15,872 16,913

12. Guaranteed benefits
The vested benefits referred to in note 11 are guaranteed by the Treasurer under the Retirement Benefits (Parliamentary Superannuation) 
Regulations 2002 (“the Regulations”). 

13. Funding arrangements
Employer contributions to the PSF are unfunded, being made on an ‘emerging cost’ basis. Employee contributions, which are fully 
funded by the members and vest fully in them, are made at a specified rate of salary. This is reflected in the difference between the net 
assets available to pay benefits and the amount of accrued benefits as at the reporting date. 

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Accrued benefits 15,716 16,692 16,245 18,683

Net assets available to pay benefits 3,982 3,996 3,990 4,517

Unfunded liability 11,734 12,696 12,255 14,166

14. Insurance
The Fund no longer provides death and disability benefits as all members have reached preservation age. 

15. Related party transactions
Refer to note 21 of the notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

16. Financial instruments
The disclosure requirements of the Accounting Standard AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures is appended to the financial 
statements (Appendix A).

17. Subsequent events
Refer to note 24 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

18. Segment information
Refer to note 25 of the notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

19. Auditor’s remuneration
Refer to note 17 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

20. Contingent liabilities
Refer to note 26 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.
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Note 2013  
$’000

2012 
 $’000

ASSETS

Cash Assets

Cash at bank 2(e)  105 –

Receivables

Investment income accrued 3  1  1 

Interfund 2(f)  62  (1,073)

 63  (1,072)

Investments

Australian equities  752  1,429 

International equities  535  845 

Diversified fixed interest 4  391  604 

Property  507  1,502 

Alternative investments  787  247 

Cash deposits  197  281 

 3,169  4,908 

Other Assets

Deferred tax asset 5(d)  96  145 

TOTAL ASSETS  3,433  3,981 

LIABILITIES

Payables

Other 6 –  621 

Provisions

General operating provision 7  574  517 

Tax Liabilities

Provision for income tax 5(c)  23  37 

Superannuation contributions surcharge payable –  143 

 23  180 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  597  1,318 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS  2,836  2,663

The above Statement of Net Assets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund  
Statement of net assets as at 30 June 2013 
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Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund  
Statement of changes in net assets as at 30 June 2013 

Note 2013  
$’000

2012 
 $’000

INVESTMENT REVENUE

Interest 8  36  30 

Dividends 8  59  64 

Distributions 8  108  108 

Property rentals 8  6  7 

Movement in net market values of investments 9  486  (215)

 695  (6)

Less: direct investment expenses  18  18 

Gross (loss)/profit on investment activities  677  (24)

CONTRIBUTION REVENUE

Employer contributions  198  237 

Member contributions  75  133 

 273  370 

TOTAL REVENUE  950  346 

BENEFITS PAID

Lump sums  781  1,010 

EXPENSES

General operating fee – administration component  68  35 

General operating fee – taxation component (credit)/charge –  (17)

Insurance  2  7 

Superannuation contributions surcharge 2(m)  (143) –

TOTAL EXPENSES  708  1,035 

NET CHANGE IN NET ASSETS BEFORE INCOME TAX  242  (689)

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 5(a)  (69)  (17)

NET CHANGE IN NET ASSETS AFTER INCOME TAX  173  (706)

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS at the beginning of the financial year  2,663  3,369 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS at the end of the financial year  2,836  2,663

The above Statement of Net Assets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013

1. Operation of the Fund
The Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund (PRBF) is a defined benefit scheme, domiciled in Australia that provides benefits to its 
members pursuant to the provisions of the Retirement Benefits Act 1993. The PRBF was closed to new members as at 1 July 1999.

The address of PRBF’s registered office is 21 Kirksway Place, Hobart, Tasmania, 7000.

The Trustee of PRBF is the Board (ABN: 97 724 593 931).

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
a. Basis of preparation

The financial report is a general purpose report which has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AAS 
25 ‘Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans’ (AAS 25) as amended by AASB 2005-13 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards (AAS 25)’, other applicable accounting standards, other mandatory requirements, the provisions of the Retirement Benefits 
Act 1993, the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme Trust Deed, and relevant legislative requirements. 

The Retirement Benefits (Parliamentary Superannuation Trustee Arrangements and Miscellaneous Amendments) Act 2002 received Royal 
Assent on 27 November 2002. This legislation had effect from 1 January 2003. It resulted in:

 • The PSF and the PRBF being transferred to the Fund as sub-funds

 • The Board becoming the corporate Trustee of these sub funds

 • The Parliamentary Superannuation Act 1973, the Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Act 1985, the Parliamentary Superannuation 
Regulations 1999 and the Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Regulations 1999 being repealed.

The Retirement Benefits (Parliamentary Superannuation) Regulations 2002 commenced on 1 January 2003. The purpose of these 
regulations is to ensure that equivalent rights continue to be provided to members of the Parliamentary Funds upon their incorporation 
as sub-funds of the Fund.

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 9 September 2013.

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous year, unless specifically stated. 

b. Statement of compliance 

Refer to note 2(b) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

c. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

Refer to note 2(c) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the PSF.

d. Investments 

Refer to note 2(d) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

e. Cash and cash equivalents

Refer to note 2(e) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

f. Other receivables and other payables

Refer to note 2(f) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

g. Accrued benefits

The liability for accrued benefits of PRBF at 30 June 2013 is not included in the statement of net assets, the amount being reported by 
way of note 10.

The amount of accrued benefits has been determined on the basis of the present value of expected future payments which arise from 
membership of PRBF, to the measurement date. The figure reported in note 10 has been determined by reference to expected future 
salary levels and by application of a market-based, risk-adjusted discount rate and relevant actuarial assumptions.

h. Revenue recognition

Refer to note 2(i) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

i. Foreign currency 

Refer to note 2(j) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.
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j. Income tax

Refer to note 2(l) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

k. Goods and services tax (GST)

Refer to note 2(m) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

l. No Tax File Number (TFN) Contributions Tax

Refer to note 2(n) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

m.  Superannuation contributions surcharge

Refer to note 2(o) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

n. Benefits payable

Refer to note 2(q) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

o. Provisions

Refer to note 2(r) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

p. Comparatives

Refer to note 2(s) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

q. Unit price

Refer to note 2(t) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

3. Receivables

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Investment income accrued 1 1

Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value. 

4. Investments
Diversified fixed interest investments

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Other diversified fixed interest 315 477

Mortgages 76 127

Total diversified fixed interest investments 391 604

5. Income tax
As the Fund is an exempt public sector superannuation scheme, it is deemed to be a complying superannuation fund for tax purposes. 
Accordingly, PRBF is taxed at the rate of 15% on net investment earnings, employer contributions and capital gains, with deductions 
allowable for administration expenses, but not benefits paid. A reconciliation of income tax expense, with revenues and expenses for the 
year before income tax is shown below.

a. The components of the income tax (expense)/benefit comprise:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Current tax (expense)/benefit (22) (37)

Deferred tax (expense)/benefit (51) 20

Over provision prior years – current tax 2 –

Over provision prior years – deferred tax 2 –

(69) (17)
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b. The prima facie tax on change in net assets before income tax is reconciled to the income tax expense as follows:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Prima facie tax (expense)/benefit on change in net assets before income tax at 15% (36) 103

Tax effect of:

Tax credits (gross up) (4) (4)

Benefits paid (117) (151)

Other – 2

(121) (153)

Tax effect of:

Member contributions 11 20

Exempt investment income 2 2

Discount on realised (losses)/gains – –

Discount on unrealised (losses)/gains 24 (18)

Surcharge 21

58 4

Tax effect of:

Over provision for prior years (note 5(a)) 4 –

Tax credits 26 29

30 29

Income tax (expense)/benefit (69) (17)

c. Balances as at 30 June:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Income tax liability 23 37

d. Deferred tax asset:

Opening balance
$’000

Charge to statement of 
change in net assets

$’000

Closing balance

Capital losses 145 (49) 96

Balance as 30 June 2013 145 (49)  96

Capital losses 125 20 145

Balance as 30 June 2012 125 20 145

6. Other payables

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Lump sum payables – 621

Due to the short term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value. As at 30 June 2013 there 
were no outstanding payables. 
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7. General operating provision
The administration expenses of PRBF were initially paid by the RBF Contributory Scheme of the Fund. To recoup this outlay, the notional 
unit price of PRBF is reduced by a specified rate. 

To recoup the investment management fee expense of PRBF, the notional unit price of PRBF is reduced by a specified rate. This rate is 
based upon an estimate of the investment management fee expense and varies between investment choices. 

To recoup the income tax expense of PRBF, the notional unit price of PRBF is reduced by a specified rate. This rate is based upon an 
estimate of the income tax expense. Movements in provision during the year explained by:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Opening balance 517 537

Add amounts deducted from members 153 55

Less investment expenses paid from provision (13) (17)

Less administration expenses paid from provision (14) (41)

Less tax expenses paid from provision (69) (17)

Closing balance 574 517

The difference between the amount deducted from members and the actual administration fee, investment management fee and 
income tax expense is disclosed as the General Operating Provision. This surplus is administered on the determination by the Board  
in accordance with the Trust Deed.

The balance of the provision is made up of the following fee components:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Administration 135 81

Investment management 60 57

Income taxation 379 379

Closing balance 574 517

8. Investment revenue

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Asset class dissection

Australian equities 54 59

International equities 15 17

Diversified fixed interest 41 38

Property 31 35

Alternative investments 52 46

Cash deposits 16 14

209 209

Income type dissection

Interest 36 30

Dividends 59 64

Distributions 108 108

Property rentals 6 7

209 209
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9. Movements in net market value of investment assets

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Investments held at the end of the financial year

Australian equities 179 (117)

International equities 155 (14)

Diversified fixed interest (9) 15

Property 11 (18)

Alternative investments 73 (64)

Total unrealised (losses)/gains 409 (198)

Investments realised during the financial year

Australian equities 62 (23)

International equities 19 (12)

Diversified fixed interest 11 18

Property – –

Alternative investments (15) –

Total realised (losses)/gains 77 (17)

Total change in net market value of investments 486 (215)

10. Total accrued benefits for the PRBF 
The liability for accrued benefits represents PRBF’s present obligation to pay benefits to members and beneficiaries and has been 
determined on the basis of the present value of expected future payments which arise from the membership of PRBF up to the reporting date. 

The figure reported has been determined by reference to the expected future salary levels and by application of a market-based, 
risk-adjusted discount rate and relevant actuarial assumptions. The Accrued Benefits were last valued at 30 June 2013 and that 
measurement has been disclosed.

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Accrued Benefits as at 30 June 4,477 5,057

In accordance with policy note 2(g) these accrued benefits are not recognised in these financial statements.

11. Total vested benefits for the PRBF
Vested benefits are benefits which are not conditional upon continued membership of PRBF (or any factor other than resignation from 
PRBF) and include benefits which members were entitled to receive had they terminated their membership as at the reporting date.

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Vested Benefits as at 30 June 5,205 5,849

12. Guaranteed benefits
The vested benefits referred to in note 11 are guaranteed by the Treasurer under the Retirement Benefits (Parliamentary Superannuation) 
Regulations 2002 (“the Regulations”). 
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13. Funding arrangements
The PRBF was established to apply to all those members who were elected to the Tasmanian Parliament for the first time after  
12 November 1985. The PRBF was closed to new members on 1 July 1999. The PRBF is lump sum based, with any entitlement  
not being able to be converted to or paid in the form of a pension, other than an allocated pension. 

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Accrued benefits 4,477 5,057 4,595 4,078

Net assets available to pay benefits 2,836 2,663 3,369 2,551

Unfunded liability 1,641 2,394 1,226 1,527

14. Insurance
The Fund provides death and disability benefits to members. The Board has taken out insurance to cover the part of the benefit in 

excess of the vested benefit. 

15. Related party transactions
Refer to note 21 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

16. Financial instruments
The disclosure requirements of the Accounting Standard AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures is appended to the financial 
statements (Appendix A).

17. Subsequent events
Refer to note 24 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

18. Segment information
Refer to note 25 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

19. Auditor’s remuneration
Refer to note 17 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

20. Contingent liabilities
Refer to note 26 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.
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Note 2013  
$’000

2012 
 $’000

ASSETS

Receivables

Investment income accrued 3(a)  6  9 

Other 3(b)  37  – 

 43  9 

Investments

Australian equities  5,159  8,535 

International equities  3,746  5,067 

Diversified fixed interest 4  2,540  3,567 

Property  3,412  8,922 

Alternative investments  5,212  1,470 

Cash deposits  1,242  1,684 

 21,311  29,245 

Other Assets

Deferred tax asset 5(d)  1,810  2,085 

TOTAL ASSETS  23,164  31,339 

LIABILITIES

Payables

Other 6  758  2,336 

Interfund 2(f)  119  10,282 

 877  12,618 

Provisions

General operating provision 7  506  642 

Tax Liabilities

Provision for income tax 5(c)  286  197 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  1,669  13,457 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS  21,495  17,882

The above Statement of Net Assets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme  
Statement of net assets as at 30 June 2013 
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State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme  
Statement of changes in net assets for the year ended 30 June 2013 

Note 2013  
$’000

2012 
 $’000

INVESTMENT REVENUE

Interest 8  189  177 

Dividends 8  343  379 

Distributions 8  616  634 

Property rentals 8  36  41 

Movement in net market values of investments 9  2,792  (1,304)

 3,976  (73)

Less: direct investment expenses  95  105 

Gross (loss)/profit on investment activities  3,881  (178)

CONTRIBUTION REVENUE

Employer contributions  1,837  1,319 

Member contributions  65  66 

 1,902  1,385 

TOTAL REVENUE  5,783  1,207 

BENEFITS PAID

Lump sums  1,858  3,705 

Refunds & interest  (239)  6 

 1,619  3,711 

EXPENSES

General operating fee – administration component  32  332 

General operating fee – taxation component charge  (60)  113 

Insurance  30  19 

 2  464 

TOTAL EXPENSES  1,621  4,175 

NET CHANGE IN NET ASSETS BEFORE INCOME TAX  4,162  (2,968)

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 5(a)  (549)  (77)

NET CHANGE IN NET ASSETS AFTER INCOME TAX  3,613  (3,045)

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS at the beginning of the financial year  17,882  20,927 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS at the end of the financial year  21,495  17,882

The above Statement of Changes in Net Assets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013

1. Operation of the Fund
The State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme (SFCSS) is a defined benefit scheme, domiciled in Australia that provides benefits 
to its members pursuant to the provisions of the Retirement Benefits (State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme) Act 2005. The 
SFCSS was closed to new members on 1 May 2006. The scheme is operated for the purpose of providing for employees (and their 
dependants of beneficiaries) of the Tasmania Fire Service lump sum or pension benefits upon retirement, termination of service, death 
or disablement.

The address of SFCSS’s registered office is 21 Kirksway Place, Hobart, Tasmania, 7000.

The Trustee of SFCSS is the Board (ABN: 97 724 593 931).

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
a. Basis of preparation

The financial report is a general purpose report which has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AAS 
25 ‘Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans’ (AAS 25) as amended by AASB 2005-13 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards (AAS 25)’, other applicable accounting standards, other mandatory requirements, the provisions of the Retirement Benefits 
(State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme) Act 2005, the State Fire Commission Superannuation Trust Deed, and relevant 
legislative requirements. 

The Retirement Benefits (State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme) Act 2005 received Royal Assent on 24 June 2006. This 
legislation had effect from 1 May 2006. It resulted in:

 • The SFCSS being transferred to the Fund as a sub-fund

 • The Board becoming the corporate Trustee of this sub-fund

 • The State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme Act 1994 being repealed.

The purpose of the Retirement Benefits (State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme) Act 2005 (the “Act’) is to ensure that equivalent 
rights continue to be provided to members of the SFCSS upon their incorporation as a sub-fund of the Fund.

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 9 September 2013.

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous year, unless specifically stated. 

b. Statement of compliance 

Refer to note 2(b) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

c. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the financial report requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised.

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable in 
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities where 
they are not available from independent sources. The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the values of assets and liabilities are:

 • Valuation of Accrued Benefits – The amount of accrued benefits has been actuarially determined. The key assumptions are discussed 
in note 9.

 • Valuation of Investments – The key valuation measures are set out in note 2(d).

All amounts are presented in thousands of Australian dollars unless otherwise stated

d. Investments 

Refer to note 2(d) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

e. Cash and cash equivalents

Refer to note 2(e) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.
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f. Other receivables and other payables

Refer to note 2(f) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

g. Accrued benefits

The liability for accrued benefits of SFCSS at 30 June 2013 is not included in the statement of net assets, the amount being reported by 
way of note 10.

The amount of accrued benefits has been determined on the basis of the present value of expected future payments which arise from 
membership of SFCSS, to the measurement date. The figure reported in note 10 has been determined by reference to expected future 
salary levels and by application of a market-based, risk-adjusted discount rate and relevant actuarial assumptions.

A copy of a statement prepared by the Fund Actuary, Calculation of Vested and Accrued Benefits in accordance with AAS 25 for the 
Retirement Benefits Fund as at 30 June 2013 is appended to the financial statements (Appendix C).

h. Revenue recognition

Refer to note 2(i) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

i. Foreign currency 

Refer to note 2(j) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

j. Income tax

Refer to note 2(l) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

k. Goods and services tax (GST)

Refer to note 2(m) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

l. No Tax File Number (TFN) Contributions Tax

Refer to note 2(n) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

m.  Superannuation contributions surcharge

Refer to note 2(o) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

n. Benefits payable

Refer to note 2(q) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

o. Provisions

Refer to note 2(r) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

p. Comparatives

Refer to note 2(s) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme. 
q. Unit price

Refer to note 2(t) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

3. Receivables
a. Investment income accrued: 

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Investment income accrued 6 9

Investment income accrued consists of distributions and interest declared at year end but not yet received.

b. Other receivables:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Recoverable within 12 months

Prepayments  37 –

Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value. 
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4. Investments
a. Diversified Fixed Interest Investments

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Other diversified fixed interest 2,048 2,818

Mortgages 492 749

Total diversified fixed interest investments 2,540 3,567

5. Income tax
As the Fund is an exempt public sector superannuation scheme, it is deemed to be a complying superannuation fund for tax purposes. 
Accordingly, the SFCSS is taxed at the rate of 15% on net investment earnings, employer contributions and capital gains, with 
deductions allowable for administration expenses, but not benefits paid. A reconciliation of income tax expense, with revenues and 
expenses for the year before income tax is shown below.

a. The components of the income tax (expense)/benefit comprise:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Current tax (expense)/benefit (286) (197)

Deferred tax (expense)/benefit (286) 120

Over provision prior years – current tax 12 –

Over provision prior years – deferred tax 11 –

(549) (77)

b. The prima facie tax on change in net assets before income tax is reconciled to the income tax expense as follows:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Prima facie tax (expense)/benefit on change in net assets before income tax at 15% (624) 445

Tax effect of:

Tax credits (gross up) (22) (25)

Non-deductible expenditure – –

Benefits paid (243) (557)

Other 9 (16)

(256) (598)

Tax effect of:

Member contributions 10 10

Exempt investment income 10 14

Discount on realised losses – –

Discount on unrealised losses 142 (114)

162 (90)

Tax effect of:

Over provision for prior years (note 5(a)) 23 –

Tax credits 146 166

169 166

Income tax expense (549) (77)
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c. Balances as at 30 June:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Income tax liability 286 197

d. Deferred tax asset:

Opening balance Charge to statement of 
change in net assets

Closing balance

Capital losses 2,085  (275) 1,810

Balance as 30 June 2013 2,085 (275)  1,810

Capital losses 1,965 120 2,085

Balance as 30 June 2012 1,965 120 2,085

6. Other payables

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Lump sum payables 758 2,336

Due to the short term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.

7. General operating provision
The administration expenses of SFCSS were initially allocated by the RBF Contributory Scheme of the Fund. To recoup this outlay,  
the notional unit price of SFCSS is reduced by a specified rate. 

To recoup the investment management fee expense of SFCSS, the notional unit price of SFCSS is reduced by a specified rate.  
This rate is based upon an estimate of the investment management fee expense and varies between investment choices.

To recoup the income tax expense of SFCSS, the notional unit price of the SFCSS is reduced by a specified rate. This rate is  
based upon an estimate of the income tax expense. Movements in provision during the year explained by:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Opening balance 642 532

Add amounts deducted from members 568 604

Less investment expenses paid from provision (73) (98)

Less administration expenses paid from provision (82) (319)

Less tax expenses paid from provision (549) (77)

Closing balance 506 642

The difference between the amount deducted from members and the actual administration fee, investment management fee and 
income tax expense is disclosed as the General Operating Provision. This surplus is administered on the determination by the Board  
in accordance with the Trust Deed.

The balance of the provision is made up of the following fee components:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Administration (10) 39

Investment management 51 42

Income taxation 465 561

Closing balance 506 642
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8. Investment revenue

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Asset class dissection

Australian equities 310 351

International equities 91 99

Diversified fixed interest 235 226

Property 181 210

Alternative investments 294 266

Cash deposits 73 79

1,184 1,231

Income type dissection

Interest 189 177

Dividends 343 379

Distributions 616 634

Property rentals 36 41

1,184 1,231

9. Movements in net market value of investments

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Investments held at the end of the financial year

Australian equities 979 (719)

International equities 945 (86)

Diversified fixed interest 62 87

Property 62 (102)

Alternative investments 444 (384)

Cash – (1)

Total unrealised (losses)/gains 2,492 (1,205)

Investments realised during the financial year

Australian equities 352 (132)

International equities 95 (74)

Diversified fixed interest (62) 106

Property (1) 2

Alternative investments (83) 2

Cash (1) (3)

Total realised (losses)/gains 300 (99)

Total change in net market value of investments 2,792 (1,304)
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10. Total accrued benefits for the SFCSS as a whole
The liability for accrued benefits represents SFCSS’s present obligation to pay benefits to members and beneficiaries and has been 
determined on the basis of the present value of expected future payments which arise from the membership of the Fund up to the 
reporting date. 

The figure reported has been determined by reference to the expected future salary levels and by application of a market-based,  
risk-adjusted discount rate and relevant actuarial assumptions. 

The Accrued Benefits were last valued at 30 June 2012 and that measurement is disclosed as follows:

30 June 2012
$’000

30 June 2010
$’000

Accrued Benefits as at 30 June 19,314 20,100

In accordance with policy note 2(g) these accrued benefits are not recognised in these financial statements.

11. Total vested benefits for the SFCSS as a whole
Vested benefits are benefits which are not conditional upon continued membership of the SFCSS (or any factor other than resignation 
from the SFCSS) and include benefits which members were entitled to receive had they terminated their membership as at the  
reporting date. 

The Vested Benefits were last valued at 30 June 2012 and that measurement is disclosed as follows:

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Vested Benefits as at 30 June 19,123 22,690

12. Guaranteed benefits
The vested benefits referred to in note 10 are guaranteed by the Minister administering the Fire Service Act 1979 under Section 8 of the 
Retirement Benefit (State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme) Act 2005. 

13. Funding arrangements
The SFCSS at the time of the last actuarial triennial review at 30 June 2012 was not fully funded for accrued benefits. 

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Accrued Benefits 19,314 20,100

Net assets available to pay benefits 17,882 18,442 

Unfunded Liability 1,432 1,658 

The State Actuary recommended that employer contributions be maintained at: 

 • 11% of salaries; plus

 • 10% of any benefit paid to exiting members (excluding the insured portion of any death or disablement benefits); plus

 • Any deemed member contributions.

The State Actuary has determined that this contribution program will restore the SFCSS to a satisfactory financial position by 30 June 2014. 

The rates will be reviewed at the next triennial investigation as at 30 June 2015.
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14. Insurance
The Fund provides death and disability benefits to members. The Board has taken out insurance to cover the part of the benefit in 

excess of the accrued benefit.

15. Related party transactions
Refer to note 21 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

16. Financial instruments
The disclosure requirements of the Accounting Standard AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures is appended to the financial 
statements (Appendix A).

17. Subsequent events
Refer to note 24 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

18. Segment information
Refer to note 25 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

19. Auditor’s remuneration
Refer to note 17 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

20. Contingent liabilities
Refer to note 26 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.
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Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme
Statement of net assets as at 30 June 2013 

Note 2013  
$’000

2012 
 $’000

ASSETS

Cash Assets

Cash at bank 2(e)  3,204  1,434 

Receivables

Investment income accrued 3  12  13 

Investments

Australian equities  9,997  12,317 

International equities  7,313  7,249 

Diversified fixed interest 4  4,884  5,138 

Property  6,639  12,808 

Alternative Investments  10,176  2,111 

Cash deposits  2,424  2,414 

 41,433  42,037 

Other Assets

Deferred tax asset 5(d)  495  907 

TOTAL ASSETS  45,144  44,391 

LIABILITIES

Payables

Interfund 2(f)  117  5,808 

Provisions

General operating provision 6  373  493 

Tax Liabilities

Provision for income tax 5(c)  303  325 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  793  6,626 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS  44,351  37,765

The above Statement of Net Assets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme
Statement of Changes in Net Assets for the year ended 30 June 2013

Note 2013  
$’000

2012 
 $’000

INVESTMENT REVENUE

Interest 7  295  254 

Dividends 7  563  545 

Distributions 7  962  911 

Property rentals 7  58  58 

Movement in net market values of investments 8  4,173  (1,874)

 6,051  (106)

Less: direct investment expenses  157  151 

Gross (loss)/profit on investment activities  5,894  (257)

Contribution revenue

Employer contributions  2,224  2,111 

Member contributions  355  399 

 2,579  2,510 

TOTAL REVENUE  8,473  2,253 

BENEFITS PAID

Lump sums  845  1,291 

Refunds & interest  (38) –

 807  1,291 

EXPENSES

General operating fee – administration component  323  316 

General operating fee – taxation component charge  (56)  156 

Insurance  114  38 

 381  510 

TOTAL EXPENSES  1,188  1,801 

NET CHANGE IN NET ASSETS BEFORE INCOME TAX  7,285  452 

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 5(a)  (699)  (152)

NET CHANGE IN NET ASSETS AFTER INCOME TAX  6,586  300 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS at the beginning of the financial year  37,765  37,465 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS at the end of the financial year  44,351  37,765 

The above Statement of Changes in Net Assets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013

1. Operation of the Fund
The Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme (TASSS) is a defined benefit scheme, domiciled in Australia that provides 
benefits to its members pursuant to the provisions of the Retirement Benefits (Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme) 
Act 2006. The TASSS was closed to new members on 30 June 2006. Benefits of members are calculated by way of formula as defined 
in the Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Trust Deed.

The address of TASSS’s registered office is 21 Kirksway Place, Hobart, Tasmania, 7000.

The Trustee of TASSS is the Board (ABN: 97 724 593 931).

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
a. Basis of preparation

The financial report is a general purpose report which has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AAS 
25 ‘Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans’ (AAS 25) as amended by AASB 2005-13 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards (AAS 25)’, other applicable accounting standards, other mandatory requirements, the provisions of the Retirement Benefits 
(Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme) Act 2006, the Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Trust Deed, and 
relevant legislative requirements.

The Retirement Benefits (Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme) Act 2006 received Royal Assent on 26 June 2006.  
This legislation had effect from 1 May 2006. It resulted in:

 • The TASSS being transferred to the Fund as a sub-fund

 • The Board becoming the corporate Trustee of this sub-fund

 • The Ambulance Service Act 1982 and Public Sector Superannuation Reform Act 1999 being amended.

The purpose of the Retirement Benefits (Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme) Act 2006 (the “Act’) is to ensure that 
equivalent rights continue to be provided to members of the TASSS upon their incorporation as a sub-fund of the Fund.

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 9 September 2013.

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous year, unless specifically stated. 

b. Statement of compliance 

Refer to note 2(b) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

c. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

Refer to note 2(c) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the SFCSS.

d. Investments 

Refer to note 2(d) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

e. Cash and cash equivalents

Refer to note 2(e) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

f. Other receivables and other payables

Refer to note 2(f) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

g. Accrued benefits

The liability for accrued benefits of TASSS at 30 June 2013 is not included in the statement of net assets, the amount being reported by 
way of note 9.

The amount of accrued benefits has been determined on the basis of the present value of expected future payments which arise from 
membership of TASSS, to the measurement date. The figure reported in note 9 has been determined by reference to expected future 
salary levels and by application of a market-based, risk-adjusted discount rate and relevant actuarial assumptions.

h. Revenue recognition

Refer to note 2(i) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.
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i. Foreign currency 

Refer to note 2(j) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

j. Income tax

Refer to note 2(l) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

k. Goods and services tax (GST)

Refer to note 2(m) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

l. No Tax File Number (TFN) contributions tax

Refer to note 2(n) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

m.  Superannuation contributions surcharge

Refer to note 2(o) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

n. Benefits payable

Refer to note 2(q) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

o. Provisions

Refer to note 2(r) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

p. Comparatives

Refer to note 2(s) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

q. Unit price

Refer to note 2(t) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

3. Receivables

Investment income accrued: 

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Investment income accrued 12 13

Investment income accrued consists of distributions and interest declared at year end but not yet received.

4. Investments
Diversified fixed interest investments

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Other diversified fixed interest 3,939 4,059

Mortgages 945 1,079

Total diversified fixed interest investments 4,884 5,138

5. Income tax
As the Fund is an exempt public sector superannuation scheme, it is deemed to be a complying superannuation fund for tax purposes. 
Accordingly, the TASSS is taxed at the rate of 15% on net investment earnings, employer contributions and capital gains, with 
deductions allowable for administration expenses, but not benefits paid. A reconciliation of income tax expense, with revenues and 
expenses for the year before income tax is shown below.
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a. The components of the income tax (expense)/benefit comprise:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Current tax (expense)/benefit (304) (325)

Deferred tax (expense)/benefit (429) 173

Over provision prior years – current tax 17 –

Over provision prior years – deferred tax 17 –

(699) (152)

b. The prima facie tax on change in net assets before income tax is reconciled to the income tax expense as follows:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Prima facie tax expense on change in net assets before income tax at 15% (1,093) (68)

Tax effect of:

Tax credits (gross up) (33) (36)

Non-deductible expenditure – –

Benefits paid (121) (194)

Other 8 (23)

(146) (253)

Tax effect of:

Member contributions 53 60

Exempt investment income 15 20

Discount on realised (losses)/gains – 13

Discount on unrealised (losses)/gains 216 (165)

Surcharge – –

284 (72)

Tax effect of:

Over provision for prior years (note5(a)) 34 –

Tax credits 222 241

256 241

Income tax expense (699) (152)

c. Balances as at 30 June:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Income tax liability 303 325

d. Deferred tax asset:

Opening balance Charge to statement of 
change in net assets

Closing balance

Capital losses 907 (412)  495

Balance as 30 June 2013 907 (412) 495

Capital losses 735 172 907

Balance as 30 June 2012 735 172 907
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6. General operating provision
The administration expenses of TASSS were initially allocated by the RBF Contributory Scheme of the Fund. To recoup this outlay,  
the notional unit price of TASSS is reduced by a specified rate. 

To recoup the investment management fee expense of TASSS, the notional unit price of TASSS is reduced by a specified rate.  
This rate is based upon an estimate of the investment management fee expense and varies between investment choices.

To recoup the income tax expense of TASSS, the notional unit price of the TASSS is reduced by a specified rate. This rate is based  
upon an estimate of the income tax expense. Movements in provision during the year explained by:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Opening balance 493 353

Add amounts deducted from members 1,111 741

Less investment expenses paid from provision (116) (141)

Less administration expenses paid from provision (416) (308)

Less tax expenses paid from provision (699) (152)

Closing balance 373 493

The difference between the amount deducted from members and the actual administration fee, investment management fee and 
income tax expense is disclosed as the General Operating Provision. This surplus is administered on the determination by the Board  
in accordance with the Trust Deed.

The balance of the provision is made up of the following fee components:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Administration (115) (16)

Investment management 62 41

Income taxation 426 468

Closing balance 373 493

7. Investment revenue

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Asset class dissection

Australian equities 494 504

International equities 147 142

Diversified fixed interest 359 326

Property 287 301

Alternative investments 479 381

Cash deposits 112 114

1,878 1,768

Income type dissection

Interest 295 254

Dividends 563 545

Distributions 962 911

Property rentals 58 58

1,878 1,768
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8. Movements in net market value of investments

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Investments held at the end of the financial year

Australian equities 1,281 (1.029)

International equities 1,548 (129)

Diversified fixed interest (124) 126

Property 101 (146)

Alternative investments 692 (551)

Cash – (2)

Total unrealised (losses)/gains 3,498 (1,731)

Investments realised during the financial year

Australian equities 559 (192)

International equities 125 (106)

Diversified fixed interest 111 153

Property (1) 3

Alternative investments (118) 3

Cash (1) (4)

Total realised (losses)/gains 675 (143)

Total change in net market value of investments 4,173 (1,874)

9. Total accrued benefits for the TASSS as a whole
The liability for accrued benefits represents TASSS’s present obligation to pay benefits to members and beneficiaries and has been 
determined on the basis of the present value of expected future payments which arise from the membership of the Fund up to the 
reporting date. 

The figure reported has been determined by reference to the expected future salary levels and by application of a market-based,  
risk-adjusted discount rate and relevant actuarial assumptions. 

The Accrued Benefits were last valued at 30 June 2013 and that measurement is disclosed as follows:

2013
$’000

2009
$’000

Accrued Benefits as at 30 June 38,767 27,833

In accordance with policy note 2(g) these accrued benefits are not recognised in these financial statements.

10. Total vested benefits for the TASSS as a whole
Vested benefits are benefits which are not conditional upon continued membership of the TASSS (or any factor other than resignation 
from the TASSS) and include benefits which members were entitled to receive had they terminated their membership as at the reporting date. 

The Vested Benefits were last valued at 30 June 2012 and that measurement is disclosed as follows:

2012
$’000

2011
$’000

Vested Benefits as at 30 June 39,601 37,970

11. Guaranteed benefits
The vested benefits referred to in note 10 are guaranteed by the Minister administering the Ambulance Services Act 1982 under Section 
8 of the Retirement Benefit (Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme) Act 2005. 
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12. Funding arrangements
The TASSS was fully funded for accrued benefits at the time of the last triennial actuarial review as at 30 June 2012. It was 
recommended in the review that employer contributions be maintained at 11.9% of salaries. The rates will be reviewed at the next 
triennial investigation as at 30 June 2015.

2012
$’000

2009
$’000

Accrued Benefits 34,814 27,833

Net assets available to pay benefits 37,653 29,695

Surplus 2,839 1,862

13. Insurance
The Fund provides death and disability benefits to members. The Board has taken out insurance to cover the part of the benefit in 
excess of the vested benefit.

14. Related party transactions
Refer to note 21 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

15. Financial instruments
The disclosure requirements of the Accounting Standard AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures is appended to the financial 
statements (Appendix A).

16. Subsequent events
Refer to note 24 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

17. Segment information
Refer to note 25 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

18. Auditor’s remuneration
Refer to note 17 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

19. Contingent liabilities
Refer to note 26 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.
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Appendix A
Additional financial instruments disclosures

Overview
The Fund’s assets principally consist of financial instruments which comprise Australian equities, international equities, diversified  
fixed interest, property, infrastructure, absolute returns, alternative debt and cash.

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Fund’s risk management framework. The risk 
management framework is documented in the Fund’s Risk Management Strategy.

The Board’s Risk and Audit Committee (RAC) oversees the Fund’s Risk Management Strategy and is assisted in its oversight role by 
Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and additional projects that consider key processes and controls in place  
to manage the Board’s key risk areas, which are reported to the RAC.

The Board has engaged JANA Investment Advisers Pty Ltd (JANA) as an independent asset consultant to advise on the allocation  
of assets between the various types of investments described above and the investment strategy of the Fund. This includes the 
allocation of investments to fund managers, evaluating their performance and providing recommendations to the Board which has 
ultimate responsibility for the appointment of fund managers. JANA, along with the managers, provides regular monthly and quarterly 
reports in relation to performance and compliance with investment mandates.

The Fund’s investment activities and use of financial investments expose it to market, currency, interest rate, credit and liquidity risk.  
The Fund’s exposure to and its objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing each of these risks is set out in  
this appendix.

The Fund’s investments are managed:

 • Internally – Tasmanian property and first mortgage loans on Tasmanian property (approximately 4% of the Fund as at 30 June 2013 
(4% in 2012)); and

 • Externally – all other investments.

All managers are required to invest in accordance with an agreed investment mandate containing guidelines that outline how the 
investment is to be managed (including how to minimise exposures and risks), measured and reported.

The Board also receives reports from internal management with respect to Fund managers, the Board’s investments and the 
performance of the Fund as a whole.

The Board, JANA and the internal investment management team, ensures that appropriate due diligence is carried out on managers 
before their appointment and that rigorous monitoring of their performance and compliance continues thereafter.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. 
Market risk would include: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. The objective of market risk management is to manage 
and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, whilst optimising the return on risk.

To manage market risk, the Board undertakes due diligence of Fund managers prior to their appointment, conducts investment 
performance and benchmarking and continually monitors market conditions. JANA assists in this analysis and advises the Board  
in respect of the overall market risk of each of the various portfolios of the Fund.

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign 
currency exchange rates.

The Fund is exposed to currency risk on financial instruments that are denominated in a currency other than the Australian Dollar.  
As at 30 June 2013 the Fund held 7 investments (2012: 7) which were primarily denominated in foreign currency.

Consequently, the Fund is exposed to risks that the exchange rate may change in a manner that has an adverse effect on the value  
of that portion of the Fund’s investments denominated in currencies other than the Australian Dollar.

The Board may invest in financial instruments and enter into transactions denominated in currencies other than the Australian Dollar 
within the conditions of the investment strategy. The Board’s strategy for management of currency risk is driven by its investment 
objective and strategy.
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The Board’s investment strategy sets the level of exposure to foreign currencies for each investment class. The Fund’s currency risk  
is managed through a currency hedge in accordance with the investment strategy for that investment class. For 2013 the currency risk 
was managed in two parts:

 • The Fund hedges 100% of its foreign currency exposure in unlisted investments denominated in foreign currency, such as unlisted 
international property trusts and unlisted alternative investments;

 • The Fund hedges 17% of the foreign currency exposure of the international equities investment class, effectively managing the risk  
back to 83% of international equity.

As at 30 June 2013, the exposure was approximately 17% of the investment assets of the accumulation scheme and 17% of the 
investment assets of the defined benefit schemes.

Specific instruments
Investment managers may use derivatives where the Board deems this appropriate and where it is documented in the contract with 
individual managers. The investment managers provide the Board with detailed Risk Management Statements which outline their 
approach to derivatives and confirm their approach is applicable to the investments they manage.

The Board monitors investment managers to confirm that the use of derivatives accords with the overall investment strategy of the  
Fund and is consistent with the performance objectives of each portfolio and sub fund.

The Board may, when it deems it appropriate, use its custodian to enter into forward exchange contracts to reduce or remove any 
foreign currency exposure which are not already hedged by its international investment managers.

The Fund’s total net exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates at the balance date was as follows:

2013 Net Market Value

 AUD
 A$’000

 USD
A$’000

 JPY
A$’000

 EUR
A$’000

 GBP
A$’000

 Other
A$’000

 Total
 A$’000

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 290,262 21,626 64 59 8 62 312,081

Deposits held with brokers 417 – – – – – 417

Receivables 47,239 (26,960) (154) 88 459 1,427 22,099

Financial assets held at fair value 
through profit or loss

3,127,993 575,445 48,108 128,383 89,238 167,748 4,136,915

Total assets 3,465,911 570,111 48,018 128,530 89,705 169,237 4,471,512

Liabilities

Payables 3,132 3,166 333 28 64 1,413 8,136

Total liabilities 3,132 3,165 333 28 64 1,413 8,136

Net assets 3,462,779 566,945 47,685 128,502 89,641 167,824 4,463,376

2012 Net Market Value

 AUD
 A$’000

 USD
A$’000

 JPY
A$’000

 EUR
A$’000

 GBP
A$’000

 Other
A$’000

 Total
 A$’000

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 438,943 20,598 81 19 52 690 460,383

Deposits held with brokers 559 – – – – – 559

Receivables 21,895 1,426 (56) 52 580 1,448 25,345

Financial assets held at fair value 
through profit or loss

2,644,720 437,754 36,736 79,575 77,796 141,612 3,418,193

Total assets 3,106,117 459,778 36,761 79,646 78,428 143,750 3,904,480

Liabilities

Payables 3,452 1,305 – 14 – 287 5,058

Total liabilities 3,452 1,305 – 14 – 287 5,058

Net assets 3,102,665 458,473 36,761 79,632 78,428 143,463 3,899,422
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Sensitivity analysis – currency
The majority of the Fund’s unhedged currency exposure is contained within the International Equities asset class. Currency exposures 
held in other asset classes are effectively hedged by investment managers.

Currency risk (or foreign currency exchange risk) arises on financial instruments that are denominated in a foreign currency, that is, in 
a currency other than the functional currency in which they are measured. Currency risk does not arise from financial instruments that 
are non-monetary items or from financial instruments denominated in the functional currency. Examples of monetary items are cash, 
receivables and bonds (fixed amounts). Everything else is therefore non-monetary.

In consultation with JANA, the Board has made a judgement that a 10% weighted average movement in the Australian Dollar is 
considered reasonably possible for the 2013/2014 reporting period. The approach adopted to determine the volatility factor is based 
on the historical average movement in the annual absolute returns of the market benchmark for International Equities. This analysis 
assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates and other market prices, remain constant. The analysis was performed on the 
same basis for 2012 and is not guaranteed.

A 10% strengthening/weakening of the Australian Dollar (AUD) against the relevant foreign currencies at 30 June would have increased/
decreased the change for the year in net assets to pay benefits or the benefits accrued as a result of operations and net assets 
available to pay benefits by the amounts shown below:

Monetary financial instruments denominated in a foreign currency Impact on net assets available to pay benefits

-10% +10%

30 June 2013 A$’000 A$’000 A$’000

USD 78,012 7,801 (7,801)

JPY 42,174 4,217 (4,217)

EUR 67,803 6,780 (6,780)

GBP 6,824 682 (682)

Other (42,705) (4,270) 4,270

Total 152,108 15,210 (15,210)

30 June 2012 A$’000 A$’000 A$’000

USD 49,203 4,920 (4,920)

JPY 43,335 4,334 (4,334)

EUR 59,707 5,971 (5,971)

GBP 7,690 769 (769)

Other (49,608) (4,961) 4,961

Total 110,327 11,033 (11,033)

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market  
interest rates.

The Fund’s financial instruments directly exposed to interest rate risk are cash and cash equivalents, fixed interest securities and 
discount securities.

The Fund’s exposure to cash, cash equivalents, fixed interest securities and discount securities is measured against the target asset 
allocations on a weekly basis. Currently all cash assets are held with FIIG Securities Ltd (FIIG), Perennial Investment Partners Limited 
(Perennial) and Westpac Banking Corporation Limited (Westpac). The adequacy of FIIG, Perennial and Westpac is formally reviewed  
by the Board on an annual basis. Any change in a banking institution requires the approval of the Board.
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Interest rate profile
The Fund holds investments in both domestic and offshore bond markets.

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Fund’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 312,081 460,383

Deposits held with brokers 417 559

Fixed interest 681,630 339,482

Discount securities 13,782 5,037

1,007,910 805,461

Sensitivity analysis – interest rates
In consultation with JANA, the Board has made a judgement that a 100 basis points movement in interest rates is considered 
reasonably possible for the 2013/2014 reporting period. The approach adopted to determine the volatility factor is based on the 
historical average movement in the annual absolute returns of benchmark 10-year Australian and US Government bonds. US 
Government bonds were used as proxy for offshore bond markets. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign 
currency and other market prices, remains constant. The analysis was performed on the same basis for 2012 and is not guaranteed.

An increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/decreased the change for the year 
in net assets to pay benefits or the benefits accrued as a result of operations and net assets available to pay benefits by the amounts 
shown below.

Carrying Amount Impact on net assets available to pay benefits

-100 basis points +100 basis points

30 June 2013 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash and cash equivalents 312,081 (3,121) 3,121

Deposits held with brokers 417 (4) 4

Fixed interest 681,630 (6,816) 6816

Discount securities 13,782 (138) 138

Total 1,007,910 (10,079) 10,079

30 June 2012

Cash and cash equivalents 460,383 (4,604) 4604

Deposits held with brokers 559 (6) 6

Fixed interest 339,482 (3,395) 3,395

Discount securities 5,037 (50) 50

Total 805,461 (8,055) 8,055

Other market price risk
Other market price risk is that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the 
individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market.

All of the Fund’s financial instruments are carried at net market value with changes recognised in the Statement of Change in Net Assets 
or Operating Statements. Accordingly, all changes in market conditions affecting net market value will be recognised in the Statement 
of Change in Net Assets or Operating Statements. Investments of the Fund (other than cash held for liquidity purposes and investment 
properties) comprise of listed equities, unlisted equities, bonds, foreign exchange contracts, options and futures, direct properties 
and other investments. The Fund’s exposure to other market price risk is therefore limited to the market price movement of these 
investments. The Board has determined that these investments are appropriate for the Fund and are in accordance with the Fund’s 
investment strategy in respect of asset class allocation. The Fund’s exposure at year-end to other market price risk is detailed on  
page 153.
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In accordance with agreed investment mandates, some of the Fund’s external investment managers have invested in a variety of 
financial instruments, including derivatives which could expose the Fund’s investments to a variety of other market price risks. For 
investments in listed Australian equities, other market price risk arising on these investments is mitigated by the due diligence and 
research undertaken by the investment manager prior to purchasing or selling equities on behalf of the Fund. Further the Board  
monitors the value of all equity investments on a weekly basis through appropriate reporting from the investment managers.

Other market price risk is mitigated by constructing a diversified portfolio of instruments which are traded on various markets.  
All investment managers are subject to due diligence prior to being appointed with the recommendation for their appointment  
and removal made by management to the Board for final approval.

The Board monitors the Fund’s investment value on a weekly basis and receives monthly reports from all investment managers  
which detail performance against relevant benchmarks and objectives. Each quarter JANA provides the Board with a consolidated 
report on the performance of all the Fund’s investment managers against relative benchmarks and objectives including advice  
regarding the management of the Fund’s investment portfolio in accordance with the current investment strategy.

Sensitivity analysis – other market price risk
In consultation with JANA, the Board has acknowledged that the following movements in other market price risk are reasonably  
possible for the 2013/2014 reporting period:

Market risk Volatility Factor Rationale

Australian equities 15%
Average absolute annual returns on the Standard & Poor’s (S&P)/Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) 
300 Accumulation Index

International equities 15% Morgan Stanley Capital International (MSCI) World Index ex Australia

Direct property 12% Average absolute annual returns of the Mercer Australia Unlisted Property Index

Infrastructure 12% Average absolute returns of long-running infrastructure mandates

Long/Short equities 15% Average absolute annual returns of the Hedge Fund Research Indices (HFRI) Equity Hedge Index

Absolute return 8% Average absolute annual returns of the HFRI Funds of Funds Composite Index

The increase/decrease in the market price against the investments of the Fund at 30 June 2013 would have increased/decreased the 
change for the year in net assets available to pay benefits or the benefits accrued as a result of operations and net assets available 
to pay benefits by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates and foreign 
currency, remains constant. The analysis was performed on the same basis for 2012 and is not guaranteed.

Volatility
Carrying
Amount

Impact on results on financial position and  
impact on net assets available to pay benefits

– +

30 June 2013 % $’000 $’000 $’000

Australian equities 15% 1,196,921 (179,538) 179,538

International equities 15% 1,014,923 (152,238) 152,238

Direct property 12% 508,564 (61,028) 61028

Infrastructure 12% 298,589 (35,831) 35,831

Total 3,018,997 (428,635) 428,635

30 June 2012

Australian equities 15% 1,589,932 (238,490) 238,490

International equities 15% 592,129 (88,819) 88,819

Direct property 12% 481,746 (57,810) 57,810

Infrastructure 12% 72,094 (8,651) 8,651

Total 2,735,901 (393,770) 393,770
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The following table summarises the aggregate notional principal of the futures and options contracts at 30 June 2013 and 2012.

Type of contract 2013
A$’000

2012
A$’000

Buy

Futures 8,823 7,607

Forward currency contracts 634,026 453,821

Total Buys 642,849 461,428

Sell

Forward currency contracts – –

Total Sells – –

Credit risk
Credit risk is that, a counter party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge an 
obligation. The Fund’s financial instruments being directly exposed to credit risk include cash and cash equivalents, mortgage 
receivables and other receivables.

The Board’s Instrument of Delegation and Operating Guidelines in respect to mortgage receivables is in place and the exposure to 
credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis by the Direct Investments Unit. The Instrument of Delegation and Operating Guidelines 
provides the appropriate guidelines as to:

 • The approval of mortgage loans and construction finance loans;

 • Reporting to the Board;

 • Actions taken on a mortgagor’s file.

The Fund does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single debtor or group of debtors under financial instruments  
entered into.

No financial assets are considered past due as all payments are considered recoverable when contractually due.

The carrying amount of those financial assets exposed to credit risk as at 30 June are as follows:

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 312,081 460,383

Mortgage receivables 126,086 126,932

Other receivables 8,726 227,312

Investments receivables 1,594 1,631

448,487 816,258

As previously noted, substantially all of the cash held by the Fund is held with FIIG, Westpac and Perennial. Bankruptcy or insolvency  
by Westpac, Perennial and FIIG may cause the Fund’s rights, with respect to the cash held to be delayed or limited. The Fund monitors 
its credit risk by monitoring the credit quality and financial position of the cash manager through research conducted and advice given 
by JANA.

The Board appoints specialist fund managers to manage the assets and risk associated with the funds allocated to that manager. For 
investments in listed equities and fixed interest investments, credit risk arising on these investments is mitigated by the due diligence 
and research undertaken by JANA prior to the Board’s appointment of the respective fund manager. In addition, each fund manager 
uses their specialist skills and research to evaluate the credit risk prior to purchasing or selling equities on behalf of the Fund. The 
investment strategy of the Fund restricts the level of equity investments which are not listed on a stock exchange.

Further, JANA provides a quarterly update to the Board on the investment performance and operational issues of each fund manager, 
which includes credit risk related areas.

Credit risk associated with contributions receivable and other receivables is considered low as there is usually a short settlement period 
due to the receivables relating to timing differences in respect of the receipt of contributions from the employer sponsor. The employer 
sponsor comprises the Tasmanian State Government owned agencies. The Board monitors the ageing of the contributions and 
receivables outstanding on a regular basis.
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Unsettled investment sales are transactions with investment managers that are awaiting settlement. The credit risk relating to unsettled 
transactions is considered not significant due to the short settlement period involved and the high credit quality of the brokers used.

Approximately 95% (2012: 87%) of the Fund’s investments are held by the Fund’s custodian JP Morgan Worldwide Securities Services. 
Bankruptcy or insolvency of the custodian may cause the Fund’s rights with respect to securities held by the custodian to be delayed  
or limited. Management monitors its risk through research and advice from JANA regarding the credit quality and financial position  
of the custodian.

Impairment losses
The ageing of the Fund’s mortgage receivables at the reporting date was:

Gross Impairment Gross Impairment

2013
$’000

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

2012
$’000

Not past due 126,086 – 126,932 –

Past due 0-30 days – – – –

Past due 31-120 days – – – –

Past due 121 days to one year – – – –

More than one year – – – –

126,086 – 126,932 –

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is that the Fund will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Board’s approach to managing 
liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that there exists an immediate cash resource available to meet projected liabilities as well  
as having sufficient liquid assets to meet requirements in excess of projections without incurring unacceptable losses or risking  
damage to the Fund’s reputation.

The Fund’s liquidity requirements are managed on a daily basis by the Board by reference to a projected cash flow report.

The Fund’s financial instruments include investments in unlisted investments, which are not traded in an organised public market and 
which generally may be illiquid. As a result, the Fund may not be able to liquidate quickly some of its investments in these instruments  
at an amount close to the fair value in order to meet liquidity requirements. The amount of these investments, which is typically 
represented by certain asset classes, is monitored to comply with the asset allocation stipulated in the Board’s investment strategy.  
As the Fund’s investment strategy is determined with consideration to liquidity issues and the Board monitors the Fund’s compliance  
to the investment strategy, liquidity risk is considered minimal.

The Fund’s listed securities are considered to be readily realisable as they are listed on recognised stock exchanges.

The Fund’s overall liquidity risks are monitored on a quarterly basis by the Board.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including interest payments and excluding the impact of  
netting arrangements:

Non-derivative financial liabilities Less than  
1 month

1-3  
months

Greater than  
3 months

Total

30 June 2013 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Other payables 8,136 – – 8,136

Contributions and pensions payable – – – –

Contributions in advance – – 3,649 3,649

Vested benefits – – 8,926,648 8,926,648

Total 8,136 – 8,930,297 8,938,433

30 June 2012 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Other payables 5,058 – – 5,058

Contributions and pensions payable 7,086 – – 7,086

Contributions in advance – – 3,925 3,925

Vested benefits – – 8,307,870 8,307,870

Total 12,144 – 8,311,795 8,323,939
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Derivative financial liabilities Less than 
 3 months

3-12  
months

1-5  
years

Total

30 June 2013 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Buy

Futures 8,823 – – 8,823

Forward currency contracts 619,197 14,829 – 634,026

Total buys 628,020 14,829 – 642,849

Sell – – – –

Forward currency contracts – – – –

Total sells – – – –

30 June 2012

Buy

Futures 7,607 – – 7,607

Forward currency contracts 447,567 6,254 – 453,821

Total buys 455,174 6,254 – 461,428

Sell – – – –

Forward currency contracts – – – –

Total sells – – – –

Vested benefits have been included in the greater than three months column, as this is the amount that members could call upon  
as at year-end. This is the earliest date on which the fund can be required to pay member vested benefits, however members may  
not necessarily call upon amounts vested to them during this time.

Estimation of fair values
The Fund’s financial assets and liabilities included in the statements of net assets or statements of financial position are carried  
at net market value which the Board believes approximates net fair value.

The major methods and assumptions used in determining net market value of financial instruments have been disclosed in the 
significant accounting policies section of each fund’s financial statements.

At 30 June 2013, the carrying amounts of investments which fair values were determined directly, in full or in part, by reference  
to published price quotations amounted to $4,058,566,403 (2012: $3,331,057,403).

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at net market value, which approximates fair value, by valuation method.  
The different levels have been defined as follows:

 • Level 1 net market value measurements are those instruments valued based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets  
for identical assets or liabilities.

 • Level 2 net market value measurements are those instruments valued based on inputs other than quoted prices included within  
Level 1 that are observable for the assets or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices).

 • Level 3 net market value measurements are those instruments valued based on inputs for the asset or liability that are not based  
on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Estimation of Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

30 June 2013 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Equity Securities 1,716,860 1,540,218 136,935 3,394,013

Fixed Interest Securities 193,858 278,136 197,695 669,689

Direct Property – 98,238 – 98,238

Derivative assets 12 4,507 – 4,519

1,910,730 1,921,099 334,630 4,166,459

Derivative liabilities 20 29,524 – 29,544

1,910,710 1,891,575 334,630 4,136,915
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Reconciliation of level 3 net market value measurements of financial assets Net market value

$’000

Opening balance 176,655

Total Gains or Losses in profit or loss 25,408

Sales/ Income (18,107)

Purchases 22,533

Issues –

Loan Application 6,691

Principal Reductions (6,717)

Settlements –

Transfers out of level 3 –

Transfers into level 3 128,167

Closing balance 334,630

Total gain or losses for the period included in profit or loss for assets held at the end of the reporting period 24,974

Gains or losses included in profit or loss for the period are presented in changes in net changes in fair value of investments as follows:

Net changes in net market values of investments

Total gains or losses in profit or loss for the period 24,974

Total gains or losses for the period included in profit or loss for assets held at the end of the period 24,974

Estimation of Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

30 June 2012 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Equity Securities 1,485,098 1,494,441 881 2,980,420

Fixed Interest Securities – 157,843 175,774 333,617

Direct Property – 97,498 – 97,498

Derivative assets 6 7,370 – 7,376

1,485,104 1,757,152 176,655 3,418,911

Derivative liabilities 55 662 – 717

1,485,049 1,756,490 176,655 3,418,194

Reconciliation of level 3 net market value measurements of financial assets Net market value

$’000

Opening balance 267,552

Total Gains or Losses in profit or loss 1,504

Sales/ Income (9,069)

Purchases 13,535

Issues –

Loan Application 2,144

Principal Reductions (37,082)

Settlements –

Transfers out of level 3 (63,202)

Transfers into level 3 1,273

Closing balance 176,655

Total gain or losses for the period included in profit or loss for assets held at the end of the reporting period 1,364
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Gains or losses included in profit or loss for the period are presented in changes in net changes in fair value of investments as follows:

Net changes in net market values of investments

Total gains or losses in profit or loss for the period 1,364

Total gains or losses for the period included in profit or loss for assets held at the end of the period 1,364

The net fair value of listed investments have been valued at the quoted market price at balance date adjusted for transaction costs 
expected to be incurred. For other assets and other liabilities the net fair value approximates their carrying value. No financial assets  
and financial liabilities are readily traded on organised markets in standardised form other than listed investments.

The aggregate net fair values and carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities are disclosed in the statements of net 
assets or statements of financial position and in the notes to the financial statements.
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Appendix B – Independent Audit Report
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Jetty, Tamar river, Tasmania
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Contacting RBF
Contact RBF if you would like additional 
information or assistance.

This report has been designed as an electronic 
document. However, a hard copy is available  
on request.

RBF Enquiry 
Line:

 1800 622 631 or 
+61 3 8687 1863 (international)

Visit: www.rbf.com.au

Fax: (03) 9245 5827 or 
+61 3 9245 5827 (international)

Write:  RBF, Reply Paid 446, 
Hobart TAS 7001

Office: Ground Floor, 
21 Kirksway Place, 
Hobart

Ground Floor, 
113-115 Cimitiere Street, 
Launceston

R
B

F1
67

51
_ 

20
13

 A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t_
07

13
_T

ex
t_

FA
_I

nt
er

ac
tiv

e

AL/S/00330 (V5-03/13) Issued by Retirement Benefits Fund Board ABN 97 724 593 931 as Trustee for Retirement Benefits Fund (RBF) ABN 51 737 334 954.


	Home
	Contents
	Highlights of 2012-13 
	President’s Message 
	Chief Executive Officer (CEO) Message 
	Strategic objectives and performance 
	RBF response to industry reforms 
	Chief Investment Officer Message 
	Investment performance
	RBF top holdings 
	Chief Operations Officer Message 
	Supporting our members 
	Our relationships with partners 
	Fees and charges  
	General Manager Governance  and Secretariat Message 
	Governance and the RBF Board 
	Senior Executive Profiles
	General Manager Corporate  Support Message 
	Our employees 
	Feedback, reviews, complaints and public interest disclosures 
	Funds under management 
	Chief Financial Officer Message 
	Financial management 
	Financial statements
	Retirement Benefits Fund Board 
	RBF Contributory Scheme    
	Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme    
	Parliamentary Superannuation Fund   
	Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund   
	State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme   
	Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme 
	Appendix A 
	Appendix B - Independent Audit Report



